Public Document Pack

Council
Title

Agenda

Date

Tuesday 22 June 2021
**Please note the change in date for this meeting and
that it will be held in person. The current coronavirus
regulations and guidance for ensuring the health and
safety is maintained for all persons present will apply**

Time

6.30 pm

Venue

**Please note the venue**
Exhibition Hall 3
Floor 1
Rowley Mile Conference Centre
Millennium Grandstand
Newmarket Racecourse (Rowley Mile)
Newmarket
CB8 0TF

Membership

All Councillors
You are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council
to transact the business on the agenda set out below.

Ian Gallin
Chief Executive
14 June 2021
Interests –
declaration and
restriction on
participation

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the authority's
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Quorum

One quarter of the Council (16 members)

Committee
administrator

Claire Skoyles
Democratic Services Officer
Telephone 01284 757176 / 07776 254986
Email claire.skoyles@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Public information
Venue

Contact
information

Exhibition Hall 3
Floor 1
Rowley Mile Conference Centre
Millennium Grandstand
Newmarket Racecourse (Rowley Mile)
Newmarket
CB8 0TF
Telephone: 01284 757176 / 07776 254986
Email: democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Website: www.westsuffolk.gov.uk

Access to
agenda and
reports before
the meeting

The agenda and reports will be available to view at least five
clear days before the meeting on our website.

Attendance at
meetings

This meeting is being held in person in order to comply with the
Local Government Act 1972. At the time of producing this
agenda, measures need to be applied to ensure the health and
safety for all persons present is maintained. Ordinarily, West
Suffolk Council encourages members of the public to attend its
meetings but on this occasion, to comply with guidance, the
public should only attend if it is necessary for them to do so.
We will also be required to restrict the number of members of
the public able to attend in accordance with the room capacity.
If you consider it is necessary for you to attend, please let
Democratic Services know in advance of the meeting so they
can endeavour to accommodate you and advise you of the
necessary health and safety precautions.

A link to the meeting livestream broadcast, and guidance on
how members of the public can access the meeting broadcast
will also be made available on the Council’s website when the
agenda is published.

Directions to the venue, including a map and location plan of
the conferencing facilities, are shown via the separate link on
the agenda pages for this meeting.
For further information about the venue, please visit
Newmarket Racecourse Venue Hire, Suffolk | Jockey Club
Venues
The Council will endeavour to livestream this meeting and
where this is possible, will provide links to the livestream on its
website.

Public
participation

Members of the public who live or work in the district may put
questions about the work of the Council or make statements on
items on the agenda to members of the Cabinet or any
Committee. 30 minutes will be set aside for this. 30 minutes will
also be set aside for questions at extraordinary meetings of the
Council, but must be limited to the business to be transacted at
that meeting.
The Constitution allows that a person who wishes to speak must
register at least fifteen minutes before the time the meeting is
scheduled to start. This can be done online by sending the
request to democratic.services@westsuffolk.gov.uk or
telephoning 01284 757176 or in person by telling the
Committee Administrator present at the meeting. However, due
to the need to comply with current coronavirus regulations and
guidance, necessary health and safety precautions taken will
apply to members of the public registered to speak. We would
therefore strongly urge anyone who wishes to register to
speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am on the day of
the meeting so that advice can be given on the
arrangements in place.

Accessibility

If you have any difficulties in accessing the meeting, the
agenda and accompanying reports, including for reasons of a
disability or a protected characteristic, please contact
Democratic Services at the earliest opportunity using the
contact details provided above in order that we may assist you.

Recording of
meetings

The Council may record this meeting and permits members of
the public and media to record or broadcast it as well (when the
media and public are not lawfully excluded).
Any member of the public who attends a meeting and objects to
being filmed should advise the Committee Administrator who
will instruct that they are not included in the filming.

Personal
information

Any personal information processed by West Suffolk Council
arising from a request to speak at a public meeting under the
Localism Act 2011, will be protected in accordance with the
Data Protection Act 2018. For more information on how we do
this and your rights in regards to your personal information and
how to access it, visit our website:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/Council/Data_and_information/
howweuseinformation.cfm or call Customer Services: 01284
763233 and ask to speak to the Information Governance
Officer.

Agenda
Procedural matters
1.

Minutes

Pages
1 - 28

To confirm the minutes of the meetings held on 23 February
2021 and 19 May 2021 (copies attached).
To receive the notes of the non-decision making virtual meeting
held on 18 May 2021 (copy attached).
2.

Chair's announcements
To receive announcements (if any) from the Chair.
A list of civic events/engagements attended by the Chair and
Vice-Chair since their election at the Annual Meeting of Council
held on 19 May 2021 are attached.

3.

Apologies for absence
To receive announcements (if any) from the officer advising the
Chair (including apologies for absence).

4.

Declarations of interests
Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any
pecuniary or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any
item of business on the agenda no later than when that item
is reached and, when appropriate, to leave the meeting prior to
discussion and voting on the item.

Part 1 – public
5.

Leader's statement
Paper number: COU/WS/21/006 TO FOLLOW
Council Procedure Rules 8.1 to 8.3. The Leader will submit a
report (the Leader’s Statement) summarising important
developments and activities since the preceding meeting of the
council.
Members may ask the Leader questions on the content of both
his introductory remarks and the written statement itself.
A total of 30 minutes will be allowed for questions and responses.
There will be a limit of five minutes for each question to be asked
and answered. A supplementary question arising from the reply
may be asked so long as the five minute limit is not exceeded.

29 - 30

6.

Public participation
Council Procedure Rules Section 6. Members of the public
who live or work in the district may put questions about the work
of the council or make statements on items on the agenda to
members of the Cabinet or any committee. The Constitution
allows that a person who wishes to speak must register at least
fifteen minutes before the time the meeting is scheduled to start.
However, due to the need to comply with current coronavirus
regulations and guidance, necessary health and safety
precautions taken will apply to members of the public registered
to speak. We would therefore strongly urge anyone who wishes
to register to speak to notify Democratic Services by 9am on
the day of the meeting so that advice can be given on the
arrangements in place.
(Note: The maximum time to be set aside for this item is 30
minutes, but if all questions/statements are dealt with sooner, or
if there are no questions/statements, the Council will proceed to
the next business.)
Each person may ask one question or make one statement only.
A total of five minutes will be allowed for the question to be
put and answered or the statement made. If a question is
raised, one supplementary question will be allowed provided that
it arises directly from the reply and the overall time limit of
five minutes is not exceeded.
If a statement is made, then the Chair may allow the Leader of
the Council, or other member to whom they refer the matter, a
right of reply.
As an alternative to addressing the meeting in person, written
questions may be submitted by members of the public to the
Monitoring Officer no later than 10am on Monday 21 June
2021. The written notification should detail the full question to
be asked at the meeting of the Council.

7.

Referrals report of recommendations from Cabinet
There were no referrals emanating from the portfolio holder
decisions taken on 16 March 2021 or 25 May 2021.
Note: The virtual Cabinet meeting originally arranged for 16
March 2021 needed to be cancelled due to technical difficulties
preventing the meeting being able to be accessed by the public
via a livestream. ‘Minded to’ decisions were taken at the nondecision making virtual Cabinet meeting held on 25 May 2021.
On both of the aforementioned occasions, portfolio holder
decisions were taken on the items listed on the agendas for each
meeting.

8.

Western Way Development, Bury St Edmunds: final
business case update and review

31 - 112

Report number: COU/WS/21/007
9.

West Suffolk Annual Scrutiny Report: 2020 to 2021

113 - 120

Paragraph 7.5.1 of Article 7 of the Council’s Constitution
requires that:
‘The Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee must report annually to the Council on
their workings and make recommendations for future work
programmes and amended working methods if appropriate’.
Report number: COU/WS/21/008
10.

Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan referendum and
decision to ‘make’ (adopt) as a West Suffolk Development
Plan Document

121 - 128

Report number: COU/WS/21/009
11.

Constitution amendments

129 - 136

Report number: COU/WS/21/010
12.

Pay Policy Statement 2021 to 2022
Report number: COU/WS/21/011

13.

Any other urgent business
To consider any business, which by reason of special
circumstances, should in the opinion of the Chair be considered
at the meeting as a matter of urgency.

14.

Exclusion of press and public
To consider whether the press and public should be excluded
during the consideration of the following item because it is likely,
in view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the
nature of the proceedings, that if members of the public were
present during the item, there would be disclosure to them of
exempt categories of information as prescribed in Part 1 of
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972, and indicated
against each item and, in all circumstances of the case, the public
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public
interest in disclosing the information.

137 - 150

Part 2 – exempt
15.

Exempt appendix: Western Way Development, Bury St
Edmunds: final business case update and review
(paragraph 3)
Exempt appendix 4 to Report number: COU/WS/21/007
(Note that this exempt appendix is provided for background
purposes only, and can be found electronically here Paper copies
have not been provided to members.)

Agenda Item 1

Council
Minutes of a meeting of the Council held virtually via Microsoft Teamslive
remote meetings platform on Tuesday 23 February 2021 at 6.30 pm.
Present

Councillors
Chair Brian Harvey
Vice Chair Margaret Marks
Richard Alecock
John Augustine
Trevor Beckwith
Mick Bradshaw
Sarah Broughton
Simon Brown
Tony Brown
Carol Bull
John Burns
Mike Chester
Patrick Chung
Max Clarke
Terry Clements
Simon Cole
Jason Crooks
Dawn Dicker
Roger Dicker
Andy Drummond
Mary Evans

Robert Everitt
Stephen Frost
Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Pat Hanlon
Diane Hind
Rachel Hood
Ian Houlder
Paul Hopfensperger
Beccy Hopfensperger
James Lay
Aaron Luccarini
Victor Lukaniuk
Joe Mason
Elaine McManus
Sara Mildmay-White
Andy Neal
David Nettleton
Robert Nobbs

David Palmer
Joanna Rayner
Karen Richardson
David Roach
Richard Rout
Marion Rushbrook
Ian Shipp
Andrew Smith
David Smith
John Smith
Karen Soons
Clive Springett
Peter Stevens
Peter Thompson
Jim Thorndyke
Don Waldron
Cliff Waterman
Ann Williamson
Phil Wittam

106. Welcome
The Chair formally opened the meeting and welcomed all persons present
including those that were viewing the meeting externally via the live
broadcast, to this virtual meeting of Council.

107. Remembrance
Before commencing business, all members were asked to ensure their
microphones were muted and observe a minute’s silence in remembrance of
Councillor Jim Meikle who had sadly died recently. A statement of condolence
was given by Councillor Ian Shipp, reflecting Councillor Meikle’s contribution
during his time on the Council.

Page 1

COU.WS.23.02.2021

108. Meeting Facilitation
Leah Mickleborough, Service Manager (Democratic Services), was acting as
facilitator for the meeting where support was felt necessary, and upon being
invited to do so, assisted the Chair in detailing the housekeeping matters and
guidance as to how the meeting would operate within the virtual setting.

109. Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 December 2020 were confirmed as a
correct record.

110. Chair's announcements
The Chair reported on the civic engagements and charity activities which he
and the Vice-Chair had attended since the last ordinary meeting of Council on
15 December 2020.
The Chair drew attention to the virtual event of RAF Lakenheath that he had
recently attended, together with a similar virtual event held by RAF Mildenhall
where representatives of Suffolk and Norfolk county and district councils had
been in attendance.

111. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Michael Anderson and
Lisa Ingwall-King.
The Chair paid tribute to Councillor Ingwall-King who was currently unwell.
Members joined the Chair in wishing her the very best with her recovery.

112. Declarations of interests
Members’ declarations of interest are recorded under the item to which the
declaration relates.

113. Leader's statement (paper number: COU/WS/21/001)
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, presented his Leader’s
statement as outlined in paper number: COU/WS/21/001.
In his introductory remarks:
a.

Councillor Jim Meikle: In addition to the tribute message that had
previously been circulated to members, and the letter of condolence
that had been sent to his family, Councillor Griffiths paid further tribute
to the late Councillor Meikle.

b.

Thanks: Councillor Griffiths once again placed his thanks on record to
all staff and members of West Suffolk Council for their sterling work
over the past year. He specifically acknowledged their exemplary
efforts for supporting businesses and communities during the Covid-19
crisis, while continuing to deliver services.

Page 2

COU.WS.23.02.2021

c.

Covid-19: Councillor Griffiths highlighted West Suffolk’s role within the
Covid-19 vaccination and testing programme, including that a site in
Brandon was now being utilised as a testing centre. The Council was
continuing to support vulnerable persons through the Home But Not
Alone initiative and individual ward members were heavily involved in
local initiatives to support those in need within respective wards.
Councillor Griffiths then provided a synopsis of the financial support
provided to eligible local businesses from the various Government
business support grants that were currently being administered by the
Council.

d.

Budget: Councillor Griffiths drew attention to the budget for 2021 to
2022 and the proposed plans for the medium term, which was due to
be considered later in the agenda. With partners, the Council would
support recovery from the impacts of Covid-19 in West Suffolk,
including taking the recent decision to again defer the implementation
of the previously approved increases to car parking charges that had
originally been due to take effect from 1 April 2020. Members were
however, mindful that the Council needed to generate much needed
income to provide vital services and ensure that West Suffolk continued
to remain an attractive place to live, work and visit. He paid tribute to
officers and members for the enormous amount of work involved in
achieving a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022, particularly in such
difficult and challenging times.

e.

Environment: Councillor Griffiths reported on the grants recently
secured for West Suffolk which, working with partners, would assist
local householders in making energy efficiency measures.

(In the interests of maintaining openness and transparency, Councillor Paul
Hopfensperger wished to declare that he was a small business owner in Bury
St Edmunds as his question related to a matter in connection with this.)
The Leader responded to the following question from Councillor Paul
Hopfensperger relating to:
a.

Brexit support: Whether anything was being done by West Suffolk
Council to highlight to Government the issues, challenges and
difficulties faced by small businesses following the UK’s exit from the
European Union. Councillor Griffiths stated that the Council’s Economic
Development team were working with, amongst others, partners in the
Chamber of Commerce, the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership
and Suffolk Public Sector Leaders regarding this issue. He referred the
matter to Councillor Susan Glossop, Portfolio Holder for Growth who
reiterated Councillor Griffiths’ statement regarding the support that
was being given to small businesses; however, a written reply with
further detail would be provided to Councillor Paul Hopfensperger’s
question and circulated to all members.

No further questions were asked.

Page 3

COU.WS.23.02.2021

114. Public participation
Frank Stennett of an address located within the district, a member of
the public, had registered to speak under this agenda item; however, Mr
Stennett was unfortunately unable to attend the meeting and a member of
the Democratic Services Team read out his written statement on his behalf:
Mr Stennett’s statement was in connection with a range of issues which
included promoting environmental initiatives and technologies as well as
suggesting ways for attracting people to the high streets and markets within
the district’s towns.
Mr Stennett ended his statement by asking whether the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee could be commissioned to investigate residents’ parking,
parking charges and market traders’ fees in the light of Covid-19, stimulating
the town centres before any fee increases would be implemented.
In response, Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, firstly thanked
Mr Stennett for his statement and indicated that he would confirm his reply in
writing.
In reply to the specific question, Councillor Griffiths stated that:


In respect of car parking charges, the Council had taken the decision to
once again defer the increase in charges that had been approved for
implementation from 1 April 2020. These increases and schemes (such
as ‘Free from 3’), which were now being kept under review, were
originally developed and recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee.



The subject of Markets was already on the forward work programme of
the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, and that Councillor Griffiths was
looking forward to any conclusions and recommendations the
Committee may reach.



Finally, the Council with its partners, would now be turning their
attention to how West Suffolk would successfully plot their own Covid19 recovery plan now that the Government had announced its roadmap
out of England’s current lockdown. This would include the future of the
district’s town centres.

As Mr Stennett was not in attendance within the virtual meeting itself and
was anticipated to be viewing the livestream instead, there was no
opportunity for a supplementary question to be asked arising directly from
the reply.
No other members of the public had registered to speak under this item.

Page 4

COU.WS.23.02.2021

115. Referrals report of recommendations from Cabinet (Report number:
COU/WS/21/002

Council considered the referrals report of recommendations from Cabinet, as
contained within report number: COU/WS/21/002.
A.

Referrals from Cabinet: 9 February 2021

1.

Delivering a Sustainable Medium-Term Budget

The recommendations emanating from this item had been incorporated into
the main budget setting report due to be considered later on the agenda at
Item 8. No decision was therefore required at this stage.
2.

Financial Resilience: December 2020

Approval was sought for the Financial Resilience Report for the third quarter
of the 2020 to 2021 financial year from 1 April 2020 to 31 December 2020.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Council.
On the motion of Councillor Broughton, seconded by Councillor Clive
Springett, it was put to the vote and with the vote being 58 for the motion,
none against and one abstention, it was
Resolved:
That the Financial Resilience Report (December 2020), as contained in
Report number: FRS/WS/21/001, be approved.
3.

Financial Resilience - Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 and
Treasury Management Code of Practice

Approval was sought for the Financial Resilience Strategy Statement 2021 to
2022 and the Treasury Management Code of Practice.
Councillor Sarah Broughton, Portfolio Holder for Resources and Performance,
drew relevant issues to the attention of Council, including that the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) Treasury Management
Code of Practice required that, prior to the start of the financial year the
Council should formally approve a Treasury Management Policy Statement
and Investment Strategy, setting out the Council’s treasury management
policy and strategy for the forthcoming year.
The Treasury Management Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 was attached as
Appendix 1 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, and the Treasury
Management Code of Practice attached as Appendix 2.

Page 5

COU.WS.23.02.2021

The report also included additional supporting information on treasury
advisors; borrowing strategy; investment strategy counterparty ratings and
interest rate projections.
On the motion of Councillor Broughton, seconded by Councillor Andrew Smith,
it was put to the vote and with the vote being 57 for the motion, two against
and no abstentions, it was
Resolved:
That:
1.
the Financial Resilience Strategy Statement 2021 to 2022 as set
out in Appendix 1 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, be
approved; and
2.

4.

the Treasury Management Code of Practice, as set out in
Appendix 2 to Report number: FRS/WS/21/002, be approved.

Budget and Council Tax Setting 2021 to 2022 and Medium-Term
Financial Strategy 2021 to 2025

Similarly with the first Cabinet referral outlined above, the recommendations
emanating from this item had been incorporated into the main budget setting
report due to be considered next on the agenda at Item 8. No decision was
therefore required at this stage.

116. Budget and Council Tax Setting 2021 to 2022 and Medium Term

Financial Strategy 2021 to 2025 (Report number: COU/WS/21/003)
Council considered the above report, which presented the proposals for
Budget and Council Tax Setting in 2021 to 2022 and the Medium Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2021 to 2025.
The 2021 to 2022 budget had been prepared in the context of not only the
significant challenges facing local government, such as reductions in national
funding streams, but also a national and worldwide Covid-19 pandemic. Since
the outbreak of Covid-19 in the UK, a number of events had occurred which
had had a significant impact on all local government, including West Suffolk
Council’s financial position in the current financial year and these were
expected to continue into 2021 to 2022. Some of these had been restrictions
imposed by Government which would continue to affect the Council’s
investments, assets and services; and other events had been announcements
of Government financial support.
The Council had played a vital role in responding to the pandemic, in
supporting businesses and communities for example, as well as running
essential services during challenging conditions. Further details were provided
in section 1 of the report, including the impact of Covid-19 on the Council’s
financial position which would not be fully known for a significant time.

Page 6

COU.WS.23.02.2021

The medium term plans had also been prepared in the context of significant
uncertainties around Government policy, examples of which were contained in
section 1.8 of the report, while continuing to acknowledge the economic
impact, challenges, uncertainties and unknowns of the Covid-19 pandemic.
Councils nationally were expected to achieve a balanced budget through
savings and producing local income to fund services due to reduced
Government funding. This year, as a one off to assist with the expected
continued impact of Covid-19, the Council would see an increase in funding
from the Government. However, members noted this would not completely
neutralise the impact expected from the pandemic. Nor would it address the
financial challenges that already existed for local government following a
decade of funding reductions and increases in the demand for services such
as housing and homelessness support.
Despite this and the additional pressures presented by Covid-19, through
prudent budgeting, a review of the Council’s vacant posts, investment as well
as transformation, West Suffolk Council was in a good financial position.
However, while this meant a balanced budget could be set for 2021 to 2022
there were gaps to be met in later years, as set out in the report.
Members considered the report in detail, which included the following issues
for securing a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022 and plans for the medium
term from 2021 to 2025, together with corresponding detailed appendices:
Section 1:

Background and context, which included reference to the
Council’s ‘Investing in our growth agenda’ and the proposed
transformation of West Suffolk Council
Section 2: Provisional Local Government Finance Settlement, which
included reference to the Revenue Support Grant and Rural
Services Delivery Grant; the new Lower Tier Services Grant; the
future of New Homes Bonus; the homelessness and rough
sleeping funding allocation; Covid-19 support funding; funding
from the sales, fees and charges lost income reimbursement
scheme; funding from the National Leisure Recovery Fund;
business rates and business rates reliefs; Collection Fund
deficits; funding for council tax support; and council tax
referendum limits.
Section 3: Council tax for 2021 to 2022
Section 4: Setting the budget – 2021 to 2022 and across the medium term
to 2024 to 2025
Section 5: Capital programme 2020 to 2025 (including disposal of surplus
assets)
Section 6: Minimum revenue provision (MRP)
Section 7: General fund balance
Section 8: Earmarked reserves
Section 9: Strategic priorities and MTFS reserve
Section 10: Adequacy of reserves
Section 11: Calculation of the council tax
Having acknowledged the issues highlighted above, Council also noted that
currently, council tax made up approximately one fifth of the authority’s
budget (exclusive of housing benefit) and therefore only contributed to a fifth

Page 7

COU.WS.23.02.2021

of service delivery. West Suffolk Council charged around 11 percent of a local
council tax payer’s bill with the rest comprising precepts from the County
Council, Police and Crime Commissioner as well as the relevant Parish or
Town Council. It was recognised that any increase in council tax would place
an extra burden on tax payers but it meant vital services would be protected.
Covid aside, bridging the gap between income and demand remained the
single biggest challenge facing local government across the country.
To help secure a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022, on 9 February 2021, the
Cabinet had recommended an average £4.99 increase in Band D council tax
across both predecessor areas of St Edmundsbury and Forest Heath. The
budget for council tax for 2021 to 2022 and future years was based on the
option to harmonise the two predecessor areas (St Edmundsbury and Forest
Heath) using the average Band D rate across both predecessor areas,
harmonising the council tax bills by 2022 to 2023, whilst maximising the
council tax receipts to protect services and to support the Council’s
investment plans. For 2021 to 2022 this represented an average Band D
weekly increase of 22 pence (for the predecessor area of Forest Heath) and
three pence (for the predecessor area of St Edmundsbury).
Therefore, the level of Band D council tax for 2021 to 2022, was
recommended by Cabinet to be set at £185.40 for the predecessor area of St
Edmundsbury and £175.59 for the predecessor area of Forest Heath. Noting
that just over 70 percent of West Suffolk residents were in bands A to C,
these would actually see a lower increase.
Councillor Broughton drew relevant issues to the attention of Council,
including commending the finance team and the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee, together with staff and other members across the
authority for their work in securing a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022 in
such challenging and unprecedented times, and for developing plans in the
medium term. She welcomed the Government’s recently announced roadmap
out of England’s current Covid-19 lockdown and in the coming weeks, work
would be undertaken to understand the impact of the national recovery
strategy on the Council’s own recovery plans and its key budget assumptions
for the next year and beyond.
A detailed debate ensued which included a number of comments,
observations and questions, including:
a.

The perceived lack of investment in Brandon by local ward members
who felt that West Suffolk Council was not supporting prosperity for
Brandon or delivering like for like services as appeared to be the case
for the rest of the district. Issues such as new housing development
(and any accompanying s106 monies), community halls and a bypass
were examples given as areas that were lacking in Brandon. In
response, other members stated that amongst other initiatives,
Brandon Leisure Centre would benefit from an almost £2 million
investment to upgrade its current leisure offer; local communities
themselves had led and worked in partnership with the Council and
others to bring forward new and refurbished community centres within
their own areas; Brandon ward members were encouraged to actively
engage in the new West Suffolk Local Plan development process and

Page 8

COU.WS.23.02.2021

look to overcome environmental challenges that had historically
restricted housing development in the locality; and it was the
responsibility of the Highways Authority or Highways England regarding
the construction of a bypass.
b.

Whilst the Labour Group commended all staff and officers across the
Council for their sterling work during the pandemic, and congratulated
those involved for achieving a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022, the
Group felt it could not support approval of the budget due to the
consistent under-funding received from central Government. In
response, members noted that whilst the ongoing lack of sufficient
funding was not acceptable, the Council, with partners, was continuing
to lobby in the strongest terms for fairer funding. In the meantime, a
balanced budget had been achieved in extremely challenging and
unprecedented times due to previous prudent financial decisions made
by the Council.

c.

The Council’s income had been severely impacted in the past year and
therefore under the circumstances, this was considered by the majority
of members to be the best budget that could have been achieved. No
alternative budget had been presented by those that did not support
these proposals.

d.

As recovery plans from Covid-19 were now beginning to emerge, the
proposed budget enabled support for the recovery process and several
examples were given in respect of how the proposed budget would help
implement and achieve those plans in accordance with the Council’s
strategic framework and themes of the Medium Term Financial
Strategy.

e.

Support provided to those in housing need, including accessing vital
Government funding and the provision of much needed temporary
accommodation which had particularly shown an increase in demand
due to the pandemic; and the role of Barley Homes within the budget,
with developments now coming forward to provide new homes,
including affordable housing, as well as providing an income for the
Council.

f.

Whether it was the right time to continue with the council tax
harmonisation plans which had been agreed before the impact of the
pandemic was known. With many residents now facing their own
personal financial challenges, it was questioned by Councillor Ian
Shipp, Leader of the Independent Group, whether the Council’s
reserves should be utilised further to balance the budget in the present
circumstances. In response, members noted that in these exceptional
circumstances, reserves had been used significantly to balance the
budget for the current year, however this was not sustainable for
future years. The Council often had to make difficult, but prudent,
financial decisions and it was imperative that in time, reserves were
replenished to demonstrate financial resilience and maintain
sustainability.

Page 9

COU.WS.23.02.2021

Using West Suffolk Council, Suffolk County Council and Havebury as an
example of different bodies cutting their own areas of land in the St Olaves
ward, Cllr Paul Hopfensperger asked whether there was some way of
rationalising the grass cutting undertaken by various partners across the
district as he felt this would be more cost effective than the present
arrangements. In response, Councillor Broughton stated that a written reply
would be provided and circulated to all members in due course.
The majority of members acknowledged that despite the financial challenges
being faced including the added pressures of Covid-19, the Council had made,
and were continuing to make, successful investments in services; growth,
environment-improving and health and well-being projects; together with
creating efficiencies, resilience and ensuring the effective management of
resources, all of which and more would enable West Suffolk Council to secure
a balanced budget for 2021 to 2022 with sustainable medium term plans in
place.
The motion was then put to the statutorily required recorded vote. With 59
members present, the votes recorded were 44 votes for the motion, 15
against, and no abstentions; the names of those Members voting for and
against being recorded as follows:
For the motion:
Councillors Augustine, Beckwith, Broughton, Simon Brown, Tony Brown, Bull,
Burns, Chester, Chung, Clements, Cole, Crooks, Drummond, Evans, Everitt,
Frost, Glossop, Griffiths, Harvey, Hood, Beccy Hopfensperger, Paul
Hopfensperger, Houlder, Lay, Luccarini, Marks, Mason, McManus, MildmayWhite, Nettleton, Nobbs, Rayner, Richardson, Roach, Rout, Rushbrook,
Andrew Smith, John Smith, Soons, Springett, Stevens, Thompson, Thorndyke
and Williamson.
Against the motion:
Councillors Alecock, Bradshaw, Clarke, Dawn Dicker, Roger Dicker, Hanlon,
Hind, Lukaniuk, Neal, Palmer, Shipp, David Smith, Waldron, Waterman and
Wittam.
Abstentions:
None
It was therefore
Resolved:
That:
1.
Having taken into account the information received by Cabinet
on 9 February 2021 (Report number: CAB/WS/21/008) including
the Report by the Assistant Director (Resources and
Performance) (Section 151 Officer) set out in Attachment C,
together with the up to date information and advice contained in
Report number: COU/WS/21/003, the level of band D council tax
for 2021 to 2022 be set at £175.59 for the predecessor area of
Forest Heath, and £185.40 for the predecessor area of St
Edmundsbury. The level of council tax beyond 2021 to 2022 will

Page 10

COU.WS.23.02.2021

be set in accordance with the annual budget process for the
relevant financial year.
2.

Subject to recommendation 1 above, the following formal council
tax resolutions be adopted:
a.

the revenue and capital budget for 2021 to 2025, attached
at Attachment A and as detailed in Attachment D
(Appendices 1 to 5), Attachment E (Appendices 1 to 3)
and Attachment F be approved.

b.

A general fund balance of £5 million be agreed to be
maintained, as detailed in paragraph 7.2 of Report
number: COU/WS/21/003.

c.

The statutory calculations under Section 30 to 36 of the
Local Government Finance Act 1992, attached at
Attachment I, be noted.

d.

The Suffolk County Council and Suffolk Police Authority
precepts issued to West Suffolk Council, in accordance
with Section 40 of the Local Government Finance Act 1992
and outlined at paragraphs 11.6 and 11.7 of Report
number: COU/WS/21/003, be noted.

e.

In accordance with Section 30(2) of the Local Government
Finance Act 1992, the amounts shown in Schedule D of
Attachment H be agreed as the amount of Council Tax for
the year 2021 to 2022 for each of the categories of
dwellings shown.

3.

The Assistant Director (Resources and Performance), in
consultation with the Portfolio Holder for Resources and
Performance, be authorised to vire funds between existing
Earmarked Reserves (as set out at Attachment D, Appendix 3)
as deemed appropriate throughout the medium term financial
planning period.

4.

Approval be given to the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts
Strategy as set out in Attachment G.

117. West Suffolk Planning Code of Practice (Report number:
COU/WS/21/004)

Council considered the above report, which sought approval for a revised
West Suffolk Planning Code of Practice.
In developing the West Suffolk Council Constitution, the Shadow West Suffolk
Council agreed a Planning Code of Practice. The Code of Practice operated
alongside the Code of Conduct, providing guidance to all members on how
they should act in relation to planning applications in their own ward, and
provided additional guidance to members of the Development Control

Page 11

COU.WS.23.02.2021

Committee on the steps they should take to ensure planning applications
were made in a fair, consistent and transparent manner.
A report issued by Transparency International in August 2020 highlighted
potential risks to the planning system and encouraged authorities to adopt a
range of best practice recommendations to reduce the risks of conflict when
dealing with planning applications. In addition, incidents reported within
recent caselaw placed emphasis on steps that should be taken to avoid
potential conflicts for those members who had led on development proposals.
With officer guidance, this prompted the Constitution Review Group to take
the opportunity to review and update the existing Planning Code of Practice
for West Suffolk.
Councillor Carol Bull, Portfolio Holder for Governance, drew relevant issues to
the attention of Council, including responding to the following questions:
a.

That a presentation on the new Code of Practice could be given to
members of the Development Control Committee in the near future

b.

Where officers made planning decisions under delegated authority,
these were made in accordance with the officers’ Code of Conduct
contained in the Constitution.

c.

Residents could report planning concerns to their respective ward
members, who could then take these forward on their behalf, as
appropriate.

On the motion of Councillor Bull, seconded by Councillor Andrew Smith, it was
put to the vote and with the vote being 57 for the motion, none against and
one abstention, it was
Resolved:
That the revised Planning Code of Practice, as contained in Appendix A
to Report number: COU/WS/21/004, be approved for inclusion in the
West Suffolk Council Constitution.
(Councillor Mary Evans left the meeting during the consideration of this item
and therefore did not vote.)

118. Calendar of Meetings 2021 to 2022 (Report number:
COU/WS/21/005)

Council considered the above report, which sought approval for the proposed
calendar of meetings for West Suffolk Council in 2021 to 2022.
Councillor Carol Bull, Portfolio Holder for Governance, drew relevant issues to
the attention of Council, including that largely due to the uncertainties around
the Covid-19 situation which had impacted on the ability to convene meetings
in person, no venues had been stipulated on the calendar at present. In
addition, a flexible approach was required to be taken in respect of when the
Council offices at College Heath Road would be vacated. New office and

Page 12

COU.WS.23.02.2021

meeting accommodation would then be provided in the Mildenhall Hub which
was due to open in phases later in 2021.
Other specific changes proposed to previous years’ calendar of meetings, as
set out in Section 2 of the report were also noted.
On the motion of Councillor Bull, seconded by Councillor Sara Mildmay-White,
it was put to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it was
Resolved:
That the Calendar of Meetings 2021 to 2022, as attached at Appendix A
to Report number: COU/WS/21/005, be approved.

119. Any other urgent business
There were no matters of urgent business considered on this occasion.

120. Conclusion
On conclusion of the meeting, the Chair thanked all present for their
attendance at this virtual meeting of Council. The live broadcast subsequently
ended at this point.
The meeting concluded at 8.26 pm
Signed by:

Chair

Page 13

COU.WS.23.02.2021

This page is intentionally left blank

Annual Council
Notes of the non-decision making Annual Meeting of Council held virtually
via Microsoft Teamslive remote meetings platform on Tuesday 18 May 2021 at
6.30 pm
Present

Councillors
Chair Brian Harvey
Vice Chair Margaret Marks
Michael Anderson
John Augustine
Trevor Beckwith
Sarah Broughton
Tony Brown
Carol Bull
John Burns
Mike Chester
Patrick Chung
Nick Clarke
Terry Clements
Simon Cole
Jason Crooks
Dawn Dicker
Roger Dicker
Andy Drummond
Robert Everitt
Stephen Frost

Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Pat Hanlon
Diane Hind
Rachel Hood
Ian Houlder
Paul Hopfensperger
Beccy Hopfensperger
James Lay
Aaron Luccarini
Victor Lukaniuk
Birgitte Mager
Joe Mason
Elaine McManus
Sara Mildmay-White
Andy Neal
David Nettleton
Robert Nobbs
Colin Noble

David Palmer
Sarah Pugh
Joanna Rayner
Karen Richardson
David Roach
Richard Rout
Marion Rushbrook
Ian Shipp
Andrew Smith
David Smith
Karen Soons
Clive Springett
Sarah Stamp
Peter Stevens
Peter Thompson
Jim Thorndyke
Julia Wakelam
Cliff Waterman
Phil Wittam

121. Introduction and meeting facilitation
The Chair formally opened the meeting and welcomed all persons present
including those that were viewing the meeting externally via the live
broadcast, to this non-decision making virtual Annual Meeting of Council.
The Chair provided the reasons for holding this virtual meeting ahead of the
official Annual Meeting of Council arranged for the next day, 19 May 2021.
Due to the expiry of special legislation on 7 May 2021 which allowed Council
meetings to be held virtually, and despite an unsuccessful High Court
challenge, the law only allowed publicly accessible decision making meetings
to be held in person at a specific geographical location.
To be able to have meetings in person, consideration also needed to be given
to Government guidance in relation to the safe use of council buildings and

Page 15

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

carefully consider the capacity of West Suffolk Council’s venues to host
meetings. This was challenging as it was difficult to find venues within the
district to accommodate 64 councillors under the present social distancing
guidelines. From 21 June 2021, restrictions on social contact were expected
to ease which would help mitigate the current challenges.
This virtual meeting was therefore being held to enable all members to attend
and participate in the discussion on the various agenda items. Matters were
voted on a ‘minded to’ basis, therefore while no formal decisions were made,
the outcome of the votes cast would help to inform decision making at the
official Annual Meeting of Council. That meeting was being held in person on
19 May 2021 at West Suffolk House in Bury St Edmunds, where a quorum of
members would attend on a politically balanced basis to formally resolve the
items discussed at this meeting.
The Chair then specifically welcomed West Suffolk Council’s six new members
to the meeting, who had recently been elected in by-elections on 6 May 2021,
namely, Councillors Nick Clarke, Birgitte Mager, Colin Noble, Sarah Pugh,
Sarah Stamp and Julia Wakelam.

122. Election of Chair elect of the Council for 2021 to 2022
The outgoing Chair called for nominations for the election of Chair elect for
the 2021 to 2022 civic year.
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, nominated Councillor
Margaret Marks, which was duly seconded by Councillor Joe Mason.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to a ‘minded to’ vote
and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Margaret Marks be elected Chair elect of West Suffolk
Council for the 2021 to 2022 civic year.
Taking into account the nomination received at this meeting, a formal vote on
the election of Chair would be taken at the ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of
Council on 19 May 2021.
The retiring Chair removed his Chain of Office and acknowledged his years in
office (2019 to 2020 and 2020 to 2021), before inviting Councillor Margaret
Marks to take the Chair.
Councillor Harvey’s outgoing remarks included thanking fellow councillors and
numerous officers, with special thanks to Ruth Pusterla, Personal Assistant to
the Chair of the Civic Office, for their help and support during this time as
Chair.
(Councillor Colin Noble joined the meeting during the consideration of this
item.)

Page 16

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

123. Chair elect's announcements
The Chair elect firstly welcomed members to formally join her in paying
tribute to the retiring Chair, Councillor Brian Harvey, for his outstanding
contribution and dedicated service to the Council during his two years’ in
office following the creation of West Suffolk Council on 1 April 2019.
Councillor Harvey was elected the first Chair of West Suffolk Council at its
inaugural Annual Meeting on 22 May 2019 and due to there being no Annual
Meeting of Council in 2020 as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic, had
served a much longer term than anticipated.
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, together with Councillors Ian
Shipp and Diane Hind, Group Leaders of the minority groups, each paid their
own tribute to Councillor Harvey.
Although subject to formal resolution, the Chair elect acknowledged her
forthcoming year in office, which included graciously thanking fellow
councillors for her appointment, numerous officers, with special thanks to
Ruth Pusterla, Personal Assistant to the Civic Office, and announcing the
charities she wished to support during 2021 to 2022, namely, Our Special
Friends and Suffolk Accident and Rescue Service.

124. Apologies for absence
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Richard Alecock, Mick
Bradshaw, Simon Brown, Max Clarke, John Smith and Don Waldron.
Councillor Dawn Dicker had indicated that she would need to leave the
meeting early due to another commitment.

125. Election of Vice Chair elect of the Council for 2021 to 2022
The Chair elect nominated Councillor Mike Chester for the election of Vice
Chair elect for the 2021 to 2022 civic year, which was duly seconded by
Councillor Susan Glossop.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to a ‘minded to’ vote
and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Mike Chester be elected Vice Chair elect of West Suffolk
Council for the 2021 to 2022 civic year.
Taking into account the nomination received at this meeting, a formal vote on
the election of Vice Chair would be taken at the ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of
Council on 19 May 2021.

Page 17

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Although subject to formal resolution, the Vice Chair elect acknowledged his
forthcoming year in office, which included graciously thanking fellow
councillors for his appointment.

126. Appointment of Cabinet members
The Chair called upon Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council to make
his announcements.
These included:






Formally welcoming the newly elected members to West Suffolk
Council and paying tribute to those members who were no longer with
the Council, including those that had sadly passed away during 2020 to
2021, namely Councillors David Gathercole and Jim Meikle.
Acknowledging the sterling work of councillors and staff of West Suffolk
Council, particularly with respect to the challenges faced during the
past year. He specifically acknowledged their exemplary efforts for
supporting businesses and communities during the Covid-19 crisis,
while continuing to deliver services.
Announcing that the Deputy Leader, Cabinet and portfolios presently
remained unchanged, which was duly noted by Council.

(Councillor Dawn Dicker left the meeting at the conclusion of this item.)

127. Review of political balance and appointment to politically balanced
bodies 2021 to 2022 (Report number: AGM/WS/21/001)

Council considered this report, which sought approval of the political balance
and the allocation of seats to politically balanced bodies.
A ‘minded to’ vote would be taken which would be considered as a
recommendation to Council when a formal resolution would be sought at the
subsequent ‘in person’ meeting arranged for 19 May 2021.
Members confirmed that they had received copies of Appendices A, B, and C
which had been circulated following the distribution of the agenda and papers
for the meeting. Appendix A contained the proposed allocation of seats on
committees to the three political groups with proposed substitute allocations
contained in Appendix B. These had been developed in consultation with
Group Leaders to accord with the political balance of the Council as far as it
was reasonably practicable to do so. Appendix C contained the terms of
reference for the various committees.
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, drew relevant issues to the
attention of Council, including that in order to assist the allocation of
committee places to align with the political balance, it had been proposed to
increase the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee to 13 seats, the
principle of which had been agreed by Group Leaders. As a result of the
recent by-elections, the Conservative Group had also gained a seat on the
Development Control Committee.

Page 18

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

On the motion of Councillor Griffiths, duly seconded by Councillor Carol Bull
and upon being put to a ‘minded to’ vote, it was
Recommended to Council (19 May 2021):
That:
1.

The committees and sub-committees for 2021 to 2022 be
approved, in accordance with the number of seats and terms of
reference, as contained in Appendix C of Report number:
AGM/WS/21/001.

2.

The political balance and allocation of seats on committees as
contained in Appendix A to Report number: AGM/WS/21/001, be
approved.

3.

The political balance and allocation of substitutes on Committees
as contained in Appendix B to Report number: AGM/WS/21/001,
be approved.

4.

Based on the agreed allocations, it be agreed that Group Leaders
have up to 14 days in which to notify the Monitoring Officer of
their nominations to committee places, on which the Monitoring
Officer will appoint members and substitute members to
committees and sub-committees.

128. Appointment of Chair elects and Vice Chair elects of committees
The next item of business was the appointment of the Chair elects and ViceChair elects of the Overview and Scrutiny and Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committees.
Members were reminded that the ‘minded to’ votes taken on each of the
nominations received at this meeting for the four roles would be taken into
account at the ‘in person’ Annual Meeting on 19 May 2021 where a vote
would be taken to formally elect nominees to the respective role.
a.

Appointment of Chair elect of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Councillor John Griffiths nominated Councillor Ian Shipp as Chair elect
of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which was duly seconded by
Councillor Brian Harvey.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to the ‘minded
to’ vote, and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Ian Shipp be elected Chair elect of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.

Page 19

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

b.

Appointment of Vice Chair elect of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee
Councillor John Griffiths nominated Councillor Stephen Frost as Vice
Chair elect of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, which was duly
seconded by Councillor Ian Shipp.
Both Councillors Griffiths and Shipp expressed their thanks to
Councillor Simon Cole, former Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny
Committee (subject to formal resolution) for his work and contribution
to West Suffolk Council’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee since its
inception in May 2019, and for the years he had served as Chair of the
former Forest Heath District Council’s Overview and Scrutiny
Committee.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to the ‘minded
to’ vote, and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Stephen Frost be elected Vice Chair elect of the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.

c.

Appointment of Chair elect of the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee
Councillor John Griffiths nominated Councillor Ian Houlder as Chair
elect of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, which was duly
seconded by Councillor Sarah Broughton.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to the ‘minded
to’ vote, and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Ian Houlder be elected Chair elect of the Performance
and Audit Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.

d.

Appointment of Vice Chair elect of the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee
Councillor John Griffiths nominated Councillor Karen Richardson as Vice
Chair elect of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee, which
was duly seconded by Councillor Mike Chester.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to the ‘minded
to’ vote, and it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Karen Richardson be elected Vice Chair elect of the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.

Page 20

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

129. Representation on outside bodies 2021 to 2022 (Report number:
AGM/WS/21/002)

Council considered this report, which sought approval for various member
appointments to represent the Council on outside bodies.
A ‘minded to’ vote would be taken which would be considered as a
recommendation to Council when a formal resolution would be sought at the
subsequent ‘in person’ meeting arranged for 19 May 2021.
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, drew relevant issues to the
attention of Council, including that attached as Appendix A to the report was
the list of outside bodies where the Council was currently represented and by
whom. Following the ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of Council on 19 May 2021,
the Monitoring Officer would work with Group Leaders to identify where
members may wish to change their appointments and to fill the small number
of vacancies currently held.
On the motion of Councillor Griffiths, duly seconded by Councillor Sara
Mildmay-White and upon being put to a ‘minded to’ vote, it was
Recommended to Council (19 May 2021):
That:
1.

The Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring
Officer be given delegated authority to appoint the Council’s
representatives on outside bodies, in accordance with the
nominations put forward by relevant Group Leaders, or the
nominated body, or the individual listed, as detailed in Appendix
A to Report number: AGM/WS/21/002.

2.

Where no representative is nominated, the Service Manager
(Democratic Services) and Monitoring Officer be given delegated
authority to seek nominations from other bodies and individuals,
to be approved by Council in due course.

3.

It be noted that where the outside organisation is discharging
executive functions, or the Council is an observer on an
organisation, these appointments will be made by Cabinet.

4.

It be noted that it is intended to continue to review
representation on outside bodies to ensure that it remains
beneficial for the organisation and for the Council.

5.

It be noted that the nominations to the Suffolk County Council
Health Scrutiny Committee, be proposed by the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee for subsequent confirmation by Council.

Page 21

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

130. Conclusion
On conclusion of the meeting, the Chair elect thanked all present for their
attendance at this non-decision making virtual Annual Meeting of Council. The
live broadcast subsequently ended at this point.
The meeting concluded at 7.32 pm
Signed by:

Chair

Page 22

AGM.WS.18.05.2021
(non-decision making virtual)

Annual Council
Minutes of the Annual Meeting of Council held on Wednesday 19 May 2021 at
11.00 am in the Conference Chamber, West Suffolk House, Western Way,
Bury St Edmunds IP33 3YU
Present

Councillors
Chair Brian Harvey
Vice Chair Margaret Marks
Richard Alecock
Carol Bull
John Burns
Mike Chester
Nick Clarke

Roger Dicker
Stephen Frost
Susan Glossop
John Griffiths
Ian Houlder
Elaine McManus

Sara Mildmay-White
Ian Shipp
David Smith
Phil Wittam

131. Welcome and Introduction
The Chair formally opened the meeting and welcomed all persons present
including those that were viewing the meeting externally via the live
broadcast, to the ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of Council.
For the benefit of members of the public that may be watching the
livestream, the Chair provided the reasons for holding a non-decision making
virtual meeting ahead of this, the official Annual Meeting of Council.
Due to the expiry of special legislation on 7 May 2021 which allowed Council
meetings to be held virtually, and despite an unsuccessful High Court
challenge, the law only allowed publicly accessible decision making meetings
to be held in person at a specific geographical location.
To be able to have meetings in person, consideration also needed to be given
to Government guidance in relation to the safe use of council buildings and
carefully consider the capacity of West Suffolk Council’s venues to host
meetings. This was challenging as it was difficult to find venues within the
district to accommodate 64 councillors under the present social distancing
guidelines. From 21 June 2021, restrictions on social contact were expected
to ease which would help mitigate the current challenges.
The virtual meeting held the previous evening was therefore held to enable all
members to attend and participate in the discussion on the various agenda
items. Matters were voted on a ‘minded to’ basis, therefore while no formal
decisions were made, the outcome of the votes cast would help to inform
decision making at this official ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of Council. A

Page 23

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

quorum of members were in attendance on a politically balanced basis to
formally resolve the items discussed at the virtual meeting.

132. Election of Chair of the Council for 2021 to 2022
The outgoing Chair called for nominations for the election of Chair for the
2021 to 2022 civic year.
Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, nominated Councillor
Margaret Marks, which was duly seconded by Councillor Elaine McManus.
There being no other nominations, the motion was put to the vote and with
the vote being unanimous, it was
Resolved:
That Councillor Margaret Marks be elected Chair of West Suffolk Council
for the 2021 to 2022 civic year.
The retiring Chair briefly acknowledged his years in office (2019 to 2020 and
2020 to 2021), before inviting Councillor Margaret Marks to take the Chair.
Due to complying with current health and safety regulations, the incoming
Chair applied the Chain of Office herself, which was located in its case directly
in front of her. She then signed her Declaration of Acceptance of Office, which
would be signed by the Monitoring Officer at the conclusion of the meeting.

133. Chair's announcements
The Chair briefly reiterated from yesterday evening’s meeting, the Council’s
tribute to the outgoing Chair, Councillor Brian Harvey.
At this stage in proceedings, the incoming Chair would usually present the
retiring Chair with their past Chair’s badge. Councillor Harvey had been very
keen to resolve the production of the Chains of Office, which were recently
finalised and therefore available for the Annual Meeting. Unfortunately, after
the Chains were completed, the jeweller’s factory suffered a Covid-19
outbreak, which meant that the production of the Past Chair’s badge had not
been finished in time for the Annual Meeting. An appropriate moment would
be determined to provide it to Councillor Harvey in the near future.
The Chair then briefly acknowledged her forthcoming year in office.

134. Apologies for absence
Due to the reasons set out in the Chair’s introduction regarding adhering to
present Government guidelines on maintaining social distancing, a
compliment of 17 members were present at this meeting. This accorded with
the quorum for Council meetings and allowed health and safety measures to
be observed.
In addition to the required 16 members present, Councillor Ian Houlder was
in attendance in case another member of the Conservative Group was unable

Page 24

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

to attend at short notice, which would enable the meeting to remain quorate.
In order to observe the political balance of the Council, Councillor Houlder
remained present in the meeting room but refrained from voting on any of
the items.
Apologies for absence were therefore received from Councillors:
Michael Anderson, John Augustine, Trevor Beckwith, Mick Bradshaw, Sarah
Broughton, Simon Brown, Tony Brown, Patrick Chung, Max Clarke, Terry
Clements, Simon Cole, Jason Crooks, Dawn Dicker, Andy Drummond, Robert
Everitt, Pat Hanlon, Diane Hind, Rachel Hood, Beccy Hopfensperger, Paul
Hopfensperger, James Lay, Aaron Luccarini, Victor Lukaniuk, Birgitte Mager,
Joe Mason, Andy Neal, David Nettleton, Robert Nobbs, Colin Noble, David
Palmer, Sarah Pugh, Jo Rayner, Karen Richardson, David Roach, Richard
Rout, Marion Rushbrook, Andrew Smith, John Smith, Karen Soons, Clive
Springett, Sarah Stamp, Peter Stevens, Peter Thompson, Jim Thorndyke,
Julia Wakelam, Don Waldron and Cliff Waterman.
For the benefit of persons viewing the livestream, the Monitoring Officer also
listed the members present.

135. Formal decision making on 'minded to' decisions
Council was required to formally resolve the matters where ‘minded to’
decisions were made at the previous evening’s non-decision making virtual
Annual Meeting of Council.
The Chair invited the Monitoring Officer to advise of the ‘minded to’ decisions
made at that meeting, and it was suggested that a vote be taken ‘en bloc’ to
formally resolve those matters collectively.
The list of ‘minded to’ decisions made in the following order as listed on the
agenda were:
1.

Election of Vice Chair of the Council for 2021 to 2022:
Councillor Mike Chester

2.

It be noted that the appointment of Deputy Leader, Cabinet members
and their portfolios presently remain unchanged

3.

Review of political balance and appointment to politically balanced
bodies 2021 to 2022:
Recommended as proposed in Report number:
AGM/WS/21/001

4.

Appointment of:
a.
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor Ian Shipp
b.
Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor Stephen Frost
c.
Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor Ian Houlder

Page 25

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

d.
5.

Vice Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee:
Councillor Karen Richardson

Review and representation on outside bodies 2021 to 2022:
Recommended as proposed in Report number:
AGM/WS/21/002

Councillor John Griffiths, Leader of the Council, reiterated his comments made
during his announcements of the previous evening, including formally
welcoming the six new members to the Council which had recently been
elected in by-elections, namely Councillors Nick Clarke, Birgitte Mager, Colin
Noble, Sarah Pugh, Sarah Stamp and Julia Wakelam. He also paid tribute to
those members who were no longer with the Council, including those that had
sadly passed away during 2020 to 2021, namely Councillors David Gathercole
and Jim Meikle.
He again commended West Suffolk Council staff for their sterling work during
these extremely challenging times, whilst continuing to deliver services.
Other than 2. above which was to be noted by Council, Councillor Griffiths
moved the motion to formally resolve the aforementioned ‘minded to’
decisions taken at the virtual Annual Meeting. This was duly seconded by
Councillor Sara Mildmay-White.
The motion was put to the vote and with the vote being unanimous, it was
Resolved:
That:
1.

Election of Vice Chair of the Council for 2021 to 2022
Councillor Mike Chester be elected Vice Chair elect of West
Suffolk Council for the 2021 to 2022 civic year.

2.

Review of political balance and appointment to politically
balanced bodies 2021 to 2022
a.
The committees and sub-committees for 2021 to 2022 be
approved, in accordance with the number of seats and
terms of reference, as contained in Appendix C of Report
number: AGM/WS/21/001.
b.

The political balance and allocation of seats on committees
as contained in Appendix A to Report number:
AGM/WS/21/001, be approved.

c.

The political balance and allocation of substitutes on
Committees as contained in Appendix B to Report
number: AGM/WS/21/001, be approved.

d.

Based on the agreed allocations, it be agreed that Group
Leaders have up to 14 days in which to notify the
Monitoring Officer of their nominations to committee
places, on which the Monitoring Officer will appoint

Page 26

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

members and substitute members to committees and subcommittees.
3.

Appointment of:
a.
Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Councillor Ian Shipp be elected Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.
b.
Vice Chair of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Councillor Stephen Frost be elected Vice Chair of the Overview
and Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.
c.

Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee
Councillor Ian Houlder be elected Chair of the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.
d.

Vice Chair of the Performance and Audit Scrutiny
Committee
Councillor Karen Richardson be elected Vice Chair of the
Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee for 2021 to 2022.
4.

Review and representation on outside bodies 2021 to
2022
a.
The Service Manager (Democratic Services) and
Monitoring Officer be given delegated authority to appoint
the Council’s representatives on outside bodies, in
accordance with the nominations put forward by relevant
Group Leaders, or the nominated body, or the individual
listed, as detailed in Appendix A to Report number:
AGM/WS/21/002.
b.

Where no representative is nominated, the Service
Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring Officer be
given delegated authority to seek nominations from other
bodies and individuals, to be approved by Council in due
course.

c.

It be noted that where the outside organisation is
discharging executive functions, or the Council is an
observer on an organisation, these appointments will be
made by Cabinet.

d.

It be noted that it is intended to continue to review
representation on outside bodies to ensure that it remains
beneficial for the organisation and for the Council.

e.

It be noted that the nominations to the Suffolk County
Council Health Scrutiny Committee, be proposed by the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee for subsequent
confirmation by Council.

Page 27

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

Due to complying with current health and safety regulations, the incoming
Vice Chair applied the Chain of Office himself, which was located in its case
directly to the side of him. He then signed his Declaration of Acceptance of
Office, which would be signed by the Monitoring Officer at the conclusion of
the meeting.
The Vice Chair then briefly acknowledged his forthcoming year in office,
reiterating many of his comments made at the virtual meeting held on the
previous evening.

136. Conclusion
On conclusion of the meeting, the Chair thanked all present for their
attendance at this ‘in person’ Annual Meeting of Council. The live broadcast
subsequently ended at this point.
Whilst observing current health and safety regulations, the Declarations of
Acceptance of Office of the Chair and Vice Chair were duly signed by the
Monitoring Officer.
The meeting concluded at 11.15 am
Signed by:

Chair

Page 28

AGM.WS.19.05.2021

Agenda Item 2
Civic Communication for Council
Chair and Vice Chair
18 May 2021 to 22 June 2021

Non Decision Making Virtual Annual Meeting
of Council
via Teams

18 May 2021

6.30pm to 7.30 pm

Annual Meeting of Council
Council Chamber, West Suffolk House

19 May 2021

11am to 12pm

Newmarket Annual Town Meeting of Electors
2021
Memorial Hall, High Street, Newmarket
CB8 8JP

25 May 2021

6pm to 7.30pm

Mildenhall Hub Visit
Sheldrick Way, Mildenhall, Suffolk, IP28 7JX

27 May 2021

9.15am to 10.15am

Suffolk Justice Service
St Edmundsbury Cathedral

6 June 2021

3.30pm to 4.30pm

21 June 2021

8am to 8.30am

Armed Forces Day Flag Raising
West Suffolk House, Bury St Edmunds
Launch of Suffolk Day 2021
Clare Town Hall
Council Meeting
Venue TBC

9.30am to 10.30am
22 June 2021

Page 29

6.30pm to 8.30pm

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/007

Western Way Development,
Bury St Edmunds:
final business case update
and review
Report number:

COU/WS/21/007

Report to and date:

Council

Cabinet member:

Councillor Joanna Rayner
Portfolio Holder for Leisure, Culture and Community Hubs
Telephone: 01284 750366
Email: joanna.rayner@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Alex Wilson
Strategic Director
Telephone: 01284 757695
Email: alex.wilson@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

This item was published on the Decisions Plan. On 25
May 2021, Cabinet referred the matter directly to
Council for a decision.

Wards impacted:

All Wards

22 June 2021

Page 31

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/007
Recommendations:
1.

this review and update of the business case for the Western Way
Development (WWD), Bury St Edmunds and, as part of that wider
scheme, the replacement of the Bury St Edmunds Leisure Centre, be
approved so that Cabinet and officers can continue to deliver the
project on the basis set out in the approved outline and final business
cases, the external assurance review, this review and the Council’s
Constitution;

2.

the existing financial provisions, safeguards and financial tests for
delivery of the project agreed by Council on 19 September 2019, and
clarified through the action plan of the external assurance review
approved by Cabinet on 14 January 2020, be reaffirmed subject to:
a.

it being noted that that the project may now need to be
delivered in phases if required;

b.

the £27.9 million capital expenditure limit for the replacement of
the leisure centre being replaced by a new condition that this
element of the scheme is capable of achieving at least a breakeven position as defined in appendix 1 to this review document
(Report number: COU/WS/21/007);

c.

public sector partners seeking more than 200 square metres of
exclusive floorspace also being required to agree heads of terms
and formal pre-let agreement at the project gateways defined in
Part E of this review; and

d.

the revised timescales outlined in this review.

Page 32

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/007

1.

Context to this report

1.1

Please see attached review document and appendices.

2.

Proposals within this report

2.1

Please see recommendations and attached review document and
appendices.

3.

Alternative options that have been considered

3.1

The 2018 Outline Business Case and 2019 Final Business Case provided an
analysis of alternative options as part of the process to choose a preferred
scheme. That preferred scheme was approved for delivery subject to
conditions, and has received planning consent. It also provides significant
flexibility going forward, as explained in the attached update report.

3.2

If, having considered this review, Council did not agree that the approved
project should continue as originally planned, a further report would need to
be prepared examining alternative options. This is because the purpose of
this update report is to review the existing scheme, and options for its
future delivery.

4.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

4.1

The wider project has been and is subject to extensive consultation. In
relation to this review, consultation has taken place with the members of
the Cabinet, partners and other key stakeholders, such as national sporting
bodies.

5.

Risks associated with the proposals

5.1

A risk appraisal for the project is provided within, and as an appendix to,
the attached review document.

6.

Implications arising from the proposals

6.1

Please see attached review document and appendices.

Page 33

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/007

7.

Appendices referenced in this report

7.1

Main document:
Western Way Development Final Business Case Update and Review
Appendices to main document:
Public
1. Leisure Provision (Business Case Update)
2. External Assurance Review Action Plan Update
3. Risk Assessment
Exempt
4. Market Update and Anticipated Rent Analysis*
* Published online (restricted access) only here, as background
information for councillors

8.

Background documents associated with this
report

8.1

Outline Business Case for Western Way Development, October 2018

8.2

Final Business Case for Western Way Development, September 2019

8.3

External Assurance Review, January 2020

8.4

All three documents above can be found at
www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/wwd

Page 34

Western Way Development
Final Business Case Update
and Review
June 2021

Page 35

Contents
A. Executive Summary
B. Background and Context for the Review
C. Strategic and Economic Cases
D. Commercial Case
E. Financial Case
F. Management Case
G. Next Steps and Recommendations

Appendices and Attachments
Public
1.

Leisure Provision (Business Case Update)

2.

External Assurance Review Action Plan Update

3.

Risk Assessment

Exempt
4.

Market Update & Anticipated Rent Analysis*

* Published online (restricted access) only here, as background information for
councillors

Page 36

A. Executive Summary
1. The Western Way Development (WWD) is part of a network of existing or
planned community hub projects across the whole West Suffolk area being
delivered by partners in the public, charity and community sectors. These
range in scale from a community-led hub project in Clare up to the multiagency Mildenhall Hub which opened in June 2021.
2. As already seen from partners and the public there is a strong appetite and
support for the improved facilities that these hubs bring and, more
importantly, the stronger benefits that this co-location of services offers in
terms of health, education, service delivery, economic support and reduced
burden on taxpayers. The public sector in West Suffolk is at the forefront of
this work nationally, and its projects are seen as national exemplars under the
Government’s One Public Estate Programme.
3. Building on this strong track record for co-location among the partners, the
WWD has the potential to deliver another radical step change in the
regeneration and sharing of the public estate. As well as delivering new
employment space, it aims to integrate council and government services, the
NHS, leisure facilities, an advice centre, third sector organisations and both
community and education services on a single site to create better outcomes
and save money. The project also offers a significant opportunity to deliver
the Council’s decarbonisation objectives.
4. COVID-19 has meant some delay but has shown that a facility of this nature is
even more needed to protect the ongoing health and wellbeing of residents as
well as the public services that support communities.
5. Equally, there is more uncertainty around the commercial office market and it
is prudent to ensure an investment of this size delivers. Partners are still
enthusiastic and committed to the project – even more so in some cases due
to the pandemic - and the flexible and phased nature of the scheme means
that the Council has options in its delivery.
6. Whatever happens, a new Leisure Centre is needed – indeed, millions of
pounds have already been invested by the Council in centres across West
Suffolk to improve facilities, with Bury St Edmunds being the last. The
suggestion in this paper is those leisure facilities can now be even better than
first proposed in 2019.
7. This paper will also go onto show that although, understandably, there are
more financial challenges, the scheme can be delivered within its original
budget objectives, while still meeting the strategic objectives of the Council,
its partners, our communities and our businesses. At the same time it can be
done in an environmentally friendly way meeting our commitments to tackle
climate change.
8. The WWD was approved for delivery by Council in late 2019 and now has
planning consent. However, as previously reported, COVID-19 has slowed
down the project by around a year compared to the original timetable. While

Page 37

the Council agreed in 2019 that the project should go forward if it met certain
tests, as some time has passed due to the pandemic Cabinet want to make
sure Council is updated and aware of any proposed changes and the details of
proposed phasing. Council is therefore being asked to continue to support the
project going forward and begin formal tendering.
9. Given the length of time that has passed, and the impact of the pandemic
generally, the Cabinet has first asked the project team to review the 2019
final business case in the light of current circumstances, so that all councillors
can decide whether to reaffirm their support for the scheme. This report
contains that review, and this is a summary of its main findings.
Why are we still pursuing the WWD?
10. From a strategic point of view, delivery of WWD is as important as ever given
the positive impact the programme to create community hubs across the
whole of West Suffolk. Now, however, there is also an added COVID-19
recovery dimension. Specifically, in the case of the WWD the scheme is:
•
•
•
•

•

delivering the agreed masterplan for the site
securing the future of local community facilities (health, leisure and
skills)
creating new employment space and jobs
all about working in partnership with other organisations under the One
Public Estate Programme and, in particular, strengthening integration
with NHS partners
addressing the internal asset management need to renew the existing
leisure centre (for which there is no ‘do nothing’ option).

What is the current position?
11. Investing in achieving a planning consent for the maximum amount of
development the site can accommodate has given the Council and its partners
the maximum range of options going forward.
12. Equally, given the pressure on the Council’s resources, the financial
safeguards already agreed for the project are more important than ever. For
instance, these require that the WWD hub must be capable of at least
breaking-even for the taxpayer in ‘whole-life’ terms.
13. In this context, it was always the case that, to deliver the full potential of the
scheme with planning consent, some kind of external funding would have
been necessary to help manage the short-term cashflow implications. Not
least because it would have taken several years for the commercial office
spaces to fill-up.
14. However, the Council has also always been clear that, by choosing a flexible
design to re-use the existing steel frame of the vacated depot, the WWD can
be delivered in phases. Elements of the leisure centre can also be included in
the main hub if there is not another competing demand. As demand and
additional sources of finances change the space is flexible to accommodate
this expansion.

Page 38

15. This review shows that there is still a strong confirmed demand for the public
sector elements of the scheme, including a new leisure centre and health
facilities. This is in addition to whatever the new hospital will provide.
However, not all of the public sector space available in the approved scheme
is likely to be needed in phase 1 and likely to come forward in following
stages. Similarly, while a recent appraisal shows that premium office space in
Bury St Edmunds is still likely to be required, due to the effects of COVID and
the pace of recovery it would be even more risky without external support to
offer the full amount possible in the WWD due to current uncertainty in the
commercial property market. However, the WWD will provide space, when
needed, for businesses to help in that recovery.
16. As no external funding is currently available, there is therefore now a need to
consider the details of these phasing options for both the public and private
sector elements. By doing this, the significant risk and cost of delaying the
confirmed public sector elements of the scheme can be balanced against the
need for financial prudence. In short, a phased scheme can deliver the
strategic and financial objectives originally envisaged in the outline and final
business cases; just on a smaller and safer scale in the first instance.
17. The question is therefore: what can the Council afford to deliver in phase 1?
This question can be broken down into two elements, as it was in the original
business case: the leisure centre; and the new hub.
Can the Council still afford to replace the leisure centre?
18. In 2019 the business case for the leisure centre element of the centre was
approved on the basis of strong strategic, management, commercial and
economic cases. With regard to the financial case, it was established that,
whilst developing a new centre now would create a cost pressure for the
Council (then estimated at £720,000), this was cheaper in the long-term than
the baseline option. Namely, continuing to repair the existing centre and still
ultimately having to rebuild it later. On that basis, Council approved £27.9
million of capital expenditure for the replacement of the Bury St Edmunds
Leisure Centre as part of the WWD.
19. Since 2019, work has been undertaken to review the design and financial
modelling of the leisure centre proposal. Appendix 1 of this review therefore
sets out the option for a larger leisure centre that provides even greater
opportunities for health integration, but within the terms of the existing
planning consent.
20. This new proposal increases the size of the leisure centre by 500 square
metres and the estimated capital cost by £3.37 million (12 percent) before
any further value engineering is carried out. But it also increases the financial
benefit by 11 percent. Therefore, taking a 40 year whole life costing, it
remains the case that rebuilding it now as part of the WWD, rather than
deferring and rebuilding later, is the most cost effective option as well as the
most strategically and commercially beneficial. Over 40 years, the revenue
cost of a new build now is £35.9 million, compared with between £41 million
and £44 million to refurbish the existing leisure and rebuild at a later date.

Page 39

21. As such, it is proposed that the flexibility to increase the existing capital
allowance for the new leisure centre is created. But only provided that the
scheme still delivers the same financial benefits overall (and does not increase
the existing cost pressure to address the condition of the facility). If this is
agreed, more work will also be undertaken to reduce the capital cost through
value engineering, improve the income position and to continue to explore the
availability of developer contributions.
Can the Council still afford to develop a new hub?
22. At present, without external funding, the Council could not afford the financial
risk of developing the full WWD scheme on its own – as has always been the
case. This option needs to remain open, and this review does not prevent it
from still happening, even in phase 1 if needed. However, if the Council wants
to move forward to the next stage, it needs to base its decision on confirmed
demand for phase 1 and the future rise in costs if it delays further.
23. No public sector partner has fully withdrawn from the scheme since 2019, but
some have changed their requirements to reflect new ways of working. The
continued strong demand for a large core scheme is built primarily around the
NHS’ requirement for community health facilities as part of their wider
strategy to work in hubs with other partners across the whole of West Suffolk.
In addition to the public sector demand, there is also expected to be demand
in the first three years of opening for around 2,000 square metres of office
space for rent in the WWD.
24. The WWD will contain a large new leisure centre, and shared ancillary spaces
such as staff welfare facilities, plant rooms and central meeting spaces.
However, taking just the areas which will be available to the public sector and
commercial tenants to rent, the situation can be summarised as follows:
Space

Available under the
full scheme with
planning consent
(m2)

Estimated minimum
demand in phase 1
(m2)

Clinical health space

4239

3250

Public sector office and
advice space

5259

2500

Commercial office space
(by year 3)

5969

2000

15467

7750

Total

25. This is quite a conservative estimate (including expressions of interest, this
demand would be over 10,000 square metres). But, even so, there is already
demand for at least half of the space that is available under the planning
consent. This would require a phase 1 scheme which refurbishes at least twothirds of the existing frame, in addition to providing the leisure centre. So, by

Page 40

scale, this would still be a very significant new hub; slightly bigger in overall
size to the Mildenhall Hub, although with a different mix of facilities.
26. While it would be consistent with the existing planning consent, a phasing
strategy of this kind would require some design changes to the internal layout
to ensure that it remains both an efficient use of space and very flexible for
future expansion, particularly for health services. The flexibility to do this was
part of the original scheme and one of the reasons to use the depot frame. A
phased approach would still keep the original design intent of the scheme,
particularly its central ‘Street’ and its very strong environmental credentials.
The highways improvements and travel plan for the scheme would also need
to be retained.
27. When added to the revenue funding that would be available to pay for the
new leisure centre, and other income or savings, such as from renewable
energy, the estimated rents from a hub of this minimum size would be likely
to support borrowing from the Public Works Loan Board of between £89
million to 93 million over 40 years.
28. Using the latest capital cost estimates, this budget should be sufficient to
provide the full leisure centre plus a hub which is large enough to meet the
minimum phase 1 demand above and future-proofed for later expansion. This
estimate reflects benchmarked costs, and allows for inflation and other risks.
It also recovers the cost of acquiring the sites. The review contains a more
detailed financial analysis, including cash-flow projections.
29. Therefore, there is every reason to believe that, even if the Council has to act
on its own as developer, the project can be achieved on a break-even basis,
as agreed by Council as one of the tests it must meet. And also that, if
procurement starts later on in 2021, that the scheme could still be complete
during 2024 to 2025. In fact, delaying delivery of the project carries risks to
the viability of the public sector elements in the form of higher inflation and
variable interest rates.
New safeguards
30. A key issue in the approval of the 2019 final business case was ensuring that
there were significant safeguards for the project to protect the interests of
taxpayers. These safeguards capped the total spending on the project at £140
million, and also required that public sector partners must have signed up to
meeting the Council’s abortive costs before tendering started. Most
importantly, they required the project to achieve a break-even position for
local taxpayers.
31. This review has concluded that these safeguards are still the right ones, but
also suggests that they are amended. Firstly, to create the aforementioned
flexibility in the spending limits on the leisure centre. Secondly to require that
the public sector partners wanting more than 200 square metres of space
must sign up formally to letting agreements during the next stages of the
project to give financial reassurance.

Page 41

32. If this more detailed phased approach is approved by Council, the next
developmental stages of the project will also now be defined in terms of five
key gateways, linked to design stages and tendering. They will take the
project up to the point of a contract being signed with a builder. This last
gateway will require a formal Cabinet decision and, if the financial tests for
the project are not met at any of the earlier gateways, the project would also
be referred back to councillors.
33. This approach is designed to provide confidence to proceed to the next stage
of the project, responding to the need and opportunity to deliver another
great facility for West Suffolk.

Page 42

B. Background and context for the review
Background to the project
1.

The Western Way Development, or WWD, (also known as the Public Service
Village (PSV)) was adopted as part of the One Public Estate (OPE) Programme
when the councils in West Suffolk first joined OPE in 2014. Since the adoption
of a new masterplan for the site in 2016, partners have been working on a
business case that was approved in final form in 2019 and is consistent with
the local estates strategy for the NHS. The scheme achieved planning consent
in 2020.

2.

The WWD is part of a network of existing or planned community hub projects
across the whole West Suffolk area. Building on this strong track record for colocation among the partners, the WWD has the potential to deliver another
radical step change in the regeneration and sharing of the public estate, as
well as providing the contribution to growth in employment envisaged by the
inclusion of the site in the current local plan. As well as potentially delivering
new employment space, it aims to host council and government services, the
NHS, leisure facilities, an advice centre, third sector organisations and both
community and education services in a single building to improve public
access, service delivery and efficiency, and promote skills and enterprise. In
parallel, there is scope for separate projects to deliver student accommodation
and a pre-school although these are not covered by this report as they would
require standalone business cases. The project also offers a significant
opportunity to deliver the Council’s decarbonisation objectives.

3.

As set out in the Executive Summary this is a nationally important project in
delivering services and better outcomes for communities. The pandemic has
shown even more need for better leisure and health provision as well as the
benefits created by co-locating these together. The WWD can also contribute
to economic recovery through jobs and skills.

Context for this review
4.

The Council approved a final business case for the Western Way Development
(WWD) in autumn 2019 and, in doing so, authorised Cabinet and officers to
deliver the project described in the final business case, and seek external
funding, without reference back to Council provided that:
1.

before any work commences on tendering:
a.
b.

c.

the project will have undergone an assurance (‘gateway’) review
by an independent external expert;
any public sector partners wishing to take part in phase 1 of the
project will have entered into formal agreements to confirm the
basis on which they will occupy the WWD and to indemnify the
Council for their share of its abortive costs if they subsequently
withdraw or substantially reduce their requirements; and
taking into account a. and b. above, the Cabinet will have
adjusted the final phase 1 scheme so that it continues to meet the
objectives set out in the Final Business Case;

Page 43

2.

various financial tests are met, namely:
a.
b.
c.

3.

the Council’s capital expenditure being capped at the agreed
maximum amounts (£112 million for the new hub element and
£27.9 million for the leisure centre);
the hub element being capable of achieving at least a break-even
position over the whole life of the project;
the cash flow risk being managed; and

the most beneficial and economic funding method for the project is
identified, including entering into agreements with third-party investors
if required.

5.

The first examination of those tests was in January 2020 when Cabinet agreed
an action plan from an independent external assurance review carried out at
the end of 2019 (see Part C and appendix 2). At that time, procurement of a
contractor was expected to begin in spring/summer 2020, with delivery of the
scheme by late 2023/early 2024.

6.

Good progress had been made with the project at the time that the COVID-19
pandemic had triggered the business continuity plans of the Council and its
partners in early 2020. Namely:
•
•
•
•

•
•

All parts of the depot building were to be fully vacated in the required
timescales
A planning application had been submitted (and this was subsequently
approved in August 2020)
Good progress had been made with public sector partners on signing-up
to their phase 1 requirements
A targeted review of the final business case had been completed as per
the action plan for the external assurance review to update cost plans
and test new scenarios
strong in principle support had been received (and remains) for the
scheme from the New Anglia Local Enterprise Partnership (NALEP)
The project was on track to start procurement in parallel to planning in
Spring 2020.

7.

Clearly, much has changed since that point. Expanding on brief updates to the
Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November 2020 and Cabinet on 25 May
2021, this paper updates Council on what has happened since early 2020 and
sets out how the project could be delivered from this point reflecting the
impact of the pandemic and other changes which have occurred.

8.

The paper does not revisit matters in previous reports that have not changed.
So, unless stated otherwise in this report, it can be taken as read that the
earlier content and decisions by Councillors associated with the final business
case and external assurance review still apply. Furthermore, any matters
which might require consideration by the Local Planning Authority would need
separate determination.

Page 44

C. Strategic and Economic Cases
Review of the delivery strategy
1.

The text in the main body of the report focuses on the main WWD
project and specifically on the new hub element. A standalone review of
the business case for replacing Bury Leisure Centre within the WWD
project is set out in Appendix 1.
What has been the specific impact of COVID-19 on the project?

2.

As already reported to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and
Cabinet, the pandemic has had several specific impacts on the WWD
since the project was last reported to Cabinet in January 2020.
Specifically:
•

•
•

•

•

•
•
3.

it has strengthened the project’s strategic benefits due to its potential
positive impact on recovery in relation to health, skills and
employment
similarly, it has created a focus on the importance of capital projects
as another driver for economic recovery
there have been changes to inflation, interest rate and construction
market assumptions (as a result of the pandemic and other market
conditions)
there was a reduced availability of staff resources in the Council and
understandably partners due to the COVID-19 response and/or
harder to engage with stakeholders during early stages of lockdown
there is very likely to be an impact on the general demand for office
space due to organisations adopting flexible and hybrid working
practices (working from home or a range of locations), and wider
impacts on the commercial property market
public sector partners have reviewed their estates strategies,
particularly in relation to health delivery
the wider impacts on local authority and public sector finances.

In terms of programme, the pandemic has already delayed delivery of
the project by at least a year. Corporately, there is also now clearly a
need to review the original business case for the project to test that its
original assumptions around project requirements, timings and costings
still apply.
Are the project’s original strategic objectives still correct?

4.

A project description, scope and strategic case for the WWD was made
extensively in the outline and final business cases and is not repeated in
this update report for reasons of brevity. Both documents are also
available at www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/wwd. Instead, the focus in this
report is on what has changed since the final business case and external
assurance review.

Page 45

5.

Nonetheless, it is worth recording at the outset that the strategic and
spending objectives of the project not only remain the same as when
they were approved but continue to drive the project. As does the
Council’s wish to retain control over delivery of the adopted masterplan
for the site. Indeed, as highlighted earlier in this report, the pandemic
has strengthened the need for this type of facility to help meet the
strategic aims.

6.

While it has commercial aspects, the project also remains fundamentally
an investment in the local community and economy. In a 2021 context,
it has also become a crucial investment in recovery from the COVID-19
pandemic. It is also important to see the project in the context of the
Council and its partners’ commitment to the One Public Estate
programme across the whole of West Suffolk. This is seen in recent and
ongoing investment in community hubs and other leisure, health, skills
and employment facilities across the whole of West Suffolk.

7.

Another key change since the early stage of the project has been the
adoption of an action plan to achieve Net Zero carbon emissions by 2030
following the Council’s 2019 declaration of a climate emergency. Part of
the plan was based on improving our buildings’ environmental
performance and so the environmental credentials of any new
development are fundamental. In this regard, the Council has been
successful in securing Government funding from the Public Sector
Decarbonisation Fund for the installation of new electrical infrastructure
and a battery energy storage system to provide benefits to West Suffolk
House in the short term and then support the electrical infrastructure
requirements for the new development. The positive impact of this grant
is already built into the project cost estimates later in this review.
Are the project’s existing spending objectives still correct?

8.

Due to the cost of the potentially abortive work involved, deciding to go
to the next stage of the project must still be on the basis that it is going
to be deliverable, in practical and financial terms. Therefore, the key
question for the Council as developer remains whether this is a sound
investment in any foreseeable scenario that emerges, and that there is a
sensible contingency plan to mitigate any changes to the target model?
This is all explored in the later sections of this update.

9.

In terms of the eventual capital cost, the Council cannot subsidise the
project due to its own current and future financial pressures, and the
project must take into account the existing medium-term financial
strategy (MTFS). Therefore, the financial tests and safeguards originally
agreed for the project in 2019 are more important than ever.

10.

Accordingly, excluding the leisure centre (which would be a conventional
asset management decision for a local authority), the WWD must still be
a break-even scheme over the whole life of the project, allowing for

Page 46

some negative cash-flow in the first few years. However, in view of the
strategic benefits that might be achieved (see earlier reports and
above), a break-even scheme for the taxpayer would still represent a
considerable return on any investment.
11.

It also remains the case that delivering the entire potential scheme in
phase 1 would require significant external subsidy or third party
investment. Without that subsidy, the Council as a developer will need to
consider different delivery strategies and these are also explored in this
report.

12.

Furthermore, as will be highlighted in later sections of the review, while
the projected overall capital cost of the project is still capable of
remaining well within the original capped allocation for the project (£140
million), the way this capital spending is actually apportioned between
the hub and leisure elements in the final scheme will need to be flexible.
This is because there is now the opportunity to slightly increase the
amount of leisure provision and blur the original design boundaries
between the leisure and non-leisure elements. This proposal reflects
continued design evolution and work by partners on service integration
opportunities. It is therefore proposed in this report that the cap on the
cost of the leisure centre is removed subject to strong safeguards.
However, this only affects the capital spending and the two distinct
business cases remain separate.
Is the approved design/planning consent still appropriate?

13.

Since the final business case, the WWD scheme has been through a full
planning application. Subject to completion of a s106 Agreement for
highways matters, this application was approved in 2020. At the time of
writing this report, the s106 agreement is being finalised but is expected
to be completed shortly having been agreed in principle. Meeting the
requirements of the planning process has led to some evolution of the
infrastructure requirements, design and cost plan which has been taken
on board in the new cost information contained in this report.

14.

The WWD was conceived and designed before the current COVID-19
pandemic. The pandemic has also occurred since the planning
application was submitted at the end of 2019. As such, the scheme will
now need to reflect the learning from the pandemic and will be delivered
in a changed economic environment.

15.

However, the pandemic only serves to demonstrate the strength of the
submitted design and the concept of refurbishing the existing building
frame. Namely, that the design is deliberately flexible to adapt to
whatever facilities the community and economy need. Not just when the
scheme first opens, but over the full life of the building. This is because
the scheme for re-using the frame provides a range of completely
flexible spaces, within the constraints of the permitted use classes.

Page 47

Therefore, it can adapt to how health, skills, leisure, employment and
public services will need to be delivered over the next 100 years. So, if
those changes start have occurred even before the new hub is built, then
no major external re-design is required in planning terms.
16.

From a delivery point of view, the planning consent is also crucial in the
critical path of the programme. Simply because the Council, as
developer, cannot engage with prospective funders or test the scheme in
the commercial market unless it has planning consent, and can show the
scheme is deliverable.

17.

In simple terms, the investment in the current planning consent has
provided the maximum range of options to take forward the scheme. It
also positions the scheme to take advantage of any national or regional
recovery programmes which require planning consent as a condition of
funding.

18.

Seeking the consent was also important to protect delivery of the
masterplan for the site, and the jobs and new public facilities it will
bring. This is because, as a committed development, the necessary
highways capacity will be secured.

19.

Sticking with the existing scheme is also crucial to the Council’s
commitment to tackle the declared environment and biodiversity
emergency because it offers not only significant benefits in terms of
renewable energy and a green travel plan but also proposes the re-use
of a large steel frame and concrete pad.

20.

In conclusion, the COVID-19 pandemic will undoubtedly mean changes
to any mixed scheme as significant as the Western Way Development.
But the scheme was already designed to be able to adapt to constant
change in the way buildings are used by the public and private sectors
over the next century, and the learning from the pandemic will be fully
reflected in its first iteration.
Has COVID-19 changed the requirements of the external
assurance review action plan?

21.

At the time of the external assurance review in late 2019, a number of
issues were identified in an action plan approved by Cabinet in early
2020. These remain largely unaffected by the pandemic as they covered
matters such as sources of borrowing and project controls. Appendix 2
shows how the action plan has been addressed in the last year and
indicates those matters which are still outstanding and part of the
ongoing project controls.

Page 48

How has COVID-19 affected the project risks?
22.

In addition, like any project, WWD is subject to a specific set of risks,
which were last reported in the final business case in 2019. Appendix 3
updates the formal project risk register. The mitigation of these risks will
be a crucial part of how the project moves forward, and are reflected in
the recommendations in this report.

23.

The main risks facing the project at this point were already known in
2019 but have been amplified since that time. Namely:




the risk to the Council’s wider finances if the scheme is either not
capable of breaking even in the long-run or has a major impact on
short-term cashflow;
the risk to the project’s viability from changes in interest rates or
inflation; and
the risk of over-providing specialist accommodation for public
sector partners or commercial office space (generally and in
relation to changed post-Covid demands).

24.

The mitigation of these risks is what lay behind the financial safeguards
agreed in 2019 and set out at the start of this report.

25.

Of particular relevance to this review, however, there are also specific
risks from any further delay to the project (in addition to inflation or
interest rate changes):






26.

delayed delivery of the intended strategic outcomes, including the
direct and indirect contribution of the project to recovery
the challenges facing the current leisure centre are not addressed
(as set out in the leisure centre business case)
the loss of prospective tenants due to not being able to meet their
required timescales or compete with alternative options
the inability to react quickly to funding opportunities which may
arise in national or local recovery programmes
the holding costs of vacant or under-utilised sites acquired for the
project.

These existing and new risks combine to create a set of challenges for
the project which will need to be balanced in any chosen approach to
phase 1. Specifically, there is a need to provide (in no ranked order):
•
•

•

Pace: the public sector partners who are committed to the
scheme need to start phase 1 as soon as possible
Certainty on scope: WSC can’t tender for a contractor until we
have a well-defined phase 1 scheme we know we can afford to
deliver
Mitigation of cashflow risk: WSC can’t risk the significant costs
of having un-let office units in the medium to long-term, and the
commercial market is still uncertain due to COVID-19

Page 49

•

27.

Future-proofing: we need to ensure we can still deliver
something close to the full scheme with planning consent if we
have to take a phased approach.

All of which add up to needing a very flexible, potentially phased,
approach which remains subject to the existing strict financial
safeguards for local taxpayers. The remainder of this report explains how
this might be provided.
What are the post-COVID space requirements for the new hub?

28.

While this involves third-party information which the Council would not
be allowed to share in public documents, the partnership behind the
project is as strong as ever, with no prospective public sector partners
withdrawing since 2019 and, in fact, additional interest being generated.
However, the pandemic has changed the views of all organisations,
including the Council, on how it will use accommodation in the future, to
capitalise on improved digital access for staff and users. This does not
diminish the need for the WWD, but it does mean some partners will not
want to access all of the available space in the planning consent in one
‘big-bang’, confirming the presumption in the Final Business Case (FBC)
that some kind of phased delivery was most likely to be necessary.
However, as this report makes clear, we wish to retain the flexibility to
still deliver the full scheme in phase 1 if demand suddenly increases
before construction.

29.

Given their significance to the viability of any phase 1 scheme, it will be
crucial to achieve the formal sign-up of NHS partners before proceeding.
However, based on the latest information from all partners and a market
assessment from the Council’s advisers, a prudent estimate of the main1
income-earning spaces that would now be required as a minimum in
phase 1 of the WWD ‘hub’ scheme (excluding leisure) is as follows:

In addition, there would be a requirement for a staff café, shared meeting rooms
and multi-activity spaces in ‘The Street’ which could also generate income. These
would add another 500m2 of income earning space to the Hub, so there is actually
around 8250m2 of income-earning space reflected in the revenue modelling in
Part E of this review.
1

Page 50

Space

Available
under full
scheme
with
planning
consent
(m2)

Estimated Cost recovery model
minimum
demand
in phase 1
(m2)

Clinical health
space

4239

3250

An open-book rental model under One
Public Estate principles which ensures
neither partner subsidises the other

Public sector
office and
advice space2

5259

2500

A standard all inclusive ‘desk rate’ for
public sector occupiers across West
Suffolk House (WSH) and WWD (but
with a rental element equivalent to
the commercial office space)3

Commercial
office space
(by year 3)

5969

2000

Market rent based on latest market
appraisal from Council’s advisers

Total

15467

7750

4

This assessment of minimum demand takes into account a realistic appraisal of
the ability to share more of West Suffolk House with partners in a post-Covid
environment of greater working from home. The 2500m2 shown is a net figure
in that context.
2

There would be a risk of challenge if a landlord attempted to distinguish between
public and private sector tenants in the same building and, in any event, the rental
element of the current WSH desk charge is already reflective of market rents.
3

This is the lettable areas tenants would occupy exclusively on which rents would
be based. However, this does not include ancillary areas to which tenants would
expect to have access (staff facilities, breakout areas, etc) or circulation.
4

Page 51

30.

7,750 square metres is a very prudent estimate because public sector partners
have actually expressed an interest in around 8,000 square metres of space in
phase 1, including options to co-locate in West Suffolk House. This will need to
be clarified in the next stage of the project. Either way, this appraisal is very
important because, when combined with the leisure centre business case, it
demonstrates that there is sufficient demand to justify a significant phase 1
scheme. And members will recall from the FBC that one of the identified fallback options for WWD was to phase development around a scheme which only
initially required three of the four building cores5. A hub of this size would also
still be a national exemplar and deliver all the original strategic objectives for
the project. Therefore, having this baseline level of demand is the cornerstone
of the proposals for phase 1.

31.

An obvious question to ask at this stage is in relation to the post-pandemic
demand for office space. Most public sector partners, include WSC, are
planning for a return of staff to offices, but adjusting their accommodation to
reflect greater working from home but also a need for different collaborative
working styles and different forms of meetings. This is likely to mean some
reduction in public sector office requirements in the short to medium terms,
and scope for even greater sharing of existing facilities such as West Suffolk
House and the Mildenhall Hub. However, it is worth noting that the estimates in
the table above are based on conversations with partners since the end of
2020, not before 2020 i.e. taking into account COVID-19.

32.

In the commercial sector, things are more uncertain, and the Council has asked
Carter Jonas to review the previous advice they gave the Council at the time of
the FBC. Their advice in early 2021, which is commercially sensitive, is
contained in exempt online Appendix 4. However, as a summary for
transparency:
• The supply of new, quality, office space remains constrained however the
quantity of grade A space coming back to the market may increase as
companies rationalise their occupational portfolios.
• The Bury St Edmunds office market has, over the last 5 years, performed
well against other local centres.
• Most of the demand is for office suites below 500 square metres.
• A reasonable assumption is that 2,000 square metres could still be let at the
WWD within the first three years.
• Office rents achievable will be subject to the quality of space, facilities and
car parking ratios.
• There is thought to be a reasonable chance of securing an anchor office
occupier at the WWD especially whilst there remains a limited supply of
Grade A space in Bury St Edmunds.
The preferred option in the FBC was (and still is) to be able to access external
funding to reduce the capital cost or support short-term cashflow. This would
allow the Council to build the full frame but leave some areas as shell-and-core
or suitable for temporary uses. However, without short-term funding this option
is impossible for the Council to contemplate because of the additional borrowing
and holding costs (e.g. NNDR) with no way to mitigate them through rent.
5

Page 52

• Discussions could continue with the serviced office sector as their presence
could help anchor the scheme and help raise awareness of the office suites
available.
33.

This advice has been built into this review and, clearly, there would be
considerable risk in bringing forward the maximum amount of office space
possible under the planning consent in any phase 1 scheme. Instead, a more
prudent approach would be to take advantage of the flexibility of the design
and scale the phase 1 building correctly for the confirmed initial public sector
demand plus a sensible amount of complementary office space to let to public
or private sector partners. This approach would also allow any spare capacity in
West Suffolk House to be offered in the first instance to partners.

34.

If third parties could invest in the scheme, retaining the full frame in phase 1
would still be the preferred option. However, demolishing an end portion of the
frame would still be consistent with a phased approach to delivering the full
original planning consent because it would be possible to reinstate it later
(subject to approval of the local planning authority). This model would also
generate significant capital savings by both removing a large volume of space
and reducing the initial cost of car parking spaces. It would also meet the
known public sector requirements for phase 1. The simple fact that this option
for phase 1 exists can therefore help to give confidence to proceed to the next
stage of the project regardless.

35.

However, while not an irreversible step, reducing the frame in phase 1 does
carry risks. Principally, that demand from the public and/or private sectors for
space increases suddenly and outstrips the supply of space in a reduced
scheme. It would also be disruptive and more expensive to add space back
later and mean that the fixed overheads of the project such as highways costs
would be borne initially by fewer income-earning elements. Accordingly,
retaining the maximum flexibility within the phase 1 scheme to increase
internal floorspace without having to change the external frame will be really
important.

36.

Ultimately, however, there is simply no way without external subsidy to
mitigate the risk to the Council and taxpayers of over-supplying lettable space
and carrying the cost of voids. This means that the decision to phase delivery
of the scheme may end up ‘taking itself’ under the already agreed financial
objectives.
How should the guiding principles for delivering the scheme be
updated?

37.

It should be taken as read that the existing strategic and spending objectives
for the project remain the driving force behind the project. The same applies to
the scheme’s environmental credentials. However, taking everything above into
account, the following are proposed as an updated set of principles and
associated actions for any onward delivery strategy for the WWD in relation to
the Council’s developer role:

Page 53

a.

Prudence and Assurance
i.
Meeting the tests of at least cost-neutrality over the life of the
project and managing cash-flow
ii.
Requiring third party commitment (funders and occupiers)
iii.
Basing decisions on up-to-date market appraisals and confirmed
public sector demand
iv.
Only tendering when there is high confidence that we have a
scheme we know we can afford to deliver
v.
Adopting a procurement approach which maximises cost-certainty
and collaboration (see Part D)
vi.
Implementing the other elements of the action plan for the 2020
external assurance review (see appendix 2)
vii.
Maintaining a robust project risk register and project governance
structure (see appendix 3 and 2019 FBC)

b.

Affordability
i. Maintaining momentum to avoid ‘pricing out’ the core public sector
elements through inflation or interest rate changes and/or missing
out on funding which has to be spent in short timescales
ii. Maximising value-engineering and ease of construction through
design
iii. Sharing the fixed costs of the scheme fairly across as many uses
as possible
iv. Ensuring that third parties can jointly invest in a scheme that
meets their requirements if they obtain funding

c.

Flexibility and Sustainability
i. Preserving as much as possible of the existing scale and scope of
the planning consent whatever the phasing model
ii. Retaining a flexible design model for re-using the existing frame
iii. Future-proofing the design for easy adaptation to clinical or other
secondary uses
iv. Always ensuring that the all of the NHS’ immediate and future
clinical requirements can be provided in the phase 1 design.
v. Ensuring the maximum contribution is made to the Council’s
carbon reduction objectives

Applying these new principles to the scheme’s design
38.

Firstly, these principles do confirm again that investing in a planning consent
for the maximum possible extent of the scheme was not only the correct
decision but also gives the Council and its partners the maximum range of
options going forward.

39.

Secondly, by testing design and value-engineering options against these
principles over the last year, the project team has already been able to identify
some potential changes to the final scheme that might improve viability and
flexibility within the existing planning consent, irrespective of whether the full
frame in retained in phase 1 or not. Where a variation to the current planning
consent might be required, these ideas have been discussed informally with the
Local Planning Authority (although nothing in this report presumes they would

Page 54

be agreed). Although it is not the primary purpose of this report to examine
design issues, these potential options can be briefly summarised as follows:
a. Partially reducing the frame
As mentioned earlier, reducing the size of the existing structure may
be needed because of the financial risk of having too much space in
phase 1. However, this could be re-instated at a later date, along
with the necessary parking capacity under the original consent.
b. Relocating the sports hall
A leisure centre extension to the existing frame will always be
required because of the swimming pool. However, as was pointed out
in the 2019 FBC, the depot frame offers ideal internal dimensions for
a sports hall and, with a reduction in likely demand for office space,
there is the opportunity to relocate this from the leisure centre
extension into the main frame and, as explained in appendix 1,
potentially extend it.
This approach is also a key part of retaining flexibility in any phasing
plan, insofar as the sports hall could always be put back in the
originally intended location if there was a significant increase in
demand for office or clinical space either before or after the build.
c. Commercial entrance and separation of the office space
There was always an understanding that, during working hours, parts
of the building would have controlled access for staff and tenants
only. However, the most recent advice from Carter Jonas confirms
that the marketability of the building to the widest range of potential
tenants in a post-Covid environment would be increased if, by way of
a minor amendment to the planning consent, a new commercial
entrance to the building was created at the Beetons Way (eastern)
end. Combined with any reduction of the frame in phase 1, this could
also offer a stronger Beetons Way frontage.
This approach would also assist in enabling the multi-activity
breakout space at the eastern end of the internal ‘Street’ to work as a
standalone public space out of normal office hours. This greater
separation of the two distinct elements of the building would, in any
event, be required by a fire strategy if clinical spaces were extended
across both sides of the Street. However, it should be noted that this
would not prevent controlled access between the two areas.
d. West Suffolk House
Like any office building, Covid-19 will affect how West Suffolk House
(WSH) is likely to be used in the future. The 2019 FBC for WWD
included a sum for some remodelling of WSH. However, what is now
proposed is that the future treatment of WSH is not addressed
through the WWD capital budget (and a timescale which is several
years away) but instead is treated as a standalone project brought
forward with the joint owners, Suffolk County Council, in the shorterterm. None of this precludes any later integration with the WWD.

Page 55

e. Link bridge and staff entrance
The planning consent allows for a link bridge at first floor level
between WSH and WWD to allow easy access for public sector staff
working across both sites. Some of the potential configurations make
this either impossible or unsuitable (not least if the frame is reduced
in size). Therefore it is likely that the bridge may be omitted from
phase 1 depending on the model chosen. The staff entrance may also
be relocated on a similar basis.
f. Parking provision
There is no suggestion that the Council as developer would seek to
reduce the maximum amount of parking it is allowed under the
planning consent (just under 1400 spaces). However, these spaces
will need to be delivered under a phasing plan which reflects the
actual occupation of the buildings over time. This phasing could have
a large bearing on overall cost and cashflow.
g. Mezzanine decks
The 2018 OBC put forward a model for a two-storey conversion of the
depot frame. The subsequent market appraisal of office demand and
requirements of the public sector for the planning consent required a
more intensive layout for the 2019 FBC. This led to a narrower
‘Street’ but also the creation of a mezzanine deck above the office
spaces and also the bridges spanning the atrium. This is an exciting
design option and may still be delivered in full or part.
However, the three storey/mezzanine option was a model intended to
create the maximum amount of office space within the fixed height of
the frame. It also allowed the Council to obtain planning consent for
the maximum possible occupancy of the building, providing the
greatest flexibility as a developer going forward (and also testing the
highways and parking capacity to the maximum extent). This was
therefore the right thing to do up to this point in the project, and in a
pre-Covid context. However, there are some crucial changes since
the FBC (in no ranked order of importance):






The mezzanine model envisaged occupiers taking larger
spaces, split across two floors. The latest market appraisal
indicates that the safest demand to target from commercial
tenants will be smaller units that will be harder to deliver using
the mezzanine design. Whereas office accommodation on one
upper floor only will be easier to sub-divide.
The mezzanine floor option requires a completely different
engineering approach within the building due to the extra
weight of the structure, and the space available for plant and
air-handling.
From a future-proofing perspective, the mezzanine precludes
clinical spaces being provided on the upper floors as the airhandling and privacy they need cannot be provided. This
means all of the clinical space has to be provided on the
ground floor and it would require the whole frame to deliver
the full long-term requirement. From a flexibility point of view,

Page 56



a two-storey design would therefore allow the NHS a far
greater range of immediate and long-term options.
Based on the post-COVID appraisal, having the mezzanines
could now potentially result in a large over-supply of
commercial office space in the scheme that may take many
years to let. The holding costs of this could be significant,
particularly if business rates were triggered on the spaces.

h. The ‘Street’
Removing the mezzanine decks could not be looked at in isolation, as
it would unbalance the efficiency of the building and, in particular, the
‘Street’. The Street is the central area of the hub building running
most of its length and pulling it together as an exciting and
interactive space. In the FBC design, the Street was a largely open
multi-activity space of over 2000m2 to be used for circulation,
waiting areas, event space, café and breakout areas, some toilets and
small standalone units of operational space. Other building services,
staff facilities, server rooms and storage were provided in the two
wings running either side of the Street.
If the mezzanines were removed, such an approach would make the
the Street unaffordable, as its build and running costs could not be
covered by the reduced lettable space.
Therefore an alternative approach which could be explored is to
divide up the Street with two or three freestanding two-storey units
containing ancillary and operational facilities, thereby releasing prime
lettable space elsewhere. These units might be described as ‘cubes’.
This would not diminish the functionality or animation of the Street,
or require any new planning application. The full-height atrium spaces
between these units would remain as exciting activity areas and
would, in fact, have greater functionality and income earning
potential because they would be easier to use while the building was
in normal day-time use; passing on either side would be a corridor
running the entire length of the building. In reality, this would not
feel hugely different to the current concept where the Street is
narrower in places and divided up by the bridges and/or closed off at
the ground floor at certain times of the day. There was therefore
rarely likely to be an operational scenario where the Street was either
visible or used for a single activity in its full length.
To illustrate the concept, a very early impression of how the eastern
end of the Hub might look in a two-storey/cube format is shown at
the end of this section of the report. This is a view looking back down
the Street from the eastern (Beetons Way) end of the hub building.
This could be the office and skills section of the building and it can be
seen that the flexible multi-activity space in the Street is retained for
use by building occupiers and the community.

Page 57

Maintaining Flexibility
40.

If it is not possible to deliver the full scheme in phase 1, it will be essential to
ensure that the maximum flexibility is retained going forward, at all phases of
the project. But in a way that does not compromise the tendering and contract
management of the build as this could lead to abortive costs and/or expensive
variations to the contract sum.

41.

In very brief summary, the phasing and/or variations strategy after a phase 1
scheme had been finalised would therefore need to be as follows:
a.

Changes during tendering – if a partner wished to change their
specification during either stage of the two-stage tendering
process they would need to meet the cost to the Council in full of
any re-design and re-tendering.

b.

Changes during build - as with (a), the additional cost would
need to be met in full by any partner requiring the change.

c.

Changes after completion of phase 1 – this would need to be
treated as a completely separate and later project, requiring its
own new business case (to be approved under the relevant
provisions of the Council’s constitution).

Page 58

Page 59

D. Commercial Case
Procurement
1.

It was identified in the Final Business Case (FBC) that the Pagabo Framework
would offer the Council an excellent route to market for the project, and that
evaluation is not repeated here. The Framework has been renewed since 2019 and
there are now six national contractors with three reserves on the major projects
list.

2.

Informal engagement events were held with the framework contractors in autumn
2020 and spring 2021 and there remains considerable interest in the project from
the market. The Council will seek to receive a minimum of three bids.

3.

Part of the 2020 engagement involved a questionnaire to prospective contractors
to explore methods of procurement, contractor involvement in design and initial
observations on the project itself. The latter has helped shape the updated project
risk register at appendix 3.

4.

At the time of the FBC, the thinking was to use the Institute of Civil Engineers’ New
Engineering Contract (NEC) Option C for the project. Option C is a contract which
is subject to a pain/gain share mechanism by reference to an agreed target cost
built up from an activity schedule. A target cost contract of this type introduces a
mechanism enabling the contractor to share in the benefits of cost savings, but
also to bear some of the cost when there are cost overruns.

5.

The action plan for the external assurance review suggested this was kept under
review, and it has been re-evaluated to reflect the impact of COVID-19 on the
project and the Council’s finances. As a result, and following consultation with the
Council’s consultants and potential contractors, the current thinking is that cost
certainty is even more important than ever. As such, it would be better to revert to
using a more conventional ‘design and build’ NEC Option A contract, but via a
hybrid two-stage procurement exercise.

6.

Option A is a priced contract with an activity schedule, which relates to
a programme where each activity is allocated a price and interim payments are
made against the completion of each activity. The contractor largely bears
the risk of carrying out the work at the agreed prices. This means the client has
greater cost certainty in respect of matters over which the contractor has control.
However, it does mean that the client needs to have a very well-defined
specification at the time of the final contract agreement.

7.

The hybrid two-stage approach to procurement proposed is well understood by the
Pagabo contractors. It is designed to further increase cost certainty by establishing
certain costs at stage one, as well as engaging the contractor early on in the
design process. Under this approach, bidders would be assessed at stage one on
the basis of:




A quality submission (still a very high proportion of the overall score, most
likely 70 percent)
Overhead and Profit Percentage
Preliminaries

Page 60




Pre-Construction Services Agreement (PCSA) Fee
Costs for certain build elements such as externals, stripping back to core, etc.

8.

The previous preference for NEC Option C, and for a risk and reward mechanism,
was not because of any expectation of reward but because the Council wanted to
manage risk, and incentivise collaboration and cost control. The market clearly has
an overall preference for bidding under form A (which is important to ensure
competitiveness) and believes this offers the client more certainty on risk and cost.
There is also the potential advantage of this being an easier and cheaper form of
contract to administer; some contractors have made the specific observation that
the collaborative approach of Option C may be more complex when there are
multiple partners in a project, as there would be under the WWD.

9.

However, if the Council takes the NEC Option A route it will need to ensure:

10.

a.

early contractor involvement, with a sufficient and properly resourced (on
both sides) preconstruction period under a formal Pre-Construction Services
Agreement (PCSA). PCSAs enable clients to employ contractors before the
main construction contract commences. Typically they are part of a twostage tender process, used in the first stage to procure contractor
involvement in the design process;

b.

that post contract variations are kept to an absolute minimum i.e. the Works
Information (drawings, specifications, and other documents) must be in a
complete state, with the employer certain of its requirements before tender
(or properly indemnified by partners if they wish to change their
requirements later);

c.

an Option A Activity Schedule is developed in detail during the second stage
tender to: ensure all elements are identified as the design progresses; allow
the allocation of costs to activities; and understand cash flow for both
employer and contractor;

d.

it is combined with a realistic risk understanding and apportionment
between the employer and contractor at stage one (with investment as
needed to clarify these risks).

This approach will mean that the Council will not seek to tender until there is as
much certainty on risk and client requirements as possible. Along similar lines, it is
also crucial not to start tendering until there is absolute certainty on funding; once
the tendering process starts if there were a delay to allow funding to catch up it
would result in costs to the developer.

Design services
11.

Pick Everard have worked on the project since its inception and it is proposed to
continue their involvement through to the point at which they can be novated to
the main contractor under a design and build contract. This was also the universal
preference of the Pagabo framework contractors. After this point, the Council will
need to continue to engage technical advisers during the construction period
(including a leisure specialist).

Page 61

12.

Design appointments would be based on the Royal Institute of British Architects
(RIBA) Standard conditions of appointment. In addition to the architect and other
normal design disciplines, a core project team will be needed comprising: Project
Manager; Cost Consultant; and Contract Administrator. To maintain pace on the
project and obtain good value for money, it is still proposed that the appointment
of these consultants should be commissioned under an available framework. The
cost plan in this report includes these professional fees and is based on standard
industry norms. However, experience on this and other projects suggests that the
Council should be able to negotiate better value than these rates and/or obtain
price certainty through a cap on fees.

Other professional services
13.

In addition to the above:





Further specialist advice will be needed on matters such as highways, ecology,
renewables, etc.
Property and valuation services will be needed, including marketing of
commercial spaces and work to develop leases.
Legal services will be needed in relation to: due diligence work; finalising any
construction related contracts/appointment documentation and associated
warranties; transfers of assets, etc.
A clerk of works may need to be employed.

Specialist advice will also be needed in relation to the leisure centre.
14.

An allowance for further external advice is included in the cost plan, and there is
also provision for the Council’s own internal staff costs. A project of this magnitude
is still likely to require the equivalent of one FTE in terms of senior officer time.

Separate projects and packages
15.

As explained in the FBC, there is a clear advantage of offering all of the works on
the main site under a single contract to minimise duplication of site management
overheads. However, there may be scope to offer some parts of the project as
separate packages.

16.

This already applies to the pre-school and student accommodation elements of the
original project as these would need to be taken forward as separate projects in
their own right, with separate planning applications. If this is the case, then they
will have their own business cases proposing approaches to procurement and
professional support. They may well suit small to medium-sized contractors or
specialist providers.

17.

The package to build the athletics pavilion could also benefit from being offered to
a smaller or specialist builder. Similarly, if it is needed in phase 1, it is also
possible that the contract for converting the Beetons Way (north) car park could be
offered as a separate package to a smaller contractor.

18.

The Council will also work with Suffolk County Council to determine the best way to
procure the necessary highway works off-site, as there may be scope to combine
these with other planned programmes and external funding bids.

Page 62

E. Financial Case
N.B. A more detailed review of the business case for the leisure centre is contained in
appendix 1.

Review of Capital and Revenue Position
1.

In the 2019 FBC, and on the basis of projected public sector and commercial demand
for space at that time, the WWD Hub was shown to be capable of a whole-life breakeven position if fully occupied. However, this was on the basis of external cash-flow
support in the short-term as some of the space would be built as shell-and-core and
take some years to fill up. At the time of writing this report, while national and
regional bodies are supportive of the scheme, they do not currently have capital or
revenue funding they can offer. Furthermore, as explained earlier in this review,
COVID-19 and other factors have had an impact on WWD since 2019. Therefore, the
project must be re-evaluated against the 2021 situation and on the basis of the
Council being the sole funder from this point onwards.

2.

Reflecting the new approach set out in the earlier part of this report, and the action
plan for the external assurance review, the project team has therefore compared
alternatives to the scheme which received planning consent6.

3.

Depending on which of the potential phasing options or design changes highlighted in
the previous sections of this review are adopted, the latest top-level projections for
the capital cost of building the scheme range between £91.3 million and £132.44
million including the Council’s own internal costs such as site acquisition. This is within
the limit of £139.9 million set in the 2019 FBC. The range in capital cost is largely
driven by the amount of floorspace needed for the phase 1 scheme (up to and
including the full FBC scheme).

4.

More certainty on capital costs will not come until a phase 1 scheme is designed in
more detail and market-tested. However, what can already be seen at this point, as
explained in appendix 1, is the need to create more flexibility in how the £139.9
million upper limit on capital spending is split between the hub and leisure elements.
This is because the two facilities now overlap more and there is scope to increase the
size of the new leisure centre.

5.

While greater clarity on capital costs will be needed before any contract is signed,
what is more crucial to making the decision to proceed to tendering is understanding
what the Council can afford to borrow if it is to meet the ‘break-even’ test set in 2019.
As explained, this appraisal needs to be made in the worst-case scenario of the
Council receiving no third-party funding for the scheme. The key to understanding the
viability of the phase 1 scheme is therefore knowing:

As agreed in the FBC, the pre-school and student accommodation elements are
separate projects and will require their own business cases (and leadership and
funding by other partners
6

Page 63

a. how much space could be assumed to be lettable in a post-COVID environment
(see Part C of this review) and in a worst-case scenario (hence using minimum
estimates of demand)
b. what income those rented spaces might generate at either market rates or
using public sector cost recovery models; and
c. what other costs, such as the travel plan, the landlord might need to budget to
meet in any scheme.
6.

A net revenue projection based on these three variables can then be used to identify
the level of borrowing that could be supported. This then becomes the available
budget that will determine the scale of the phase 1 scheme.

7.

There is, however, a further dimension. Insofar as the manner in which the Council
borrows the money will have a significant bearing on the budget i.e. rate of interest,
length of term, fixed rate or not, etc. This sensitivity can be seen in the later figures
in this section. This is why the inability to fix borrowing costs while interest rates are
low is such a large risk to the project. Similarly, this is why it is important that public
sector partners commit to long leases because this provide the assurance for lengthier
borrowing periods such as 40 years.

8.

At the point borrowing is needed, the Director (Resources and Property) will select the
most advantageous method in accordance with the Council’s agreed Treasury
Management Strategy and rules. But, for the purposes of this review, borrowing is
assumed to come from the Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), using the annuity
method of borrowing over a period of 40 years.

9.

PWLB interest rates are linked to UK Gilt rates and as such change on a daily basis,
however they are currently sitting at around 2.15 percent for 40 year borrowing
(taking into account the Certainty Rate discount available to councils like West
Suffolk). In order to have a contingency within the borrowing costs against any
potential interest rate rises, the interest rates used as part of this review range
between 2.25 percent to 2.50 percent.

10. Alternative borrowing methods will continue to be explored during the next stage of
the project, and these will be communicated to councillors separately through the
normal treasury management processes alongside the rest of the Council’s capital
programme.
11. Under these assumptions about borrowing, and strictly for illustrative purposes only,
if we take the current estimate of minimum demand explained in Part C of this
review, the following is a summary of the likely borrowing that could be supported.
This uses expected market rents for office areas and a notional cost recovery rent for
clinical areas when fully occupied. It also includes income that could be expected
from renewables and car parking for a phase 1 scheme which is scaled for this level of
demand, and additional income linked to catering and meeting/event hire. A
sensitivity analysis would be applied to any models in the next stages (see ‘gateways’
below).

Page 64

Sq
Estimated Income
metres after three years
(fully occupied) (£)
Clinical

3,250

875,000

Public Sector Office/Advice

2,500

538,000

Commercial Office

2,000

430,500

Car Parking7

n/a

100,000

Renewable energy savings

n/a

550,000

Other Income (catering, room hire, etc)

n/a

64,000

Net Impact of Leisure Centre (see appendix 1)8
Less Landlord Costs

1,196,500
n/a

Total Net Income

-250,000
3,504,000

Capital Costs Affordable
(reflecting sensitivity of interest rates)

£89m - £93m

12. So, it can be seen, if public or private sector demand was to be confirmed at this level
before tendering commenced, the Council would need to set its design team and any
contractors a target of between £89 million to £93 million. And if demand was
confirmed to be higher or lower, the budget would increase or decrease accordingly,
up to the level original agreed in the 2019 FBC and planning consent.
13. Pick Everard have already started work on a new cost plan to help to assess whether
such a level of demand could support a break-even scheme. While some of this work
would need to be deferred until there is a firm phase 1 scheme in order to avoid
abortive costs, there is still confidence regarding the likely cost of the leisure centre
extension because it has changed very little since the FBC. For the external elements
of the scheme (car parking, highways, landscaped areas, etc) it is already possible to
be fairly accurate because these are determined by the footprint of the phase 1
scheme within the site and/or likely levels of occupation.
Some of the net car parking income is incorporated in the rental estimates as it
will be an inclusive package. The remainder shown here will be from direct parking
charges. All parking will be subject to the travel plan requirements in the planning
consent.
7

For the leisure centre, the Council is already making provision to fund a deficit
of £720k as there is no ‘do nothing’ option. There is also an annual benefit of
£476k from the new centre (see appendix 1). So adding the two together
indicates what level of borrowing can be supported.
8

Page 65

14. However, pending any re-design and the ability to measure and price the actual phase
1 scheme, the Council will need to use proxy figures for the construction cost of the
new hub building. This would be a notional rate which references available
benchmarks where they exist (including the original FBC scheme for the hub), but
also takes into account the potential impact of identified value engineering options
(including those listed in Part C of this review) on the most recent cost plan. In effect,
this is the rate the Council will need to target to demonstrate it is still achieving best
value from the scheme. Another important clarification is that, in the final scheme,
the costs per square metre of the leisure and hub elements may need to be adjusted
to reflect how the final energy centre is apportioned – at present this is included
entirely in the hub figures, albeit the bottom line for the overall scheme is the same.
15. On this basis, and to inform the preparation of this report, the design team has
carried out a floorspace planning exercise to identify the most efficient internal
layouts for various phased schemes. Staying within the framework of the existing
planning consent. This has included engagement with health partners on their clinical
requirements and other partners to understand what elements work best next to each
other and what they can share.
16. There are multiple options, and one will not be selected until the next stage of the
project when demand is confirmed by partners. However, among the range of options
tested, there is one that matches the estimated minimum level of demand set out
above, subject to small adjustments between office and health elements9. This model
also reflects the size of the leisure centre discussed in appendix 1. Therefore, while it
is unlikely to be the final scheme, it can be used now as a proxy for testing viability.
The target cost, including all overheads, inflation and contingency, can be
summarised as follows.

£
Main Hub direct cost (not including leisure elements)
Leisure Centre direct cost
External Works
Professional Fees
Risk Allowance
Inflation Allowance
Internal Costs incl site acquisition
Overall cost
5% reduction in total project cost
5% increase in total project cost

30,582,000
21,143,500
11,761,500
5,676,000
6,324,000
5,908,000
9,880,000
91,275,000
86,711,500
95,839,000

In this model, there is 7230m2 of space in the hub allocated to clinical and offices
compared to 7750m2 in the minimum demand estimate in this report. However,
it would be fairly simple to adjust the size of the frame to accommodate an extra
400-500m2 because each span between the existing steel columns is around 6m).
This extra cost could be traded off against any value engineering savings which
would be sought in the next stage.
9

Page 66

17. In the 2019 FBC, a cashflow projection was also shown over 40 years, and for
illustrative purposes, it is possible to repeat this for the notional capital and revenue
implications used in this report.

Annual Revenue Implications
18. The below table shows the estimated annual revenue implications of the scheme
based on initial assumptions of income levels and annual costs, along with the total
annual borrowing costs. There are two positions modelled based on the range of
assumed interest rates of 2.25 percent to 2.50 percent. This is to show the initial
revenue position of the scheme once fully let out post construction. Due to the way
borrowing would be structured, and other factors such as inflation and likely vacancy
rates in the early years of the scheme, this is only part of the picture. The impact on
the Council’s Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS) is therefore shown in the cash
flow profiling below.
N.B. To allow comparison with the FBC, the financials relating to the leisure centre are
not included in these figures as they are explored in more detail in Appendix 1.
However, were they to be added, the bottom-line figures would be almost exactly the
same.
Annual Revenue Implications
Annual Income
Annual Expenditure before Borrowing Costs
Borrowing Costs at 2.50%
Surplus / (Deficit) after Borrowing Costs

£
2,557,500
-250,000
-2,394,500
(87,000)

Annual Income
Annual Expenditure before Borrowing Costs
Borrowing Costs at 2.25%
Surplus / (Deficit) after Borrowing Costs

2,557,500
-250,000
-2,294,880
12,620

19. Based on this range, it is therefore considered that, with the further mitigation listed
later, it is feasible to achieve a cost neutral position.

Cash Flow Forecast
20. For the purposes of assessing the impact of this scheme on the Council’s MTFS and
beyond, a more detailed analysis of the revenue expectations has been carried out
and put into a cash flow forecast.
21. This cash flow forecast includes pessimistic assumptions around void or rent-free
periods10, inflationary increases in both rent and cost, phasing of capital spend and

A rent-free period may reflect the tenant’s own investment in the property e.g.
a refit.
10

Page 67

the capitalisation of borrowing costs during the construction phase of the project.
Details of these assumptions can be seen with the cash flow graph below.

Assumptions and Notes:
a. Borrowing repayments start straight away with interest repayments capitalised
during construction period.
b. Minimum Revenue Provision starts in financial year after construction completion
for 40 years.
c.
Rental income for all elements barring commercial office starts from day one.
d. Commercial office rent phased over three years.
e.
Lease term of 30 years for health partners, with three year void or rent-free
period after completion of lease/to coincide with major refit (N.B. longer periods
are actually being discussed as this will assist the Council’s due diligence)
f.
Lease term for other public sector partners between 10 to 30 years, with one
year void period after completion of lease.
g. Lease term for commercial offices of five years, with one year void or rent-free
period after completion of each lease.
h. Inflation rate of 1.00 percent applied to income levels and annual expenditure.
i.
Borrowing costs can be fixed and will stay the same for the life of the loan.
j.
Rental income increased by inflation after five year rent reviews for each lease.
k.
Annual expenditure costs increase by inflation year on year.
l.
Borrowing costs based on 40 year borrowing, using the annuity method at an
interest rate of 2.50 percent.
m. Years 1 to 3 in the graph relate to the construction period, and show a nil effect
on cash flow as construction costs will be offset by loan financing, and any
interest costs will also be capitalised into the project.
n. Year 4 to 6 show small deficits as we have modelled the commercial office space
being filled over a three year period. We will be actively looking for commercial
tenants to fill the space as quickly as possible to mitigate these costs as much as

Page 68

possible. However, taking into account the advice from Carter Jonas, it is
prudent to use the assumptions we currently have. Clearly, though, it would be
open to the Council to reappraise the initial rent levels to incentivise occupation
22. The cash flow forecast above shows that, over the course of the whole project, it
could potentially generate a total surplus of up to £11.5 million (on a non-discounted
cash flow basis and allowing for the worst-case scenarios of voids aligned to rental
periods, which account for the short-term deficits). However, this is obviously a
forecast based on the illustrative phase 1 scheme and would need to be kept under
review, and discussed with public sector partners under One Public Estate principles.

Further mitigation
23. Clearly, the Council and partners would want to see the capital cost as low as possible
and, at worst, matching any available industry benchmarks for cost per m2 in specific
areas11. As such, it would continue to seek the following mitigation to the costs of the
scheme, in addition to seeking to generate more revenue from rentals and other
income:
a.

Continued Value Engineering
Significant work has already been undertaken to improve the efficiency of the
capital project, and this needs to continue in the detailed design stages,
including through early engagement of contractors and their supply chains
(who can assist on ‘buildability’). A developed design and specification will also
assist in attracting accurate as well as competitive bids from contractors.

b.

External funding
As explained in the FBC, the full employment and skills potential of the scheme
was only ever likely to be realised if the Council could attract external funding.
While no funding has yet been available to access, discussions will continue
with regional and national funders and any new potential sources of funding will
be explored. External funding for the fixed overheads of the site, such as
highways costs, would be particularly beneficial, and the councils have been
actively exploring this. Until any funding is obtained, the Council will continue
to model the viability of the project on the assumption there is none, to ensure
that optimism bias does not influence key decisions.

c.

Additional renewable energy income
The model already includes significant income from renewable energy based on
actual rates of return from previous projects. But this is something that can be
explored further to ensure it is being maximised, including local energy
networks with partners. New ways of managing the heat and power in the
scheme more efficiently could also contribute to this source of revenue. It is
also worth noting that some of the capital cost of the project has already been
reduced to reflect the Council’s success in attracting a government
decarbonisation grant which is being used to install a new battery at the
Western Way site that will serve West Suffolk House immediately and WWD
when it comes online.

11

There is no single benchmark for a multi-use hub building at present.

Page 69

Review of financial tests and safeguards
24. The financial tests and safeguards approved at the time of the 2019 FBC are set out
in Part B of this review. However, a summary of their current status is as follows:
Requirement

Status

Notes

External Assurance Review Complete

Cabinet January 2020 –
see appendix

Partner sign-up

Either agreed in principle
or achieved for major
partners.

On track

Phase 1 scheme adjusted Achievable
to meet original objectives

Continually evolving as
needs change. Will be
fixed at time phase 1
scheme is tendered.

Capital expenditure
capped at £112m for new
hub and £27.9m for
leisure centre

Achievable subject to
See separate text below
adjustment of limits for
specific elements

Hub capable of at least a
break-even position over
the whole life of the
project

Achievable

See report on latest
viability. This is implicit
insofar as we will not
proceed with a scheme
which does not.

Cash flow risk being
managed

Achievable

Risk reduced by smaller
scheme

Best funding method for
the project is identified,
including third-party
investors if required

Still met

Continually under review,
and option for exploring
third-party investors still
exists

25. With two exceptions, these tests are still sufficiently robust and do not need to
change. Those exceptions would be to:
1. remove the existing £27.9 million cap on the leisure centre expenditure
provided that, as a replacement safeguard, at the time of a construction
contract being agreed the leisure centre business case still at least breaks even
as a normal asset management decision (as explained in appendix 1). The Hub
is already required to break even as an investment decision; and
2. require partners requiring more than 200m212 of exclusive floorspace to agree
heads of terms and enter into formal pre-letting agreements at certain project
gateways (see below).

This will retain flexibility to work with partners who only require a small amount
of complementary space.
12

Page 70

26. As a further safeguard, it was previously agreed in January 2020 that Cabinet would
need to sign-off any final award of contract after tendering. Such a Cabinet decision
would be subject to normal call-in rules.

Project Costs and Cashflow
27. The final cost plan will include the Council’s costs as developer in addition to what it
will pay any contractor to build the facilities and other overheads such as s106
contributions for highways. An assessment of these costs, using industry benchmarks
for design fees, project management and cost consultancy and allowing for other
internal costs such as additional staff costs, is already included in the indicative
capital cost earlier in this section of the review.
28. However, the way in which these costs are phased and managed will have a large
bearing on the scheme’s cashflow impact and the risk of abortive costs. Therefore, it
is proposed to break the pre-contract stages of the project, and the associated costs,
into a series of mini-gateways. These will ensure that the project will only be
committed to the next round of expenditure when it is certain that the financial tests
can still be met. Partners will also need to have met certain requirements at each
stage. The gateways can be summarised as follows:
Design

Procurement

Partner-sign up

Gateway 1 RIBA Stage 2 Expression of interest
Confirm phase 1 requirements
equivalent
and invitation to tender and agree to underwrite
(concept)
abortive costs from this stage
Gateway 2 RIBA Stage 3 First stage tender and
equivalent
enter into Pre(developed)
construction Services
Agreement

Agree heads of terms

Gateway 3 RIBA Stage
Review employer’s
4A equivalent requirement and cost
(technical)
plan with first stage
contractor
Gateway 4 RIBA Stage 4 Contractor produces
equivalent
Second Stage Tender
(technical)
submission for review
Gateway 5 RIBA Stage 5 Appoint Contractor to
equivalent
construct facility
(construction) (Cabinet approval
required)

Enter into formal pre-let
agreement

29. Officers will sign-off gateways 1 to 4 under their existing delegated powers in
consultation with the relevant Cabinet members. If the tests cannot be met at any
stage, the project will, by definition, need to be referred back to councillors under
normal constitutional rules. Gateway 5 is already required to be signed-off by Cabinet
following the earlier external assurance review.

Page 71

30. The costs associated with each gateway will depend to a large extent on the scope of
the final phase 1 scheme but they are likely to cost up to £5.7 million. The cost to get
through gateway 1 is likely to be up to £650,000. Although this amount forms part of
the overall agreed capital budget allocation for the project, given we are still at the
design and pre head of terms stage, this project amount will to be underwritten by
existing revenue reserves and balances. This approach is designed to manage the
revenue impact of potential abortive costs, should the project not proceed beyond
gateway 1. At each Gateway stage the risk of abortive costs will be assessed and if
necessary, existing reserves and balances will continue to be used to underwrite the
revenue risk.
31. For illustrative purposes, these sums are included in the notional cost plan set out
above, and the likely phasing reflected in the notional cashflow.
32. These gateways are also important to partners, particularly the NHS, because they
will be required to meet any abortive costs (pro-rata) if they significantly change their
requirement after the Council has started work on the agreed phase 1 scheme.

Conclusion
33. What can be seen clearly is that, if the scheme is to proceed with any of the ‘full
frame’ options, then external funding will be required in some form. If this cannot be
obtained before phase 1 starts, then a smaller phase 1 scheme built around known
public sector demand which can be funded under normal asset management
principles will be needed. However, current modelling of demand and costs suggests
this is likely to be possible subject to updated project safeguards.

Page 72

F. Management Case
N.B. This section of the 2019 Final Business Case (FBC) covered other matters
such as internal project governance and risk and these are not changed.

Review of Programme and Phasing
1.

The 2019 FBC set out a construction programme based on an assumed start date
in Spring 2020 with occupation by mid-2023. This has been kept under review
since that time by the project team and also through testing the FBC scheme
informally with the framework contractors. Speed of programme will be a
component of the evaluation of tenders.

2.

Clearly, the choice of option for phase 1 will have some bearing on programme
length, and there may also be ways to accelerate the start on site (by carrying out
some remediation independently of the contractor) or build programme (for
instance, phased handover). Adopting a two-storey option could, for instance, save
two months of construction.

3.

However, generally speaking, what is envisaged is a full programme of around 256
weeks (just under five years) from the point at which the project moves into the
stage of preparing a tender pack, with key milestones of:





Sign-off of contractor appointment by Cabinet: Week 85
Construction begins: Week 89
Completion of hub and leisure centre: Week 218
Making good of existing leisure centre site: Week 256

4.

Based on the above, if phase 1 can be signed off to proceed in summer 2021,
occupation of the new hub and leisure centre could be anticipated towards the end
of 2024 to 2025. This means the impact of Covid-19 to date has been a delay of
around 12 to 15 months.

5.

A key phasing issue will also be managing occupation levels to suit car parking
availability (since some car parking is the final element to be delivered).
Specifically, if phase 1 has to be occupied more quickly than currently envisaged
then some temporary parking solutions (or phased moves) may be needed for a
few months to manage the lag in the former leisure centre site being available
while the old centre is demolished. However, based on current assumptions about
how long commercial office space may take to fill up, this should be possible to
manage.

Page 73

G. Next Steps and Recommendations
1.

As at earlier stages, the next steps for the project need to strike the necessary
balance between:





ensuring a return on the investment in the project to date;
maintaining the necessary flexibility and pace to the project to mitigate
certain risks;
allowing the Council to confidently seek partner sign-up and external
funding; and
ensuring that the Council does not expose its taxpayers to unnecessary
financial risks.

2.

For that reason, the recommendations in this report suggest a balanced approach
between maintaining pace and protecting the taxpayers’ interests.

3.

Engagement with partners will also need to continue. As well as public sector
partners and funders, there will be a need to engage site neighbours, the
skatepark users, Sport England and the national governing bodies for specific
sports. In respect of the latter, a positive follow-up meeting has been held with
Sport England and England Athletics to discuss the implications and opportunities
of the project for the track. England Athletics have offered to represent the
athletics clubs and users in the project, and this model of liaising through the
national bodies is also proposed for other sports such as swimming.

4.

Although formal marketing of the site would not take place until it was under
construction, further work will also take place by the Council’s Growth Team to
identify the opportunities for the skills and employment elements of the scheme.
As well as working with the LEPs, this work will engage education partners. Before
marketing begins, a name for the scheme will be needed because WWD only
describes the project not the outcome.

5.

Also, as explained in the OBC and FBC, there is always the worst-case fall-back
position of disposing of the site which will be easier with the benefit of the planning
consent now obtained.

6.

As agreed in January 2020, Cabinet will approve the final appointment of a
contractor.

7.

It is therefore recommended that:
1.

this review and update of the business case for the Western Way
Development (WWD), Bury St Edmunds and, as part of that wider scheme,
the replacement of the Bury St Edmunds Leisure Centre, be approved so
that Cabinet and officers can continue to deliver the project on the basis set
out in the approved outline and final business cases, the external assurance
review, this review and the Council’s Constitution;

2.

the existing financial provisions, safeguards and financial tests for delivery of
the project agreed by Council on 19 September 2019, and clarified through
the action plan of the external assurance review approved by Cabinet on 14
January 2020, be reaffirmed subject to:

Page 74

a.

it being noted that that the project may now need to be delivered in
phases if required;

b.

the £27.9 million capital expenditure limit for the replacement of the
leisure centre being replaced by a new condition that this element of
the scheme is capable of achieving at least a break-even position as
defined in appendix 1 to this review document;

c.

public sector partners seeking more than 200 square metres of
exclusive floorspace also being required to agree heads of terms and
formal pre-let agreement at the project gateways defined in Part E of
this review; and

d.

the revised timescales outlined in this review.

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Final Business Case: Update June 2021
Western Way Development

Appendix 1 – Leisure Provision

June 2021

Page 77

Contents
A.

Executive Summary

B.

Strategic Case

C.

Economic Case

D.

Commercial Case

E.

Financial Case

F.

Management Case

Page 78

A.

Executive Summary

1.

The Western Way proposals would create an exciting new public and
business offer for Bury St Edmunds and surrounding villages. The
opportunity to build a new Leisure Centre and enhance the skatepark as part
of that, to provide a 21st century leisure offer, integrated with health
services for the people of Bury St Edmunds and surrounding area is a
fantastic prospect.

A.1.1

This final business case for a replacement leisure centre and enhancement of
the skatepark updates the full business case approved in September 2019
and sets out the case for investment to incorporate a replacement leisure
centre as part of the Western Way development (WWD). It should be read in
conjunction with the studies that accompanied that report. Since approval of
the business case, the following work has been undertaken to develop the
case further:
 Updated the design to move part of the leisure centre into the frame
creating the space for a new two-court multi-use hall adjacent to the
main four-court hall
 Moved the leisure café to link better to the public plaza
 Looked at options for the pool hall to address construction and cost
challenges, in consultation with Swim England, and moved spectator
seating poolside
 Updated the flexible studio/multi use space to ensure that it can
respond to market changes and new trends and updated the
accommodation schedule for main WWD facility to inform revised
budget projections
 Reviewed the projections linked to the environmental performance of
the facility to ensure they remain achievable as well as considering how
this can form part of the Council’s broader approach to this area
 Updated capital costs and revenue predictions to reflect design
changes.

A.1.2

This business case provides the opportunity, benefit and cost information for
a new leisure centre for Bury St Edmunds, replacing the existing ageing
facility and should be considered alongside the wider strategic vision and
business case for the whole development. It includes a comparison with the
costs and implications of not building a new leisure centre now, but
maintaining and refurbishing the existing leisure centre, effectively deferring
the need for replacement by 20 years. It concludes that whilst in the short
term the capital cost of providing a new leisure centre now is higher, in the
longer term there is actually likely to be a lower (circa £18 million), overall
capital requirement even if a full refurbishment of this new facility is
accounted for in 20 to 30 years’ time. The breakeven proposition is that a
new build now will cost no more than refurbishment of the current centre
with a rebuild deferred for 20 years.

Page 79

A.1.3

The business case also includes a proposal to develop and extend the skatepark, so it will be a key feature within the landscape scheme of the new
development and will enable the necessary highways improvements. And a
new athletics pavilion will be provided to serve the users of the athletics
track.

A.1.4

Clearly Covid.19 has had a huge impact on the leisure sector and the nature
of the leisure centre offer has had to change to accommodate social
distancing and respond to users’ nervousness about using public facilities. At
the time of updating this business case, centres have just reopened, and the
offer will evolve as social distancing rules are updated. At the same time, the
importance of health and wellbeing has never been so prominent. It is
important to remember that these facilities would not come into use until
2024, by which time the world will look very different again. We can assume
that there will no longer be a need to socially distance, and that confidence
in attending places to exercise will have returned. Indeed, we may be in a
position where there is an even greater awareness of the importance of
physical health and there is a resurgence in attendance at centres.

A.1.5.

West Suffolk’s Strategic Plan includes a priority of “Resilient families and
communities that are healthy and active”. The Council is committed to using
its community, leisure, open space, and heritage assets to support wellbeing
and education and create behavioural change as further detailed in the
“Promoting Physical Activity Framework”1. This business case shows how this
development will deliver benefits which will meet the objectives in the
Framework including:





A.1.6

Social and community
Economic
Personal experience
Health and wellbeing

The Western Way development provides an opportunity to provide a
replacement leisure centre in a multi-functional space enabling co-location
with key public sector partners including health. By re-visioning how public
services can work together and interact with communities we have an
opportunity to offer benefits both to residents of West Suffolk and partners
on the site ranging from shared/reduced building and facilities maintenance
costs through to opportunities to create referrals routes and to enhance
customer journeys. This will be particularly beneficial as the social
prescribing approach is developed further across the District.2

Indoor Facilities and Playing Pitch Strategy delivered by 4Global on behalf of
West Suffolk Councils.
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/leisure/Sport_and_Healthy_Living/activity/physi
calactivitywssportsfacilitiesassessment.cfm
1

2

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/community/lifelink

Page 80

A.1.7

The existing Bury Leisure Centre is located at the end of Beeton’s Way and is
now 46 years old. The building has been refurbished twice in its lifetime due
to two fires and therefore the fabric of building itself is generally in good
condition, although facilities are becoming dated. Further, there are practical
issues such as the age of the plant that means that reactive and planned
maintenance costs are increasing and will continue to do so, and the energy
efficiency of the building is a challenge.

A.1.8

There have also been developments in terms of leisure demand and
customer expectations which mean that the current centre layout could be
improved including:
 The position of the entrance in relation to the car park
 Ease of access
 Facilities spread over three floors
 Standard of sport/leisure facilities
 Mix of facilities/leisure offer

A.1.9

Since approval of the Full Business Case in 2019, the design team have
developed the outline plans and further design work on the leisure element
has focussed on creating as much flexible space as possible that can respond
to changes in demand and trends in the leisure sector providing areas
appealing to multiple groups of users. The new centre will offer the following
unique selling points within the West Suffolk Leisure Portfolio of:
 Swimming – Family Fun
• Health and Wellbeing
• Adaptable Agile Space for any function
• 21st Century leisure centre – incorporating technology into the leisure
experience.

A.1.10

The proposed facility mix is as follows:
 A range of swimming experiences, with a main swimming pool of at
least 6-lane 25 metre complemented by a separate learners’ pool
with moveable floor. (The final mix will be informed by the 2021 West
Suffolk facilities assessment).
 A destination fun pool will include an internal splash park with slides,
jets, water cannons, flume and splash pool
 Spectator seating for 150 people adjacent to the main pool
 A leisure café
 Extensive Health and Fitness suite to accommodate a broad range of
fitness equipment with capacity for up to 150 stations
 5 Flexible studios and multi-use space to accommodate fitness classes
and other activities
 Treatment/consultation rooms will offer a range of services and
create opportunities for integration and collaboration with the adjacent
health organisations
 A four-court sports hall will cater for a range of indoor sports and
activities while providing flexibility and accessibility for public events. If
the town’s needs change in the future, it will be possible to extend the
sports hall within the site

Page 81

 An adjacent two-court sports hall, to be a multi-use space, but one
that can be opened up to the four-court hall creating a 6-court
competition space
 Ample wet change, dry change, shower, and toilet facilities
 Improved Skatepark with a wider range of features that will wrap
around the north-west corner of the new leisure centre - benefiting from
new lighting and outside toilet facilities
 New Athletics Pavilion, providing changing rooms, storage, club room
and toilets for the users of the athletics track.
A.1.11

The proposal for the leisure centre has been developed on the basis of
providing the optimum capacity and potential for a facility mix having regard
to the leisure market, catchment area and future population growth,
activities to encourage physical activity and facilities in the wider area as
well as consultation feedback. It has also been designed to create a flexible
space that can be used differently in the future in response to changing
leisure trends. The final mix, including the swimming provision, will be
finalised when the updated Sports Facilities Assessment and Action Plan has
been completed by independent consultants -this is due in August 2021. The
plans have been costed on the basis of a large main pool complemented by
an entirely separate learners’ pool with moveable floor, as this is less
complex and more flexible in terms of use (this is the model adopted on
Sport England advice for Mildenhall Hub), rather than a single pool divided
by a boom. As well as being operationally beneficial this model is also
potentially significantly cheaper to build. However, the increased size of
the footprint for the leisure centre provides scope to ensure the final facility
mix can reflect the findings of this Facilities Assessment, to ensure that it is
large enough to accommodate future population growth.

A.1.12

The Council’s commitment to its leisure provision has not faltered during the
pandemic and has extended to providing additional financial support to its
partner and leisure operator, Abbeycroft Leisure. The Council will continue
to work with Abbeycroft Leisure, to ensure that the centre works to deliver
the Council’s priority of “Resilient families and communities that are healthy
and active” at the same time as improving the financial performance, to
meet the day-to-day running costs of the facility and potentially to deliver a
wider return to support other community activities This update shows that
economically there have been both benefits and additional costs to the
leisure business case yet the case for the centre remains that to do nothing,
and have to invest in our existing ageing centre (which will ultimately need
replacing) would be the more costly option.

Page 82

The Strategic Case

B.
1.

The opportunities of an improved leisure facilities
as part of the Western Way development
The Council’s role in providing Leisure Facilities and supporting
the Physical Activity and Health Agenda

B.1.1

The need for a strong accessible leisure offer is ever more important.
Sport England stated in December 2020, when launching the National
Leisure Recovery Fund that
“Gyms and leisure centres play a vital role in helping people to be
active and they’ll be crucial in our nation’s recovery from coronavirus
as well as wider health, wellbeing and community benefits”.

B.1.2

Despite leisure, sport and physical activity being non-statutory services,
the evidence of their public value and the positive physical and mental
health impacts is stronger than ever before. These services can contribute
to multiple public policy objectives. These include reducing health
inequalities, upskilling, and employing local people and being community
spaces for social engagement and interaction. Locally West Suffolk
Alliance has an ambition of
“Strengthening the support for people to stay well and manage their
wellbeing and health in their communities” “Building local integrated
working, across all ages and across both physical and mental health”.

B.1.3

This commitment to integration can be evidenced through projects
already in delivery including the Mildenhall Hub, Brandon Leisure Centre,
support for Social Prescribing and projects to integrate leisure and fitness
(delivered by Abbeycroft Leisure) into health pathways.

B.1.4

A leisure centre remains a flagship occupier, essential to the concept of
health and wellbeing hub that our health partners are committed and the
current situation has highlighted the need for health and leisure to work
collaboratively to prevent ill-health and to tackle health inequalities.

B.1.5

The existing centre is now 46 years old, and the challenges remain in
regard to the current layout and condition, whilst other centres in the
Councils portfolio have been upgraded or rebuilt. The Council is
undertaking a review of its Local Plan responding to the housing need set
by government to deliver at least 16,000 homes up to 2040 across the
District. And the residents of those homes will need access to good leisure
provision.

B.1.6

The Suffolk Physical Activity Needs3 assessment summarised the burden
of physical inactivity:

https://www.healthysuffolk.org.uk/uploads/2017-1012_Needs_assessment_Final_short_version.pdf
3

Page 83

 Physical Inactivity is one of the top 10 causes of disease and
disability in England and is attributed to 6 percent of deaths globally
 Inactivity causes 1 in 6 deaths in the UK
 Inactivity is the principal cause for 21 to 25 percent of breast and
colon cancer, 27 percent of diabetes burden and 30 percent of
ischaemic heart disease
 Inactivity costs an estimated £7.4 billion a year to the UK.
The 2019 State of Suffolk4 report states that:





Low levels of physical activity are a significant contributor to
disease and
disability in Suffolk. It is estimated that around 1,850 premature
deaths each year are attributable to physical inactivity
The estimated total cost of inactivity is £134 million per year
By keeping physically active throughout life, people can live
healthier and longer lives. Regular physical activity can help to
prevent and manage many physical health conditions and it also
reduces the risk of mental ill health such as depression and
dementia.

B.1.7

The Council is committed to “Promoting Physical Activity” and its
framework sets out its objectives and intent.5 The benefit of co-locating
health and leisure facilities is already being tested out in places such as
Warrington and West Norwood and it is a fundamental pillar of our own
Mildenhall Hub development. Sport England (in their guidance on
strategic facilities funding) recognises that some of the biggest increases
in activity have been where sport is located alongside other services such
as schools, libraries, or doctors’ surgeries.

B.1.8

The Needs Assessment also identifies the challenge of reaching those who
are currently not active, and here local authority provided facilities have a
key role to play as they look not only at the immediate financial position
of the centre but of the wider economic, social and health contribution it
can make, further enhanced by being co-located with a number of other
services.

B.1.9

The proposal for the centre and its operation meets the principles of the
Council’s Promoting Physical Activity Framework as set out below and the
Council’s partnering agreement with Abbeycroft requires them to deliver
against all aspects of the framework:
Social and community
 It creates an environment that provides the opportunity for
physical activity for all by extending the range of activity and
improving the swimming offer for families; it will deliver an inclusive
offer with accessible facilities

SF1160_-_JSNA_State_of_Suffolk_Report_2019_Ex_Summary_LR.pdf
(healthysuffolk.org.uk)
4

5

https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/leisure/sport_and_healthy_living/activity/index.
cfm

Page 84

 During the development of the centre, the Council and Abbeycroft will
work with a range of groups to increase access and address barriers
to participation, focussing on those identified as being most in need
 Through its co-location with health, participation in social prescribing
initiatives as well as the range of activities and facilities, the new
centre will improve the quality of life and the health and
wellbeing of all our communities.
Economic
 The new centre will deliver an improved financial performance
through reduced running costs as well as increased attendance
through the improved offer. However, it should be noted that the
provision will put a new pressure on the Council’s Medium-Term
Financial Strategy, but a pressure that would be unavoidable in
some form given the work needed on the existing centre
 The centre will deliver wider social value, demonstrating how our
impact on health and wellbeing will financially benefit the
whole public sector and deliver wider value for money.
Personal experience
 The new centre has been designed to ensure that opportunities for
physical activity that are accessible, inclusive, welcoming,
nurturing, and convenient and will encourage participation and
keep active people active, particularly having regard to its location
as part of the wider Western Way development and proximity to
education facilities
 The facilities provide for a range of activities, acknowledging that
there are a range of motivations to participating in physical
activity and that some people want to be competitive, whilst
others don’t.
Health and wellbeing
 One of the leading objectives of the project has been co-location and
the delivery of facilities and initiatives that will support the
Suffolk Health and Wellbeing Strategy and to ensure that active
people remain active and that more people become active and
will support Covid recovery
 Data from Suffolk Public Health Suffolk Observatory – Welcome to the
Suffolk Observatory shows that this area of West Suffolk enjoys
relatively high levels of physical activity and low levels of obesity.
However, higher than average adults report having a limiting longterm illness or disability. The partnerships that will develop with
health will include activity to address preventable health issues
by creating local opportunities that address local health needs.
Providing a flagship occupier for the Western Way Development
B.1.10

The Western Way Development is about re-visioning public services and
creating not just new buildings but new ways of working together and
interacting with communities. The RSA recognised in their study of
Wiltshire Community Campuses6 that “campuses are about more than

https://www.thersa.org/action-and-research/rsa-projects/public-services-andcommunities-folder/people-shaped-localism/what-we-did
6

Page 85

new buildings. They are catalysts for new ideas, partnerships and
relationships, particularly at the local level”. The inclusion of a new leisure
facility, a facility that people of all ages can use and help shape can act as
another beacon for the site. It will bring a range of people to the site, as
well as benefiting from the attendance of those who already use the site.
Being part of this new site offers a number of benefits to all occupiers,
over and above what could be achieved if each partner simply built and
operated their own facility in isolation:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.
f.

Shared/reduced facilities maintenance costs
Shared Plant and Building Management Systems
Opportunity to explore shared reception arrangements
Shared catering facilities
Shared car parking provision
Opportunities to create referrals routes and enhanced customer
journey
g. Joint marketing opportunities
h. Opportunity to create a half day destination that complements other
facilities on the site
i. Shared benefit from energy centre and renewables
Not including a leisure centre could therefore increase the cost of the site
for other partners.
B.1.11

Finally, relocation of the leisure centre will release land for other uses that
will be a key part of the wider development.
Existing leisure centre layout, condition and challenges

B.1.12

The building has been refurbished twice in its lifetime due to two fires and
therefore the general condition of the building is good. As an asset the
building has no real structural concerns, although the plant is starting to
age and both reactive and planned maintenance costs are increasing and
will continue to do so. In addition, there is a strong likelihood that a new
facility would be far more efficient than the existing building and any new
facility would benefit from the most recent advances in technology to
reduce the cost of utilities.

B.1.13

Whilst the building is sound, the age and layout of the building are no
longer in line with current industry/consumer expectations. An
independent report completed by The Sports Consultancy (TSC) (2019)
observed that “As the population grows, as a consequence of growth
plans for the town, the leisure centre will be unable to match customer
demand and maintain pace with ever changing leisure trends”. Examples
of issues with the current centre include:





The position of the Entrance in relation to the car park
Ease of access
Facilities spread over three floors
Décor/Style of the building

Page 86

 Standard of Sports and Leisure Facilities
 Facility Mix
B.1.13

The Centre is also limited by poorly located car parking for peak demand.
This has limited the facility’s growth potential and needs to be addressed
as part of any future development. The travel distance between the car
park and facility is a major cause of complaint and influences both visiting
rates and the retention of customers.

B.1.14

The current Leisure Centre acts as West Suffolk College’s sports provision
to meets its course and curriculum requirements. The College has
confirmed that it will continue to use the centre, as the college grows and
explore further opportunities to link education and leisure. Currently the
college uses the following:
1. Sports Hall – WSC use the hall for 40 plus hours per week
2. Fitness Centre – The College made a capital investment into a 20station facility that enables them free use but also provides access to
the general public in the evenings and weekends.

B.1.15

The final facility mix will be informed by the 2021 Facilities Assessment
that will be completed in August 2021. The proposals for development
already address the key findings of the 2015 Sports Facilities Assessment
as follows:
 Based on the quality audits and assessments, age and condition, the
priorities for future investment in facility provision are Swimming
Pools and Sports Hall due to age (by 2025)
 The existing leisure centre is ageing and in the medium term there
will need to be consideration to its replacement. Replace ageing
facilities where new provision is needed; all new provision should be
designed and developed based on Sport England and NGB guidance
and be fully inclusive
 Rationalise existing provision where new facilities can replace/improve
facilities
 Current car parking provision is inadequate
 Invest in existing provision to improve quality
 Invest strategically to ensure economic viability and sustainability of
provision
 Where possible, provide facilities (formal and informal) closer to
where people live; access to informal provision is critical in the rural
areas
 Aim to ensure that more facilities on education sites provide
opportunities (on a formal basis) for community access.
Skatepark and Athletics Pavilion

B.1.16

The existing stake park is well used and an important facility for the
young people of the town. Necessary highway improvements have led to
proposals for the relocation of the skate bowl and the design of the whole
site has created the opportunity to enhance the facility that should attract
more users. The new skatepark will sweep around the corner of Western
Way and Olding Road with a hierarchy of skate facilities and viewing
terraces set into planted banks. The street frontage with its proximity to

Page 87

the leisure centre will be an important improvement for users of the
skatepark and enhance the wider street appearance.
B.1.17

Currently, users of the athletics track have use of a porta cabin that
provides a small meeting space and accessible toilet provision with other
facilities such as changing rooms being in the existing leisure centre.
Feedback from West Suffolk Athletics Club is that the track is one of the
best in the region and could be increasingly used for events. Whilst there
is an ambition for a spectator stand to support that growth, this business
case includes provision for a pavilion that will provide changing facilities
and toilets, storage, and a meeting room. This will be essential if the
leisure centre is relocated as users will not have access to facilities
otherwise.
Population change

B.1.18

The other dynamic to consider is the growth of the town. The Core
Strategy and Vision 20317 has established that in the period 2012 – 2031
Bury St Edmunds will grow by 5740 new homes with most new housing
being located in five strategic areas of growth located around the town.
Further, the Strategic Housing Market Area Assessment (SHMAA)
identified that approximately 50 percent of the expected growth between
2031-2041 is expected to be within the boundaries of the town of Bury St
Edmunds. The Vision provides that “the town centre will be the main focus
for new retail, leisure and office development”.

B.1.19

Whilst it is extremely difficult to examine the impact of local economic
development on facility provision consumer research 8identifies that 62%
of people will use the services that are most easily accessible to them.
Therefore, location and convenience of access is key to attract the market
and the developments highlighted above are likely to have a significant
impact on leisure provision in Bury St Edmunds and any new facility
development will need to take account of this. In addition, the centre will
benefit from its co-location with office buildings encouraging workers to
use the facilities.

Vision 2031:
https://www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/planning/Planning_Policies/local_plans/upload/B
SE-vision-2015v6-hi-res-compressed.pdf
7

http://www.healthclubmanagement.co.uk/health-club-managementfeatures/Findings-from-the-Health-and-Fitness-Omnibus-Survey-report2017/32021
8

Page 88

C.

The Economic Case
(How and why will it work?)

1.

Benefits Overview

C.1.1

The benefits of building a new leisure centre remain. That step change
in performance is needed to address the new health challenges we are
facing as a result of Covid.19. Building a new leisure centre now as
part of the Western Way Development offers a number of benefits:
a. Improve the quality and range of offer resulting in increased
membership and visits to the centre
b. Reduce the maintenance and repairs liability the current 46-yearold building
c. Reduce operating costs, in particular energy and use of renewables
d. Remove the need to rebuild / significant refurbishment of the
existing leisure on the existing footprint that would result in closure
of the centre for at least one year, losing both income and footfall
e. Utilise the opportunity of the broader Western Way Development to
replace the leisure centre rather than at a later stage when capital
costs could be higher
f. Release land for other uses
g. Maximise the integration benefits with other users of the site,
encouraging use of the leisure centre by visitors to the health
facilities and workers in the office buildings as well as West Suffolk
College
h. Create a new user experience, particularly through the use of new
technology in the new buildings.
Quality and range of offer

C.1.2

Bury St Edmunds has been a high performing facility from both a
financial and participation perspective. Alternative provision has
increased in Bury St Edmunds with Bury Leisure Centre continuing to
provide the town’s only public swimming facilities. Most recently in
2018, the Council opened the Skyliner Sports Centre as part of the
Council’s own strategy to decentralise ‘dry-side’ provision if this
improves accessibility and capacity. Any new entrants to the market
would impact on the performance of Bury St Edmunds Leisure Centre,
to which there would normally be two reactions:
1. Invest in the product/service to maintain or grow market position
2. Reduce the overhead in line with reductions in income

C.1.3

The second strategy is generally only a short-term measure and if
sustained over any period just sees performance continue to
deteriorate as income continues to fall in line with reductions in
expenditure. Furthermore, the Council’s specific role in the market
does not support this, since the ability of Abbeycroft to generate
income is essential to cross-subsiding costly public-access facilities, in
particular the swimming pool and track. This is the important context
for discussion of commercial considerations in this business case: The

Page 89

Council’s commercial strategy is required to maintain provision of key
public facilities at a time of reducing public sector funding.
C.1.4

The development of a new facility is likely to produce a step change in
performance or at a minimum protect its current position as the core
provider in the town. Following the last refurbishment at the Centre, it
is understood that membership increased significantly, although
historical data to confirm this is no longer available.

C.1.5

Feedback from users’ consultation in 2019 were:
 754 respondents, majority of whom were current Abbeycroft
customers who had used the centre within the last 12 months –
(412 respondents), with 242 nonusers responding – both
perspectives being essential
 The most popular activity was swimming followed by the gym: 347
(59.11 percent) used the pool for family/fun swimming; 202 (34.41
percent) – used the gym (excluding exercise classes and personal
training); 183 (31.18 percent) used the pool for lane swimming
 In respect of importance of features in new facility, 395 (52.7
percent) rated a dedicated car park area for leisure and health
users as ‘5’ on importance to them. With a further 207 (27.7
percent) rating it ‘3’ or ‘4’; 321 (43.0 percent) rated a fun splash
water area for the family and leisure use a ‘5’, with a further 231
(31.0 percent) rating it a 3 or a 4.; 299 (39.8 percent) rated the
fitness suite as a ‘5’ on importance to them in the new leisure
centre, with a further 277 (37.1 percent) rating it a ‘3’ or a ‘4’.
An independent report from The Sports Consultancy (TSC) report
(shared in 2019) proposed a facility mix that was a combination of
traditional leisure centre - activity spaces such as swimming pools, a
multi-use sports hall, a gym, group, exercise studios and new activity
spaces – together with extended leisure waters, to continue to offer a
destination style attraction for Bury St Edmunds and the District. TSC
analysis was based on market, competition and population growth and
the correlation between resident feedback and expert report is helpful
and has helped to shape the final facility mix. Additional work was
undertaken to validate the final mix having regard to cost and new
competition in the leisure market.

C.1.6

It should be noted that location of the car parking in particular has
limited the site’s growth potential and has been a cause of complaint,
influencing both visiting rates and retention of customers. The location
and layout proposed as part of Western Way main business case will
address this.

C.1.7

In addition to the above competition in other key markets continues to
grow and operations compete for the “leisure pound”. This proposal
brings together an optimum solution that builds on the opportunity a
co-located facility brings and creates a unique selling point for Bury
Leisure Centre through the leisure swimming offer and complements
other developments within the West Suffolk leisure portfolio to ensure

Page 90

that each facility provides the optimum solution for each of the
catchment populations they serve.
Reduce the maintenance and repairs liability
C.1.8

C.1.9

C.1.10

West Suffolk Council leases the leisure centre buildings to Abbeycroft,
and the Council retains responsibility for forward planned maintenance,
preventative, and re-active maintenance. The Councils’ property team
have reviewed the condition reports and now estimate if the building is
to have a future, routine maintenance and renewals over the next five
years would cost around £450,000 (£100,000 increase from Nov 2019)
to provide the building with up to another 10 years life. Extending
beyond that is likely to require spend of approximately £5m to renew
plant in 8 years’ time. This essential investment represents
approximate value of 20 percent to 25 percent of a centre rebuild cost.
Whilst there is an argument that the existing leisure centre could have
a functional life beyond 10 years, it is clear that additional investment
to keep the centre attractive and relevant to users would be required
on top of this, and ultimately a new centre would still be required.
Sustainability
Energy costs for Bury Leisure Centre typically account for 11.5 percent
of the Bury Leisure Centre budget and are forecast to increase as
wholesale energy prices increase. (Note 2020 to 2021 has seen a
significant reduction but this is clearly because centres have been
closed). The Council has now committed to its Climate Change Action
Plan and an ambition to achieve net zero carbon by 2030. Building
performance will play a key part of that and the Council has committed
to improve the energy efficiency and incorporate renewable energy
(electricity and/or heat) into all its buildings within five years. This has
been supported by the Government’s Public Sector Decarbonisation
Fund that provides grants for public sector bodies to fund energy
efficiency and heat decarbonisation measures. Such investment in an
ageing building would not make economic sense, but the importance of
reducing emissions and costs of utilities is more pressing.
The Western Way Development will have renewable energy solutions
that should reduce this cost, and this is detailed in the main business
case. The wider sustainability of the leisure centre has been a key
consideration in the design, and opportunities to reuse elements of the
existing centre will be explored, including equipment, fit out items and
plant where this appropriate.

Page 91

2.

Evaluation of Location

C.2.1

The need for a central location for the leisure centre has been proved over
the years and is a planning policy. This business case addresses the
opportunity of a new Centre as part of the Western Way development and
as such the Council needs to assure itself that it is a location that will
work for a leisure centre, and there is not a better location having regard
to the growth in the town. The table below provides an overview of
location criteria.
Pedestrian
Access
Cycling
Access

Public
Transport

Vehicle
Access

Car
Parking
Proximity
to
Education
Other
facilities
Business

The site is within 2km of housing estates to the North and
South and the main town centre. It is already well served
with footpath linkages to Newmarket Road as well as
Beetons Way connecting to Tollgate Lane.
Existing footpath/cycle path that links the site to
Newmarket Road, linking to cycle route into town. Site
within a reasonable cycle ride (up to 5km/15 mins) of the
majority of the built-up area of Bury St Edmunds. The site
links to the Suffolk County Council Cycle Map, 2018. 9Cycle
park provision to be made in main site.
The Western Way development includes plans for a new
bus stop adjacent to the site. Currently bus services run to
the location from Haverhill, Newmarket, Mildenhall,
Brandon, Thetford, Diss and Thurston and surrounding
villages.
The Main Business Case sets out the highways proposals
which will improve access to the site. Proximity to the A14
means that the users from surrounding villages and rural
communities can access the site.
The wider development of the site will include new car
parking. The proposed location adjacent to the leisure
centre addresses existing user concerns.
Tollgate Lane and Beetons Way are home to County Upper
School, King Edward VI School, St Benedict’s Catholic
School, West Suffolk College and will be home to the
Abbeygate VI form. The proximity of leisure to this
“education corridor” is a key benefit of the site.
The current running track and pitch (which is being
upgraded) is owned by King Edward VI School and is used
under a community use facility
The site is under 2km from the town centre and will itself
be home to a number of private and public sector
operations. This provides the opportunity to engage with
businesses as part of Suffolk’s Health and Wellbeing
Board’s ambition to “support employers to incorporate
physical activity as part of the working day”. 10

https://www.suffolk.gov.uk/assets/Roads-and-transport/cycling/Bury-StEdmunds-Cycle-Map.pdf
9

10

www.healthysuffolk.org.uk/projects/workplace-wellbeing

Page 92

C.2.2

In addition to the Mildenhall Hub and work underway at the Brandon
Leisure Centre, there are a number of projects nationwide that are now
being developed with other agencies that follow a co-location or hub
principle.11 Anecdotal evidence suggest that use of these facilities far
exceeds the indications provided by latent demand studies due to the
convenience of the facility.

3.

Alternative options

C.3.1

The challenges of the condition of the existing leisure centre means that it
will need major refurbishment and it is not unique in that regard. In
January 2020, the Local Government Association stated that two thirds of
leisure centres are outdated and need urgent new investment from
government. Figures from Sport England showed that up to 63 per cent
of sports halls and swimming pools are more than 10 years old. Nearly a
quarter of all sports halls and swimming pools have not been refurbished
in more than 20 years. In January 2020, before the pandemic, the LGA
were highlighting the fact that Councils needed to “redesign, upgrade and
renovate facilities to the standard needed to support healthy, active
communities and transform the nation’s health”.

C.3.2

There are two long term alternatives to the provision of a new centre,
both of which are major refurbishments of the existing centre. It must be
noted that whilst these could extend the life of the centre, they will not
address the fundamental issues of proximity of car parking and will not
provide a flagship community use building for the new Western Way
development. Ultimately both would mean that the Council would still
need to consider a replacement leisure centre, all be it deferring that for
around 20 years.

C.3.3

The table below gives details of these two alternative options.
1. Refurbishment on
existing footprint
including plant &
machinery renewal

Estimated cost
Estimated
improvement
to leisure
centre running
costs
Overall
Scheme
financial
performance

Example:
village-2014.pdf
11

2. Refurbishment +
extension including
plant & machinery
renewal

£10.40m

£12.33m

£67,000 per annum

£340,000 per annum

Council borrowing
costs circa £667,000
per annum13.

Council borrowing costs
circa £791,000 per
annum13.

Therefore, annual
deficit after borrowing
of circa £600,00 per
annum.

Therefore, annual deficit
after borrowing of circa
£451,000 per annum.

https://www.sportengland.org/media/3691/oford-park-sports-

Page 93

Advantages
-

-

-

-

Disadvantages
-

-

-

Reduced Capital
Cost compared to a
new build
Improved revenue
position from
existing centre
Enhanced
alternative
provision from
existing centre
Creates a family
orientated leisure
environment
Retains position to
oversee the
management of the
athletics track
Still a long-term
requirement to
replace the leisure
centre.
No improvement in
the positioning of
the site and
entrance within the
overall project.
Potential
requirement to
continue to support
the same level of
maintenance costs
from a
structural/plant
perspective.
Phasing of the
development has
the potential to
disrupt use and
cash flow causing
business instability.
No sports hall
provision for
Education or
Community Use.
No improvement to
the quality of
provision of the
competition pool.

Page 94

-

Reduced Capital Cost
(in the short term)
compared to a new
build
- Improved revenue
position on
refurbishment option
- Enhanced alternative
provision from
existing centre
- Creates a family
orientated leisure
environment
- Retain position to
oversee the
management of the
athletics track
Retains Sports Hall
provision & income
stream
-

-

-

-

-

-

Still a long-term
requirement to
replace the leisure
centre.
No improvement in
the positioning of the
site and entrance
within the overall
project.
Potential requirement
to continue to support
the same level of
maintenance costs
from a
structural/plant
perspective.
Phasing of the
development has the
potential to disrupt
use and cash flow
causing business
instability. Likely to
require a close in the
centre for 12 months.
No improvement to
the quality of
provision of the
competition pool.
Availability of land for
extension

C.3.3

These are alternative options to refurbish the centre and to extend its
useful life, however there will be an impact on existing revenue and
membership as sections of the centre will have to be closed during the
period of refurbishment. There is a risk that members could transfer to
other facilities in the town, and they do not return to the centre when
reopened, or they just stop accessing leisure facilities all together.
Whilst it is possible to estimate the loss of income through a closure
period, the longer-term impact is more difficult to quantify and a high
risk for the centre, and the community (for instance, in terms of a loss
of wide access to swimming programmes for those unable to travel).

C.3.4

A full detailed phased plan would need to be created to examine how
this could be managed in the most efficient way possible. The worst
scenario would be a 12-month closure creating a complete loss of one
years’ total income.

Page 95

D.
D.1.1

E.

The Commercial Case
This case is already covered in Section E of the main Business case
and is not repeated here.

The Financial Case

1.

Capital Implications of a new leisure centre

E.1.1

The costs of the new leisure centre integrated as part of the overall
Western Way Development, have increased since the Full Business Case in
2019 from £27.9 million to £30.1 million. This is due to a number of
factors:





E.1.2

The move of the main sports hall and café into the frame
Addition of further 2 court hall and additional studios/treatment
room
Increase in total leisure centre size now from 6,195 square metres to
6,695 square metres
Additional capital investment in renewals (part supported by Public
Sector Decarbonisation Fund).

As has previously been mentioned, the existing leisure centre will have
significant capital requirements in the medium term that are currently
unfunded. These are detailed below:




Over the next five years an amount of around £450,000 required –
this would be funded from the Council’s Building Maintenance
Reserve
Refurbishment of the existing facilities, including the renewal of the
plant and machinery will be required in the next 10 years to
continue, possibly sooner to provide an attractive facility and
maintain market share. This will have an estimated cost of £10.5
million - £11.5 million as outlined above and is also currently
unfunded.

E.1.3

Therefore, over the next 10 years, the Council would need to spend
between £10.4 million to £12.33 million on the current facility in order to
increase its useful life by an estimated 20 years, at which point a full
rebuild will be required, either on the current site or at another location. At
this point, the cost of providing a new leisure will have increased
significantly and the opportunity for integration with the Western Way
Development would be lost which would ultimately impact on the revenue
performance of the centre.

E.1.4

The graph below provides a simple comparison between the capital costs of
building a new leisure centre now with a modest refurbishment in 20 to 30
years, and retaining the existing leisure centre with maintenance
investment, refurbishment now and a new build in another 20 to 30 years.
It assumes a 2 percent per annum increase in new build costs, meaning in

Page 96

20 years’ time an equivalent new centre would cost at least £44.8 million,
ignoring increases in costs of delivering a standalone centre, and
potentially having to acquire a site to build it on (to avoid multiple years of
loss in service).

E.1.5

This shows that whilst in the short term the capital cost of providing a new
leisure centre is higher in the longer term there is actually likely to be a
lower (circa £18 million), overall capital requirement even if a
refurbishment of this new facility is accounted for in 20 years. The
breakeven proposition is that a new build now will cost no more than
refurbishment of the current centre with a rebuild deferred for 20 years.

2.

Revenue Implications of new leisure centre

E.2.1

The original business case was based on a facility mix that has clearly
changed and it is fair to assume that there will be further changes until an
opening in 2024 so accurate revenue modelling at this stage is a challenge.
However, it is clear from improvements at other centres and experience to
date that a business case based on prudent usage assumptions
(irrespective of what that usage is) is a reliable methodology as for smaller
spaces and court space the charge is based on the space being used.
Therefore, an objective assessment of demand has been made based on
trends, patterns and enquires received prior to the pandemic. It should be
noted that there is a heavy reliance upon the co-located stakeholders
utilising some the spaces as part of their core work and dialogue will
continue to ensure that the space meets their demands as well as create
opportunities to create new demand.

E.2.2

In addition, the 2019 business case was predicated on a significant uplift in
corporate membership, based on being co-located on a site with high levels
of daytime occupation with flexible working opportunities available.
Industry standards are that 5.1% of the population will join a local
authority leisure centre (Source: The Leisure Database Company) and the
business case has been developed on reaching 6.1 percent membership as
Bury St Edmunds has traditionally performed well. Nevertheless, with that
assumption, the reduction in corporate membership is anticipated to have
an impact on the business case.

Page 97

E.2.3

However, at the same time developing integrated leisure and health
pathways, creates opportunities to improve this position. This updated
business case assumes the following revenue opportunities from the new
design:





The creation of additional studios/treatment rooms to allow further
sharing with the NHS and more clubs to hire the space
The additional investment in renewals will reduce running costs
Greater focus on health and wellbeing and tackling health
inequalities creates more opportunities to market the leisure centre
activities and integrate the offer into health pathways
The addition 2 court hall that can be linked with the main 4 court hall
creates a competition venue that could deliver wider revenue benefit
as well as potentially a home venue for local clubs.

E.2.4

As has been mentioned above, there will be significant revenue costs
associated with retaining the current leisure centre over the next 10 years.
The annual costs associated with these costs could range from £451,000 to
£600,000 depending on what level of refurbishment was undertaken
(options set out in 3.2 above) – not taking into account any loss associated
with closing the centre during any refurbishment. These figures are not
currently within the council’s budget, so provision will need to be made for
them regardless of any decision associated with Western Way.

E.2.5

Taking all of this into account, it is estimated that the new leisure centre
with the updated facility mix would deliver an improved annual return
(before borrowing costs) of approximately £476,500 on average over the
next 10 years, against that of the current leisure centre. This has improved
from £430,000 in the full business case reflecting the increased space and
review of lifecycle costs. This is based on an assumption that the
performance of the current leisure centre stays the same over that time
period. This benefit would then come back to the council via either a direct
payment from Abbeycroft, or through Abbeycroft taking on more of the
maintenance responsibilities of the leisure facilities they run – whichever
was the most advantageous for both parties. The final business case
figures have been developed based on the facility mix outlined at
paragraph A.1.10.

E.2.6

The table below details the annual revenue implications of building a new
leisure centre, including the improvements to the skate park and provision
of a new athletics pavilion. It shows how the council would need to fund a
deficit of £724,000 after it has received the £476,000 benefit. By adding
the two together gets you what level of borrowing can be supported
(£1,200,500) for this element of the project.

E.2.7

As can be seen, there is an annual cost of £724,000 for the proposed new
leisure centre. In the short term, this is higher than the cost of refurbishing
on the current site, which as detailed at 2.1 above would have an annual
cost to the council of between £451,000 and £600,000, depending on what
sort of refurbishment was undertaken. However, once a full rebuild after 20

Page 98

years is taken into account, the annual costs in the longer term are higher
than the £724,000 associated with rebuilding the leisure centre as part of
the Western Way Development – even when including the cost of a modest
refurb of the new leisure centre in 20 years’ time. The graph below shows
how the revenue position will change over the next 40 years.

E.2.8

The revenue implication set out in the above graph does account for the
benefit of being able to maintain a continual leisure offer i.e., the existing
leisure centre would remain open whilst the new one was being built. If a
significant refurbishment were to take place on the existing leisure centre,
there would be a significant disruption in the leisure offer able to be
provided and a potential loss of income to Abbeycroft. The table below
shows the total costs of the three options over the next 40 years from the
above graph. Note a number of further assumptions have been made in
arriving at this figure a 3.5 percent borrowing rate assumption in 20 years
(if higher would make the refurb and build options revenue costs more
expensive). It should also be noted that a rebuild in the future would likely
be more costly than the new build option we have based the projected
spend on as it will not benefit from co-location opportunities the new build
proposal as part of WWD offers.
Revenue Cost
over 40 years
£

Option
New Build
Refurb followed by New Build
Refurb & extension, followed by New Build

E.2.9

35,920,000
43,989,500
41,009,500

The financial case set out above demonstrates that on a whole life costing
basis the new build option as part of the WWD offers better value for
money in capital and revenue terms (allowing for a marginal difference) for
the taxpayers of West Suffolk.

Page 99

E.2.10

The assumptions used, and mitigation measures described in the main
business case equally apply to the leisure centre, and therefore will not be
repeated here.

E.2.11

Whilst not included in the financial modelling above, the centre will deliver
wider social value. A Latent Demand and Social Value Report produced by 4
Global in 2018 estimated that the annual social value contribution of the
new centre would be over £1.8m, having regard to its impact on improved
health, well-being, educational attainment and reduced crime.

3.

External Funding

E.3.1

The business case has been put together assuming there will be no
external funding from Sport England. They provided a high-level technical
review of the scheme in November 2019 and have now confirmed they are
not in a position to solicit an application for further funding from West
Suffolk Council due to the level of investment they have already committed
to the Mildenhall Hub project. However, the opportunity to use developers’
contributions to support the increase in facilities will continue to be
explored.

Page 100

F.

The Management Case
The main outline business case for the Western Way Development provides
the main management case for this scheme at this stage, as it is part of the
wider project. However, below are elements specifically relevant to the
leisure centre.

1.

Key Risks and Dependencies

F.1.1

The key risks and dependencies specifically related to the provision of a new
build leisure centre as part of the Western Way Development are detailed in the
table below. Covid.19 has made significant changes to the nature of leisure
operations, and in 2024 the world will again look different. Nevertheless, the
threat and impact of another pandemic is a new risk to the business case, all be
it that we know that Government has taken steps to mitigate the financial
impact for this pandemic.

R1

R2

R3

Risk
Description
Financial
viability of
development

Global
Pandemic

New/improved
competition in
the leisure
sector
particularly
health and
fitness

Inherent
Risk
High

Impact

Mitigation

Development
delayed/
unviable

Medium

Closure of
centres/
continuation
of social
distancing
impacting on
revenue
position
Reduction in
use of centre
meaning that
business
case targets
for increased
membership/
revenue not
met

Explore value
engineering
opportunities
without losing vision
for centre and wider
site. Looking at
facility mix to drive
income (nearer build
date). Reviewing
alternative funding
options and delivery
methods, including
seeking external
funding.
Lobby for
Government
support. Use
National Leisure
Recovery Fund
monitoring process
to track impacts

Medium

Design facility in
flexible way so
space can meet
changing leisure
trends; continue to
monitor market and
other alternative
leisure provision
being developed
within a radius that

Page 101

Residual
Risk
Medium

Medium

Medium

could impact on the
proposed facility mix
R4

Change in
consumer
trends mean
that the
proposed
development
mix is no
longer relevant

Medium

Reduction in
use of centre
meaning that
business
case targets
for increased
membership/
revenue not
met

Design space flexibly
so that the fit out
can be changed;
monitor the
marketplace during
the development to
ensure that the
facility mix is
correct.

Low

R5

The scheme
does not
deliver a new
energy solution
for the campus

Medium

Increased
energy costs
for the
Leisure
Centre
impacting on
viability of
wider
scheme

Retain focus on
energy solution as
part of WWD; work
with partners and
explore externally
funded projects

Low

Ref

Dependency

Level
of
Dependency

Give
/
Get

Impact

Impact
date

Mitigation (if
required)

D1

Agreement to
wider Western
Way Business
case

High

Get

2021

Refurbishment
of existing
centre/ new
business case
for new leisure
centre

D2

Continuation
of Partnering
Agreement
with
Abbeycroft
Leisure

High

Get

ongoing

Continued
monitoring and
support for
partnership;
(expiry date
2032)

D3

Negotiation
with Suffolk
County
Council re
leisure centre
land

High

Get

The business
case for
building a
new leisure
centre as
part of the
development
fails
Potentially
no leisure
operator for
the new
facility/ new
operator
requires
different
contract
No change of
use/
additional
costs driven
into project

Page 102

2021

2.

Assumptions
Accessibility

F.2.1

There have been a number of versions of the masterplan for the whole
development. It should be noted that the optimum position for the entrance to
the leisure centre would be to link directly with the main Hub/Car Park to
provide better line of site and access to capture consumer interest, and also
have high visibility from Western Way. This is a specific reason for the target
model design in the main business case.

Page 103

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 2
Action Plan from 2019/20 External Assurance Review, Western Way Development – Update
Consultant’s (i.e. Rider Levett Bucknall)
Recommendation (Dec 20)

Council’s
Update Feb 2021
Original
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Further Action
Required

Council’s
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Timing

(June 21)

(Jan 20)

Page 105

1

A revised financial model should be created for
internal use only with greater visibility of wider cost
inputs to allow a variety of scenarios to be tested.
This would be separate to the existing financial
model within the FBC.

Low

Actioned as part of new financial model being used to
support remainder of project.

Maintain model going
forward.

Closed

Not applicable

2

There are no obvious alternative funding sources [to
a PWLB loan] for the development and, as the risk of
funding a negative cashflow position remains the
greatest challenge to the long-term success of the
project, it is recommended that alternative capital
input routes continue to be explored. The option for
partners to undertake a “land-for-equity” swap may
be an option, as might their disposal of their sites
with capital receipts ploughed into the development.

Low

Options for borrowing are kept under review. The
robustness of the Council’s role is still being tested in the
context of acting as sole developer. Also, options for
collaboration with a private developer and third party
funding to be kept under review as project progresses.

Continue to explore
alternative funding
sources in the market
and with partner
organisations, in
accordance with the
adopted financial
principles in the
business case.

Low

Ongoing but to
be clarified no
later than
award of final
contract

3

The LEP indicated a willingness in principle to
consider applications to support the development. If
they could provide a level of support that reduced or
removed the negative position or were able to
underwrite any shortfall in the balance of
repayments of the loan, that would remove the
greatest risk to WSC on this project.

High

Given delay to Comprehensive Spending Review, the
LEPs are still without clarity on funding for their project
pipeline. However, NALEP continue to express strong
support for the project, and it is in their project pipeline
if they did get funding. In the meantime, continue to
model as if no external funding is available to ensure
necessary pessimism bias in decision-making.

Continue dialogue with
LEP(s).

High

Ongoing but to
be clarified no
later than
award of final
contract

4

The main benefits of undertaking this project are set
out in the Strategic Business Case. These are not
significantly reviewed in the FBC nor has an attempt
been made to quantify them. Consideration should
be given to undertaking a Socio-Economic impact
assessment to quantify the benefit to WSC and
partners and the community they serve in
undertaking this project.

Low

It was always expected that such analysis could be
needed for external funding bids, particularly to the LEPs,
and this remains the case. However, confirmed through
discussion with the Suffolk Office of Data & Analytics
(SODA) and the Council’s policy team, preparing a
bespoke analysis proactively is likely to be complex and
expensive. Particularly in the context that the strategic
case for the various aspects of the project already have
been accepted universally by project partners e.g. the
creation of hubs sought in the local NHS estates strategy.

Work with partners to
Low
develop a socioeconomic impact
assessment prior to any
external funding bids
being made, and
commission support to
do this from within
existing budgets if
necessary.

If required by
funding bids

5

The process and timescales for obtaining approval for
the relocation of NHS services should be investigated
with partners together with developing an
understanding of any interfaces or restrictions on

Medium

See main report. This is already a requirement of the
Council’s FBC approval and a pre-condition for starting
any work on tender packs. Having funded specialist
input to the project to date, the NHS continues to lead

Secure NHS sign-up
prior to starting work
on tender pack

Before next
stage of project
starts

High

Consultant’s (i.e. Rider Levett Bucknall)
Recommendation (Dec 20)

Council’s
Update Feb 2021
Original
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Further Action
Required

Council’s
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Timing

(June 21)

(Jan 20)
their ability to enter into lease arrangements during
the consultation process. This should be combined
with confirming the current level of involvement and
support from regional NHS England office.

the making of its own business cases to participate in the
project. NHS partners are aware of the project timetable
and are liaising closely with the Council.

Commitment from partners to underwrite the design
development costs of the areas they intend to
occupy should be obtained by WSC prior to
commissioning the next phase of work to avoid the
risk of WSC being liable for abortive design fees in
the event the leases are not taken up.

High

This is already a requirement of the Council’s FBC
approval and a pre-condition for starting any work on
tender packs. Work is well progressed with partners to
provide this clarity (see other sections of this report).

Confirm sign-up of
public partners in
respect of their phase 1
requirements and
meeting abortive costs
before work proceeds
on tender packs, in
accordance with
existing Council
authority. Heads of
terms and pre-let
agreements also to be
required for later
gateways.

High

Before next
stage of project
starts

7

The project contingency is at the lower end of what
would typically be expected at this stage of a project.
This would normally be in the range of 5-20%. It is
recommended that the contingency levels are
reviewed.

Low

The cost plan already had contingency plus other risks
built into the estimates for certain packages, and the
contingencies and safeguards in financial model have
been reviewed in the updated model presented in this
report.

Keep under review as
project progresses and
achieve savings from
other areas if
contingency needs to
increase.

Low

Jan 2020

8

It is normal for a developer to hold a developer’s
contingency of 5-10%, outside of the project
contingency. It is recommended that this is reviewed
at the same time as the overall project contingency.

Low

Such a contingency would be for addressing change to
the scope or strategy for the project, or to allow the
developer to adapt to revenue risks or opportunities. It
is understood why a commercial developer would
normally want to hold such a contingency. However, as
a public body, the Council wouldn’t normally create such
a developer contingency because it is using public funds
and doing so would have an opportunity cost. The
Council also has access to general reserves and has an
annual budget setting process, with flexibility to make inyear changes. Therefore, if the Council wanted to adapt
the scope or strategy for the WWD project agreed by
Council it would need to go back to Council with a

Maintain strong project
controls

Closed

Not applicable

Page 106

6

Consultant’s (i.e. Rider Levett Bucknall)
Recommendation (Dec 20)

Council’s
Update Feb 2021
Original
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Further Action
Required

Council’s
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Timing

(June 21)

(Jan 20)
revised business case and seek approval accordingly.
This discipline will be provided by standard project
governance controls and the Council’s financial
regulations.
9

Medium

Pop-up uses of The Street are a key part of the plan for
the building and incorporated in the financial model.
Irrespective of any phasing strategy adopted, seeking
temporary uses of spaces awaiting a long-term tenant
also makes eminent sense, as this will not only assist in
meeting holding costs and/or managing cash-flow risk
but also create community benefit. Permanent
alternative uses of spaces will also be considered if
things change after phase 1 space allocations are made.
However, there is a trade-off in financial terms because
equipping spaces to take temporary uses will require a
‘Category A’ finish rather than ‘shell and core’ and could
also trigger business rates even if empty. As such, the
safer strategy is likely to be minimise the amount of
temporary uses required and look to a phased approach.

Incorporate planning
for temporary uses into
the next stage of
design and wider
project development
and marketing.

Low

During next
stage of the
project

10 Greater use of the option of deferring the Cat-A fitout and constructing to shell and core only should be
considered to defer capital spend, reduce risk and
waste. This could be undertaken later as part of a
landlord’s contribution to the tenant fit-out.

Medium

A significant proportion of the office accommodation was
already modelled to a shell and core level only in
September 2019 for the Final Business Case as a way to
mitigate the cash-flow for the project, and this principle
would be carried forward if applicable. See main report
regarding phasing.

None

Closed

Not applicable

11 The option of a reduced size build should be
considered and costed to inform decision making.
Reducing the building size by a third will not reduce
the total project cost by a third, but the implications
need to be understood so they can be properly
evaluated and the impact on the borrowing and
repayment levels understood.

Medium

See main report. This potential flexibility in the adopted
design was a key part of its approval, although it was
important to obtain planning consent for the maximum
potential extent of the scheme. This is currently the
most likely option (see main report).

None

Closed

Not applicable

12 Interest in pre-let office space is likely to increase
once planning permission for the development is
secured and it is recommended that further market

Medium

Already planned, with the use of internal and appropriate
external resources. Informal discussions will also
continue to be held in the meantime.

Develop and implement
a marketing plan as

Medium

During next
stage of the
project

Page 107

Alternative uses for large volume spaces should
continue to be pursued. The opportunities of having
the College, leisure centre and potential employers in
close proximity to each other should provide some
opportunities. Pop-up uses around community
events, training and performance are all potential
options.

Consultant’s (i.e. Rider Levett Bucknall)
Recommendation (Dec 20)

Council’s
Update Feb 2021
Original
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Further Action
Required

Council’s
Assessment
of Residual
Risk

Timing

(June 21)

(Jan 20)
engagement is undertaken if the permission is
granted to attempt to secure a pre-let.

part of delivery of
phase 1 of the scheme.

Page 108

13 The current contractor procurement strategy is based Medium
on partnership working and avoiding the contractor
overpricing risk. If cost certainty is important then
alternative procurement options could be considered.

Actioned. See procurement update in main report.

Implement agreed
procurement approach.

Closed

Not applicable

14 For the construction phase of the project
consideration should be given to the project team
structure. There should be clear separation of roles
between the client and contractor. Conflicts of
interest should be avoided with clear lines of
accountability and formal roles and responsibilities.
The consolidation of the project and cost
management roles would be expected to result in
significant economies of scales and efficiencies if the
same company undertook the contract
administration function. It is recommended that WSC
engages and retains their own design and quality
inspection teams, to challenge and hold to account
the design and construction teams engaged by the
contractor. These should be separate appointments
and any overlaps are likely to cause a conflict of
interest.

Low

Agreed. Nothing to add.

Build advice into the
procurement and
appointment of the
professional team for
the next stage of the
project

Closed

Not applicable.

15 It is recommended that confirmatory approval is
sought at the appropriate level of governance within
the Council to proceed with the project once the
procurement of a contractor has resulted in a
preferred bidder being selected and final costs are
understood. This should precede entering into the
contract and securing the loan.

Low

Agreed. This is a sensible final stage of assurance and
political oversight before taking the final decision to
proceed and will give the Council greater cost certainty in
the light of full market testing. Additional gateways in
the run up to this decision are also now planned (see
main report).

Build Cabinet approval
into the project
programme.

Closed

Before award of
final contract

APPENDIX 3 WWD FINAL BUSINESS CASE

Client: West Suffolk Council
Project: Western Way Development

10th June 2021

Risk Register
Introduction
The purpose of the Risk Assessment procedure is to encourage the identification and awareness of potential risks to the project. The risks being identified and treated by this procedure are those that will impact, (usually adversely) on the project.
The project will adopt a scale of 1 to 5 to measure likelihood and consequence; the most significant risks will be identified by multiplying likelihood by consequence:

Estimating Risk

Key

Risk Grading Matrix

Definitions
Likelihood
Risk = the likelihood of an event occurring in combination with the
1 = very unlikely
consequence of that event
Likelihood = how likely is it that a particular event will occur (also known
2 = unlikely
as chance or probability)

Ratings

Consequence
1 = insignificant

1 > 4 = very low

2 = minor

5 > 9 = low

Design Team

PM

Project Manager

WSC

Consequence = the likely foreseeable impact of event occurring

3 = fairly likely

3 = moderate

10 >14 = medium

Risk rating = Likelihood (L) x Consequence (C)

4 = likely

4 = major

15 > 19 = high

5 = very serious

20 > 25 = very high

Residual Risk = is the estimated risk that remains after any Mitigation
5 = very likely
Actions and controls have been implemented

DT

West Suffolk Council

RISK IDENTITY AND ASSESSMENT

1

When

Page 109

S/N

FBC

POTENTIAL RISKS

Service partners do not sign up to project in anticipated
timescales or with sufficient commitment.

LIKELIHOOD

CONSEQUENCE

(L)

(C)

Graded 1 to 5

Graded 1 to 5

Value

Severity

4

5

20

H

Risk Rating

2

Pre Con Interest rate rises increase cost of borrowing.

3

5

15

H

3

FBC/
Delay to programme causes uplift to inflation costs.
Pre Con

3

5

15

H

Scheme does not contribute to Council's agenda to tackle
climate change.

2

5

10

M

Partners pull out of project after planning or construction
stages.

3

5

15

H

4

FBC

5

Pre Con

6

FBC

Opportunities missed for public sector scheme.

2

3

6

L

7

FBC

Building footprint cannot accommodate all of the identified
public sector user requirements.

2

4

8

L

5

5

25

H

3

5

15

H

8

Pre Con Financial viability of development.

9

Pre Con

10

Pre Con NHS logistics cannot relocate before 2020, or later.

2

5

10

M

11

Pre Con Delay or difficulties achieving planning permission

3

4

12

M

Potential transport issues put pressure on existing
infrastructure.

Mitigation action

Engage with partners. FBC team to ensure a viable
secondary scheme is in place to have the ability to
react to changing demand / stakeholder leases.
Keep under close review. Review borrowing rates to
ensure best rates are achieved. Maintain pace on
project to lock in current rates. Use higher than
current rate in model as contingency.
FBC has been adopted and planning permission has
been obtained. Maintain pace of programme. Allow
suitable provision for inflation in cost plan.
Ensure environmental credentials are planned in
during design stages and allowances are made in
cost plan and travel plan. Seek funding.
Continue to engage partners during pre-construction
stages. Agreements are in place to cover abortive
costs. Consider a phased build approach of partner
elements if necessary.
Wide engagement of partners, including LEP, and
wide consultation with stakeholders to inform content
and design of scheme.
Design team to undertake detailed Stakeholder
Briefings (with area requirement schedule) to
manage expectations. Retain flexible and futureproofed design.
Continue to generate value engineering opportunities
and additional revenue throughout design process.
Income / borrowing assumptions to be kept under
continual review. Seek funding.
WWD fed into 6th Form scheme. Detailed transport
study was completed as part of planning submission.
Robust travel plan.
Unipart have relocated to new site.
Ongoing meetings with LPA / Design Team and Pre
Apps

Appendix 3 WWD Business Case - Risk Register

LIKELIHOOD

CONSEQUENCE

Residual Risk Rating

Risk

(L)

(C)

(after Mitigation)

Owner /

Graded 1 to 5

Graded 1 to 5

Value

Severity

Action

3

4

12

M

PM

3

5

15

H

WSC

3

5

15

H

WSC/ PM/ DT

1

5

5

L

WSC / DT

3

4

12

M

WSC

1

2

2

L

WSC

1

4

4

L

DT

3

4

12

M

PM / DT

2

4

8

L

DT

1

5

5

L

PM / WSC

Closed out.

2

4

8

L

PM / DT

Closed out.

Status/Comments

Page 1

RISK IDENTITY AND ASSESSMENT
S/N

POTENTIAL RISKS

When

12

Legal constraints including 3rd Party constraints (i.e.
Pre Con rights of way, easements, covenants, land ownerships) on
site prevent/delay proposed development.

13

Pre Con

Delay to West Suffolk Operational Hub could delay start
on site.

LIKELIHOOD

CONSEQUENCE

(L)

(C)

Graded 1 to 5

Graded 1 to 5

Risk Rating
Value

Severity

M

WSC

PM

Car parking numbers were submitted and approved
as part of planning submission. To be reviewed
depending on design development. Draft travel plan
submitted as part of planning submission. Robust
detailed travel plan to be agreed during next stage.

2

3

6

L

DT

2

4

8

L

PM

2

5

10

M

DT

2

3

6

L

WSC

2

4

8

L

DT

3

5

15

H

WSC

2

4

8

L

DT

2

3

6

L

PM / DT

2

4

8

L

PM / DT

2

4

8

L

PM / WSC

1

3

3

L

PM

2

3

6

L

DT

3

3

9

L

PM / Contractor

2

4

8

L

DT / WSC / PM

2

4

8

L

WSC

Con

Cost overrun.

3

5

15

H

17

Con

Inability to attract prospective occupiers/ users.

2

3

6

L

Building Constraints including condition of existing frame /
slab.

3

4

12

M

4

5

20

H

Page 110

16

20

Pre Con

Infrastructure - availability of UKPN network capacity and
dependence on renewables funding.

4

4

16

H

21

Pre Con

Failure to obtain value from Pre-construction services
agreement (PCSA) as part of two stage tender process.

3

3

9

L

22

FBC/ Failure to choose a project team / contractor with the
Pre Con correct ethos.

Insolvencies within supply chain.

10

L

M

Con

5

5

12

26

2

5

4

FBC/ Building Information Management (BIM) protocol - info
Pre Con exchange and level of detail agreed by Client.

Action

1

3

25

Severity

ongoing communication between the projects.

Programme duration is extended.

Poor communications / collaboration with contractor.

Value

L

Con

FBC

Graded 1 to 5

5

15

24

Graded 1 to 5

5

L

FBC

Owner /

1

6

23

(after Mitigation)

H

3

Brexit - cost impact on items or labour sourced from the
EU, public sector funding and/or commercial demand for
space in WWD.

(C)

15

2

FBC/
Pre Con Failure to secure external funding.
/Con

Risk

(L)

5

Car parking demand exceeds supply.

19

Residual Risk Rating

3

FBC

Con

CONSEQUENCE

Client Legal team attending weekly meetings and
investigating/securing land ownership or right of
access. Leases to be reviewed. SCC & College are
being engaged with and agreements being sought
with relevant land owners. SCC and WSC core
partners.

14

18

Mitigation action

LIKELIHOOD

3

5

15

H

3

4

12

M

2

3

6

L

3

3

9

L

4

3

12

M

27

FBC/
Reputational damage.
Pre Con

3

4

12

M

28

FBC/ 3rd Party Constraints / lack of cooperation which would
Pre Con prevent viable FBC e.g. Land Ownership

3

4

12

M

Early engagement with supply chain. Robust project
governance. Flexible procurement approach to allow
partners to catch up.
Regular cost reviews during next design stages.
Phasing and fall-back options developed. Seek
external funding to allow for high range cost
estimates to be affordable.
Review demand including offices against post Covid19 demand. Flexible core design in terms of uses
and phasing. Engage with public partners
throughout process. Early marketing.
Further reviews / surveys to be carried out. Early
engagement with contractors has taken place to
understand their view on inheriting frame. Sufficient
contingency planned into cost plan.
FBC base case to always show the scheme has
potential to be viable without funding; external
funding required for added value and scheme
robustness. Early engagement with funders/funding
bids. Planning consent obtained demonstrating
deliverability.
Capacity from UKPN secured. Design team
designing scheme which is not reliant on large
upgrade to UKPN capacity. Review against updated
proposals. Demonstrate case for investing in
renewables.
Correct PCSA, KPI and contractor choice. Early
engagement of construction team at this stage.
Support from framework provider.
Procurement Report to be reviewed at FBC stage.
Suitable frameworks, which have pre-screened
contractors, have been reviewed and chosen. Robust
selection process and project governance.
Review at business case finalisation stage to identify
mitigation if required. Consider updated procurement
law. Council to engage in county-wide Brexit
planning with partners and government to mitigate
impact.
Establish good protocols and team ethos to maintain
positivity.
Document Building Information Modelling Execution
Plan (BEP)/ Protocol during business case
finalisation stage.
Contractor to manage / report during construction.
Use of national level contractors to mitigate risk on
main project.
Proper internal and external communication and
consultation. Robust FBC focused on financial
viability.
Agreement being sought with relevant land owners.
SCC and WSC core partners.

Appendix 3 WWD Business Case - Risk Register

Status/Comments

Closed out.

merge with risk 12

Page 2

RISK IDENTITY AND ASSESSMENT
S/N

29

30

31

32

34

FBC

POTENTIAL RISKS

Councillors cannot support the capital investment required
and/or there is evidence that the required funding could
create a possible deficit for the Council.

External market impacts financial viability and delivery.
FBC/ Economic downturn. Capital cost exceeds anticipated
Pre Con income. Reduced market demands.

FBC/ Delays to programme: Poor governance arrangements,
Pre Con decision making process, lack of forward planning.

FBC

Student Accommodation Business Case not viable or
delivered

CONSEQUENCE

(L)

(C)

Graded 1 to 5

Graded 1 to 5

3

5

Risk Rating
Value

15

Mitigation action

Severity

H

3

4

12

M

3

4

12

M

Continue regular communication with councillors
including briefings at key stages (including June
2021 update report). Seek additional grant funding.
Alternative delivery options developed as part of the
business case. Communication Plan.
Acknowledgement that if the programme isn’t
deemed viable it will be stopped.

Financial modelling to be undertaken at key stages.
Seeking grant funding as soon as possible. Obtain
expert advice where required. Regular briefings to
councillors, leadership team and public sector
partners. Acknowledgement that if the programme
isn’t deemed viable it will be stopped and reviewed
when market recovers.

Detailed programme with anticipated dates
continually reviewed and communicated to ensure on
schedule. Programme reviewed at weekly meetings.
Carter Jonas Report reviewing guarantee / model for
student accommodation business case. Take
forward as separate project subject to under-writing
of voids.
Procurement Report and Review has taken place for
FBC. Use of frameworks reduces the risk of delay.
Strong project governance and fall-back options
available.
Contingency or method to generate further income to
cover unknown costs. Continued dialogue with
planning, highways and utilities.
Refurbishment and Demolition survey carried out
and allowance for removal has been included in Cost
Plan.

LIKELIHOOD

CONSEQUENCE

Residual Risk Rating

Risk

(L)

(C)

(after Mitigation)

Owner /

Graded 1 to 5

Graded 1 to 5

Value

Severity

Action

2

5

10

M

WSC

2

4

8

L

DT / WSC

2

4

8

L

PM

2

3

6

L

WSC

1

3

3

L

PM / DT

2

4

8

L

DT / WSC

2

3

6

L

DT

3

4

12

M

Delays to programme: Proposed procurement option is
FBC/
found to be inappropriate and deemed not value for
Pre Con
money.

2

4

8

L

Pre Con Additional unknown costs.

2

4

8

L

3

4

12

M

3

4

12

M

Ensure phasing of programme allows for roof
removal outside nesting season. Ensure partners
understand obligations re project timetable.

1

3

3

L

PM

2

3

6

L

DT

Page 111

33

When

LIKELIHOOD

35

Con

36

Con

Delays to programme: Extent of asbestos removal
greater than anticipated or Increased demolition cost.

Delay to programme: Nesting birds prevent demolition
and/or withdrawal of key partners due to missing key date.

37

FBC

Leisure centre site not large enough for facilities required.

3

4

12

M

Continues discussions had with leisure provider,
Sport England and Swim England in order to confirm
facility mix required. Flexible pool hall design and
ability to extend dry-side facilities externally and
further into PSV frame incorporated into design.

38

FBC

Unregistered piece of land on Beetons Way (only a risk if
requirement for a secondary entrance to the car park from
Beeton's Way in phase 1).

4

3

12

M

Council have submitted a registry claim and also
other options to secure title and/or right of access.
Other preferred options to gain access to car park.

2

3

6

L

WSC

M

Strong strategic case for WWD. Ensure that scheme
is able to service debt associated with its business
case. Monitor overall borrowing cost exposure as
part of the capital strategy and treasury management
activities. Alternative borrowing methods continue to
be explored.

3

3

9

L

WSC

M

Working in close proximity to residential areas, the
existing leisure centre, surrounding businesses and
the Skate Park, contractor to ensure that any
increased traffic, noise and air pollution is reduced
and managed as necessary .

2

2

4

L

Contractor

39

40

FBC

Con

Opportunity cost of future projects by borrowing for WWD
and Leisure Centre now.

Impact of the construction process on surrounding
neighbours.

4

4

3

3

12

12

Appendix 3 WWD Business Case - Risk Register

Status/Comments

Closed out.

Page 3

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Report number: COU/WS/21/008

Annual Scrutiny
Report 2020-2021

1

Page 113

Introduction

Councillor Ian Shipp

Councillor Ian Houlder

Chair of the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee 2020-2021

Chair of the Performance and Audit
Scrutiny Committee 2020-2021

The West Suffolk Scrutiny Annual Report 2020-2021 highlights the work
undertaken by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee and the Performance and
Audit Scrutiny Committee over the past year.
This report presents some of the accomplishments and highlights of the scrutiny
committees which have a vital role in helping the authority to continue to
improve and strength. The following report aims to give a flavour of the work
undertaken during 2020-2021 and to confirm to Council it has operated to
deliver its role in line with its terms of reference.
The work has been varied and we have done our upmost to make it transparent,
relevant and insightful. We would like to thank councillors, officers, partners and
members of the public who have taken part in this important work and hope you
find this annual report both informative and interesting. We hope it may also
encourage you to follow the progress of the scrutiny function at West Suffolk
Council. We always welcome members of the public putting forward suggestions
for us to review, and you are welcome to find out more about our work on the
Council’s website

2

Page 114

3

Page 115

Overview and Scrutiny Committee
Key themes during 2020-2021
The COVID-19 pandemic had a fundamental impact on West Suffolk Council and
its communities. In June 2020, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee elected to
focus its work over the coming year on the response to the pandemic.
Activity

Outcome

In June, the committee heard from
the Leader and Chief Executive to
understand more about the
immediate response to the pandemic
and how it was impacting on West
Suffolk Council and its communities.

The committee identified future
areas of focus and areas where they
could add value through further
review.

Activity

Outcome

In September, the committee
received a report on how West
Suffolk communities responded to
the crisis.

The committee supported four
recommendations including the
development of a volunteering
strategy and enhancing community
emergency plans.

Activity

Outcome

In November 2020 and March 2021,
the committee received reports on
progress in implementing major
capital projects during the pandemic.

The committee gained assurance as
to how the projects had been reappraised and were progressing.

Other areas of focus
The other major national event of the past year has been Brexit. In March
2021, the committee explored how Brexit had impacted on West Suffolk
Council and whether there are further actions the council can take to support
its communities.
The committee has a key role in scrutinising community safety. In September
2020, the committee received the Western Suffolk Community Safety
Partnership Annual Report, recognising the need to undertake further
evaluation of West Suffolk Council’s work to tackle modern day slavery. In
January, the committee endorsed the need to review the council’s public space
protection orders.
4

Page 116

Performance and Audit Scrutiny Committee
Key themes during 2020-2021
In the same way that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee have focused on
the COVID-19 pandemic, the Performance and Audit Scrutiny’s programme has
been impacted by the pandemic given the dramatic impact the pandemic has
had on West Suffolk Council’s financial position.
The committee has received quarterly financial and performance reports to
understand how the pandemic has impacted on the achievement of West
Suffolk Council’s objectives, recognising the need for the council’s priorities
to change during the pandemic.
The committee has evaluated quarterly and annual financial resilience
reports to understand how the pandemic has impacted on West Suffolk
Council’s longer term financial position.
The committee assessed how the pandemic has impacted on the work of
West Suffolk Council’s internal and external audit services, assessing
whether, in the environment, sufficient assurance can be gained to provide
audit opinions for the council.
The committee has evaluated the development of West Suffolk Council’s
budget, including both the annual and medium-term financial budget, to
understand the longer-term effects of the pandemic on the council’s
finances.
The Health and Safety Sub-Committee has evaluated what steps West
Suffolk Council is taking to protect staff and the public during the pandemic,
in terms of both physical equipment and measures and the wellbeing of
staff.

5

Page 117

Scrutiny on a page
Over the past year, the scrutiny committees have
collectively considered the following:
Council response to
COVID-19

Monitoring the Cabinet
Decisions Plan

Annual Governance
Statement

Community Safety
Partnership Annual
Report

External Audit Plan

Statement of Accounts

Review of the
community response to
COVID-19

External Audit Annual
Report and Annual
Audit Letter

Sustainable medium
term budget reports

Reports on the activity
of Suffolk County
Council Health
Overview and Scrutiny
Committee

Internal Audit Annual
Report and Mid-year
Report

Local Government
Ombudsman Annual
Report

Impact of COVID-19
on major capital
projects

Internal Audit Plan

Health and safety
incidence reports

Review of the public
space protection orders

Year-end performance
out-turn

Health and safety
measures to support
COVID-19

Impact of Brexit on
West Suffolk

Quarterly performance
reports

Health and safety
policy amendments

Progress on the
Mildenhall Hub

Annual financial
resilience report

Health and Safety
Training report

Quarterly financial
resilience reports

Financial resilience
strategy

Impact of COVID-19
on staff wellbeing

6

Page 118

The year ahead
The Overview and Scrutiny Committee has committed to
three reviews during the next year:


A strategic review of West Suffolk Council’s Markets service, evaluating how
it functions to support the local economy and market traders.



A review of the West Suffolk Council website, assessing the ease of use of
the most frequently used functions and services.



A review of West Suffolk Council’s approach to modern day slavery (this
review is presently awaiting new government guidance).

Both committees will also be continuing to evaluate the ongoing impact of the
pandemic. For example, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee will be receiving
a report from Anglia Revenues Partnership on how the pandemic has impacted
on their work, whilst the Performance and Audit Committee will continue to
evaluate the council’s financial and non-financial performance.

7

Page 119

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009

Great Barton Neighbourhood
Plan: referendum and decision
to ‘make’ (adopt) as a West
Suffolk Development Plan
document
Report number:

COU/WS/21/009

Report to and date:

Council

Cabinet member:

Councillor David Roach
Portfolio Holder for Local Plan Development and Delivery
Telephone: 01440 768966
Email: david.roach@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Marie Smith
Service Manager (Strategic Planning)
Telephone: 01638 719260
Email: marie.smith@westsuffolk.gov.uk

22 June 2021

Ann-Marie Howell
Principal Planning Policy Officer
Telephone: 01284 757368
Email: ann-marie.howell@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Not applicable as this is not an executive matter

Wards impacted:

The Fornhams and Great Barton ward

Recommendation:

It is recommended that:
1.

West Suffolk Council “makes” (adopts) the
Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan
(Referendum version) so that it becomes
part of the statutory development plan, and
a material consideration for determining

Page 121

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009
planning applications in the Great Barton
Neighbourhood Area; and
2.

gives delegated authority to the Service
Manager (Strategic Planning), to make
minor non material consequential changes
to the plan, as necessary, and exercise all of
the Council’s functions and responsibilities
in relation to making the Great Barton
Neighbourhood Plan.

Page 122

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009

1.

Context to this report

1.1

Neighbourhood plans were introduced into the planning process by the
Localism Act 2011. They aim to allow local communities to take
responsibility for guiding development in their area. This approach was
subsequently embedded in the National Planning Policy Framework
(NPPF) in 2012, and subsequent revisions in 2018 and 2019.

1.2

Legislation requires a neighbourhood to meet a set of basic conditions, in
summary it must:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Have regard to national policies and advice
Contribute to the achievement of sustainable development
Be in general conformity with the strategic policies of the
development plan
Not breach, and be otherwise compatible with, European Union and
European Convention on Human Rights obligations

1.3

In order for a Neighbourhood Plan to become part of the development
plan it must follow a statutory process involving public consultation at
each formal stage including the designated of the plans area, presubmission, submission, examination and finally by referendum.

2.

Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan

2.1

The neighbourhood plan area was designated in June 2016 and
subsequently amended in January 2019 following a community
governance review. The designated area includes all of the parish of
Great Barton. See map on the link below: Great-Barton-revised-areamap.pdf (westsuffolk.gov.uk)

2.2

The Neighbourhood Plan underwent one round of pre submission
consultation between January – March 2020.

3.

Examination

3.1

The Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan was submitted to the Council for
examination in May 2020 and was subsequently publicised for
consultation in June to August 2020. All comments received were passed
to an independent examiner, Andrew Ashcroft, for consideration alongside
the Submission Neighbourhood Plan in August 2020.

3.2

The examiner’s report was issued to West Suffolk Council in October 2020
and found that, subject to modifications, the plan met the basic
conditions for the preparation of a neighbourhood plan. The report stated
in summary that:

Page 123

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009





The Plan includes a variety of policies and seeks to bring forward
positive and sustainable development in the neighbourhood area.
There is a very clear focus on designating local green spaces and
safeguarding its attractive and distinctive character. It includes
policies on two strategic sites. It is a very effective Plan which
carefully addresses a series of important issues that face the local
community.
The Plan has been underpinned by community support and
engagement. It is clear that all sections of the community have been
engaged in its preparation.
Subject to a series of recommended modifications set out in this
report I have concluded that the Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan
meets all the necessary legal requirements and should proceed to
referendum.

4.

Referendum and ‘making’ the Neighbourhood
Plan

4.1

Following the examination, West Suffolk Council, in consultation with
Great Barton Parish Council considered and accepted the examiner’s
recommendations and issued the decision that the amended Great Barton
Neighbourhood Plan could proceed to a referendum. Due to the Covid-19
pandemic all elections were postponed until May 2021.

4.2

The referendum on 6 May 2021 asked the question "Do you want West
Suffolk Council to use the Neighbourhood Plan for Great Barton to help it
decide planning applications in the neighbourhood area?" The
Neighbourhood Plan was successful at the referendum with a clear
majority of 688 people voting ‘Yes’ and 91 ‘No’ from a turnout of 45
percent.

4.3

The Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 requires Local Planning
Authorities ‘make’ (adopt) a Neighbourhood Development Plan if more
than half of those voting at a Referendum have voted in favour of the
Plan. The Plan must be made as soon as reasonably practicable, and no
longer than eight weeks, after the referendum is held.

4.4

Council can only decide to refuse the plan at this stage if it considers that
the making of the plan would breach, or would otherwise be incompatible
with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights (within the
meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). The Legislative Compliance
check undertaken by West Suffolk Council in November 2020 considered
that the referendum version Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan proposal
met the legislative requirements; and furthermore, the Plan proposal met
the basic conditions of neighbourhood planning including EU Obligations
or any of the Convention Rights (within the meaning of the Human Rights
Act 1998).

Page 124

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009

5.

Conclusion

5.1

The Council has a duty to support communities who are preparing
Neighbourhood Plans. The Regulations detail the Council’s responsibilities.
The Plan has been independently examined and agreed by West Suffolk
Council to meet the Basic Conditions; it has been endorsed by the
community at Referendum and has otherwise complied with all the legal
requirements of plan production. It is considered that the Plan meets
European legislation and is compatible with the European Convention on
Human Rights within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998 and
should therefore be ‘made’ to become part of the development plan for
West Suffolk.

6.

Next steps

6.1

In accordance with Regulation 19 and 20 of the 2012 Regulations, the
Council must as soon possible after deciding whether to make a
neighbourhood development plan:
a.

Publish on its website and in such other manner as is likely to bring
the Plan to the attention of people who live, work or carry on
business in the neighbourhood area the ‘decision statement’ and
neighbourhood plan, giving details of where and when they can be
inspected.

b.

Send a copy of the ‘decision statement’ to the parish council,
statutory consultees and any person who has asked to be notified
of the decision.

7.

Alternative options that have been considered

7.1

As a result of the successful referendum, the Council is obliged to proceed
to make the Plan as outlined above. The only exception to this is where
the Council considers the neighbourhood plan would breach, or otherwise
be incompatible with, any EU obligation or any of the Convention rights
(within the meaning of the Human Rights Act 1998). The Great Barton
Neighbourhood Plan is considered to be compatible with these rights and
obligations.

8.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

8.1

In accordance with the Neighbourhood Planning (General) Regulations
2012 the Parish Council has prepared a Consultation Statement for the
Neighbourhood Plan. This Statement is proportionate to the Plan area and
its policies. It summarises the key stages of consultation and provides the
details in a series of appendices. The Statement records the various
activities that were held to engage the local community and the feedback
from each event. It also provides specific details on the consultation

Page 125

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009
processes that took place on the second pre-submission version of the
Plan.
9.

Implications arising from the proposals

9.1

Financial - The Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government
make funds available to local authorities to cover the extra burden of
supporting neighbourhood plan preparation and the referendum process.
This must be claimed within specific deadlines when the application
window is open.
If the Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan is ‘made’ (adopted), and West
Suffolk Council decides to later implement Community Infrastructure Levy
(CIL), then the making of the Neighbourhood Plan will enable Great
Barton Parish Council to receive 25 percent of any CIL receipts from
development in its area from that date onwards.

9.2

Legal Compliance - A legal challenge can be made in relation to:
a.

The Council declining to make a Neighbourhood Plan which has
been successful at referendum within eight weeks. (Unless agreed
with the qualifying body or if the plan is considered to breach the
EU obligations or convention rights). Proceedings must be bought
within six weeks of the day the decision is published.

b.

The conduct of the referendum. Proceedings must be bought by a
claim for judicial review filed within six weeks beginning the day on
which the results are published.

9.3

Environment or Sustainability - The Neighbourhood Plan General
Regulations 2015 require a qualifying body either to submit an
environmental report prepared in accordance with the Environmental
Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004 or a statement of
reasons why an environmental report is not required. In order to comply
with this requirement, officers undertook a screening exercise in May
2020 on the need or otherwise for a Strategic Environmental Assessment
(SEA) to be prepared for the Plan. It was concluded that the
neighbourhood plan is not likely to have any significant effects on the
environment and accordingly would not require SEA. The plan proposals
have not significantly changed since that time.

9.4

Changes to existing policies - The Neighbourhood Plan (NP) meets the
basic condition of being in general conformity with the strategic policies in
the relevant elements of the West Suffolk Development Plan. The NP adds
a local dimension and detail to this strategic context on a number of
issues in Great Barton. If ‘made’ the NP will become part of the West
Suffolk development plan and its policies a material consideration when
determining planning applications in the neighbourhood area.

Page 126

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/009

10.

Background documents associated with this
report

10.1

The full Great Barton Neighbourhood Plan (referendum version), policies
maps and supporting documents can be viewed online at
www.westsuffolk.gov.uk/greatbartonplan

Page 127

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/010

Constitution
amendments
Report number:

COU/WS/21/010

Report to and dates:

Constitution Review
Group

10 May 2021

Council

22 June 2021

Cabinet member:

Councillor Carol Bull
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Telephone: 01953 681513
Email: carol.bull@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officer:

Leah Mickleborough
Service Manager (Democratic Services) and Monitoring
Officer
Telephone: 01284 757162
Email: leah.mickleborough@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Decisions Plan:

Not applicable as this is not an executive matter

Wards impacted:

None

Recommendation:

It is recommended that Council APPROVES:
1.

the amendment to the Officer Appointments
Committee and the creation of an
Independent Panel, as attached at Appendix
1 to Report number: COU/WS/21/010.

2.

The amendments to the Officer Code of
Conduct, as attached at Appendix 2.

3.

The amendments to the Budget and Policy
Framework Procedure Rules, as set out in
section 4 of Report number:
COU/WS/21/010.

Page 129

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/010

1.
1.1

2.

Background
The Constitution Review Group is appointed by Council to consider
proposed changes to the Constitution. At its meeting on 10 May 2021, the
Group met to consider a number of proposed changes, and recommends
these to Council, as follows:

Officer appointments procedures

2.1

In 2015, the Government issued regulations requiring authorities to put in
place specific procedures in the event it wished to dismiss its statutory
officers (the Head of Paid Service – or Chief Executive, the s.151 Officer –
or senior finance officer, and the Monitoring Officer). The regulations were
designed to ensure that authorities could not unfairly dismiss statutory
officers to stop them reporting unlawful acts or other public interest
matters.

2.2

The regulations require that where the Council is considering dismissing a
statutory officer, a panel is convened, including at least two independent
persons, to review the case and recommend an outcome to Council. If the
statutory officer is unhappy with the outcome, they should have a right of
appeal.

2.3

Within West Suffolk Council, we have set up a structure that reflects the
regulations. However, the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC), who
establish the terms of reference for employment of Chief Executives have
recently clarified that their terms require that all councils should create a
separate Independent Panel, that would consider dismissals against the
Chief Executive, rather than the independent persons forming part of a
member panel. As the JNC have noted, “a number” of authorities have not
set up their arrangements this way.

2.4

Therefore, to be compliant with both the regulations and the Chief
Executive terms of employment, we need to establish the Independent
Panel solely to consider dismissal cases against the Chief Executive, whilst
making amendments to the existing Officer Appointments Committee
terms of references in respect of both the Independent Panel and
arrangements for the other statutory officers. Proposed revised terms of
reference are included at Appendix 1.

3.

3.1

Amendments to the Code of Conduct for
employees
Each year, a very small number of officers are offered gifts or hospitality.
In accordance with guidance, these offers are usually refused in the first
instance unless it would genuinely cause offence but there are a very small
number of cases which are accepted.

Page 130

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/010
3.2

The Code of Conduct requires that each service Director keeps a record of
gifts and hospitality offered. Each January, the Chief Executive inspects the
records, and then in April they are also provided to the Service Manager –
Internal Audit.

3.3

For the relatively low number of instances each year, a recent audit review
highlighted that this process could be made more efficient if a register was
maintained by the Monitoring Officer, and inspected once annually by the
Chief Executive and Service Manger – Internal Audit. Directors would still
be required to determine whether an offer should be accepted or not.

3.4

As a result, changes to the Code of Conduct for Employees are proposed in
Appendix 2.

4.

Budget and policy framework procedure rules

4.1

At the recent budget-setting Council meeting held in February 2021, there
was some debate about amendments to the budget. At present, the
Constitution makes clear that members are welcome to submit
amendments, and that “All potential amendments to the budget must be
assessed for their financial implications prior to the Council meeting to
comply with Financial Procedures. To avoid any problems arising from this
requirement, all proposed amendments to the budget will therefore be
notified in advance to the Chief Executive and section 151 Officer.”

4.2

In light of the debate at Council, officers have reviewed the procedures and
whilst we are satisfied there is a clear opportunity for members to raise
amendments, to aid clarity it is suggested that the Procedure Rules are
amended so that proposed amendments to the budget must be notified to
the Chief Executive and section 151 Officer “at least 5 clear working days
before the Council meeting” to ensure there is time for the section 151
Officer to ensure proposals are robust and can still deliver a balanced
budget.

5.
5.1
6.

Implications arising from this report
There are no direct implications arising from this report

Appendices referenced in this report

6.1

Appendix 1 – terms of reference for Officer Appointments
Committee and Independent Panel

6.2

Appendix 2 – revised section 14.3 and 14.4 of the Code of Conduct
for Employees

Page 131

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 1
Revised terms of reference for the Officer Appointments Committee and
terms of reference for the Independent Panel
Officer Appointments Committee
1.

Membership and Meeting Arrangements

1.1

Membership of the Committee shall comprise:
a) six Members of the Authority.
b) The Council’s Independent Persons, if they agree to be part of the
Committee when the Committee is considering dismissal of the s.151
Officer or Monitoring Officer

1.2

In addition, two substitute Members of the authority will be appointed.

1.3

The Committee will be appointed annually by the Council and will be
politically balanced. If the Council’s Annual Meeting is cancelled,
deferred or delayed, the Committee shall continue to serve until they
are re-appointed by the Council.

1.4

Any Member of the Council can serve on the Committee provided that
they are not also a Member of the Officer Appeals Committee.

1.5

The Committee’s membership must include at least one Member of the
Cabinet.

1.6

The Committee will appoint its own Chair and Vice Chair.

1.7

The Committee will meet on an ad hoc basis as required.

1.8

Voting will be undertaken by a show of hands. All members of the
Committee, including the Independent Persons, shall have equal voting
rights

2.

Functions/Remit

2.1

To deal with the appointment, discipline and termination of employment
of the Head of Paid Service and Strategic Directors of the West Suffolk
Council in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules

2.2

Where the Committee is considering dismissal of the Head of Paid
Service, they are obligated to consider the views and findings of the
Independent Panel

Page 133

Independent Panel
1. Membership and Meeting Arrangements
1.1

Membership shall consist of the Council’s at least two Independent
Persons appointed for the purpose of s.28(7) of the Localism Act 2011

1.2

If the Independent Persons appointed by West Suffolk Council are
unable to participate, then any Independent Person appointed by any
other Council for the purpose of s.28(7) of the Localism Act 2011 shall
be invited to join the Panel so that it comprises of at least two
Independent Persons.

1.3

The Panel shall meet on an ad-hoc basis as required and may elect to
undertake its meetings in a manner it considers appropriate for the
discharging of its functions

2. Function / Remit
2.1

The function of the Independent Panel shall be to consider dismissal
proceedings against the Head of Paid Service. They shall be obligated to
consider the findings of an investigator and reach a conclusion on the
matters raised. Their conclusions shall be reported to the Officer
Appointments Committee.

Page 134

Appendix 2
Amendments to the Code of Conduct for Employees
14.3

Gifts

14.3.1 Any offer, gift, favour or hospitality directed at individual employees or
members should be treated with caution.
14.3.2 An employee should tactfully refuse any personal gift offered to them or a
member of their family, by or indirectly attributable to, any person or body
who has, or may have, dealings of any kind with the Council (including
applications for planning permission or other kind of decision).
14.3.3 An employee should not accept any inducements which could be considered
payment in kind, such as money, goods such as chocolates or alcohol, or
tickets for events. If refusal would offend, the gift should be reported to their
Director of Service/Strategic Director.
14.3.4 The only exceptions to these rules are insignificant items of token value such
as pens, diaries, calendars etc.
14.3.5 In the event of an employee receiving a gift without warning to which refusal
would give offence, this should be reported immediately to their Director of
Service, Strategic Director or the Section 151 Officer.
14.3.6 The Director of Service, Strategic Director or the Section 151 Officer shall be
responsible for deciding whether the gift should be retained, returned or
forwarded to some charitable or other deserving cause. Any gifts offered or
received shall be recorded in a register held by the Monitoring Officer.
Registers will be retained for a period of 6 years plus the current year.
14.3.7 The register will be reviewed annually, in January, by the Chief Executive to
ensure that it is up-to-date and working effectively. The register shall also be
open to inspection by the internal and external auditors. The Monitoring
Officer will issue an annual reminder to staff to ensure they are aware of the
procedures for declaring gifts and hospitality.
14.4

Giving and Receiving Hospitality

14.4.1 Employees should only accept offers of hospitality if there is a genuine need
to impart information or represent the local authorities in the community.
Offers to attend purely social or sporting functions should be accepted only
when these are part of the life of the community or where the Council should
be seen to be represented. If there is any doubt please refer the matter to
the appropriate Director of Service. They should be properly authorised and
recorded in the register held by the Monitoring Officer.
14.4.2 When hospitality has to be declined those making the offer should be
courteously but firmly informed of the procedures and standards operating
within the Council.

Page 135

14.4.3 Acceptance by employees of hospitality through attendance at relevant
conferences and courses is acceptable where it is clear the hospitality is
corporate rather than personal, where the Director of Service/Strategic
Director/Section 151 Officer gives consent to attendance in advance and
where the Councils are satisfied that any purchasing decisions are not
compromised. Where visits to inspect equipment etc are required, employees
should ensure that the Council meets the cost of such visits to avoid
jeopardising the integrity of subsequent purchasing decisions. Any
hospitality received should be notified in writing to the Director of
Service/Strategic Director/Section 151 Officer. This is recorded in the
Hospitality Register kept by the Monitoring Officer.

Page 136

Agenda Item 12

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/011

Pay Policy Statement
2021 to 2022
Report number:

COU/WS/21/011

Report to and date:

Council

Cabinet member:

Councillor Carol Bull
Portfolio Holder for Governance
Telephone: 01953 681513
Email: carol.bull@westsuffolk.gov.uk

Lead officers:

Jen Eves
Director (Human Resources, Governance and Regulatory)
Telephone: 01284 757015
Email: jennifer.eves@westsuffolk.gov.uk

22 June 2021

Wendy Canham
Service Manager (Human Resources and Organisational
Development)
Telephone: 01284 757006
Email: wendy.canham@westsuffolk.gov.uk
Decisions Plan:

Not applicable as this is not an executive matter.

Wards impacted:

All wards

Recommendation:

It is recommended that the Pay Policy Statement for
2021 to 2022, as contained in Appendix A to Report
number: COU/WS/21/011, be approved.

Page 137

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/011

1.

Context to this report and proposals

1.1

The Act and supporting guidance provides details of matters that
must be included in this statutory pay policy, but, also, emphasises
that each local authority has the autonomy to take its own decisions
on pay and pay policies. The Pay Policy Statement must be approved
formally by Council each year. The statement can be amended in
year, must be published on the Council’s website and must be
complied with when setting the terms and conditions of Chief Officers.

1.2

This Pay Policy Statement includes:
a.
b.
c.
d.
e.

the level and elements of remuneration for Chief Officers
(senior staff)
the remuneration of the lowest paid employees
the relationship between the remuneration of the highest and
lowest paid employees
other specific aspects of Chief Officer remuneration, fees and
charges and other discretionary payments.
the gender pay position

1.3

The Code of Practice for Local Authorities on Data Transparency
provides guidance on good practice in this area. The Council’s
approach to data transparency is to establish the Council as an open
and transparent council that, in time, not only embraces the
principles of the Code, but, publishes all information that is likely to
be of benefit to the communities and economy of our area.

1.4

Data can already be access through the ‘open data’ link on West
Suffolk Council’s website. The Pay Policy Statement is published in
that section annually.

2.

Alternative options considered

2.1

There are no alternative options as under Section 38/11 of the
Localism Act 2011, local authorities must produce and publish a Pay
Policy Statement annually.

3.

Consultation and engagement undertaken

3.1

Whilst there is no requirement to consult on this statement, it has
been shared with Unison.

4.

Risks associated with the proposals

4.1

There are no decisions to be made. Failure to comply with the
legislation would be a breach of the Act.

Page 138

Council – 22 June 2021 – COU/WS/21/011

5.

Appendices referenced in this report

5.1

Appendix A: Pay Policy Statement 2021 to 2022

Page 139

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix A

West Suffolk Council
Pay Policy Statement 2021 to 2022
1.

Introduction

1.1

We recognise that, in the context of managing scarce public
resources, remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate to
secure and retain high quality employees dedicated to the service of
the public, but at the same time needs to avoid being unnecessarily
generous or otherwise excessive.

1.2

It is important that local authorities are able to determine their own
pay policies and structures in order to address local priorities and to
compete in the local labour market. In particular, it is recognised
that senior management roles in local government are complex and
diverse functions in a highly politicised environment where often
national and local pressures conflict. Our ability to continue to
attract and retain high calibre leaders, capable of delivering this
complex agenda, particularly during times of financial challenge,
remains crucial if we are able to retain their current high
performance levels and ensure that West Suffolk services are
protected during this continuing period of economic uncertainty.

1.4

In June 2013, a single pay and reward strategy was secured
through collective agreement with Unison for all staff, except the
Leadership Team, whose pay had been brought together in October
2012.

1.5.

In April 2018 both full Councils (former St Edmundsbury and Forest
Heath councils) approved the recommendations from an
independent senior pay review, carried out by East of England Local
Government Association (EELGA), effective from 1 April 2019 and,
also, recommended a full pay review for all staff.

1.5

In April 2019 the new pay model’ introduced for the workforce,
achieved the following:







Incorporated the National Joint Council’s pay review and pay award.
Minimum pay of £9 per hour, an improved position in relation to the
national living wage of £8.21 per hour and ahead of the
Government’s proposed minimum wage of £9 per hour by 2020.
An improved position for the lower bands resulted in an increase in
starting salaries.
Addressed the equality risks by reducing the number of pay points
in each band from 9 to 6.
Addressed the pressures in recruitment and retention in lower pay
bands.
Increased the median salary, the middle earner.

Page 141

Appendix A
2.

Legislation

2.1

Section 38/1 of the Localism Act 2011 requires local authorities to
produce a Pay Policy Statement annually. This pay statement must
be prepared and approved for the end of the 31 March immediately
preceding the financial year to which it relates. The data in this
report, therefore, represents the period 1 April 2020 to 31 March
2021.

2.2

The Act, and supporting statutory guidance, provides details of
matters that must be included in this statutory pay policy, but, also,
emphasises that each local authority has the autonomy to take its
own decisions on pay and pay policies. The Pay Policy Statement is
approved formally by full Council annually. It must be published on
the Council’s website and be complied with when setting the terms
and conditions of Chief Officer employees.

2.3

In October 2014 the Department for Communities and Local
Government (DCLG), issued a Transparency Code for all public
sector bodies. This code required us to publish specific data on our
website from February 2015. We have published data on how we
organise our structures, our senior salaries for those whose
remuneration is at least £50,000; the pay multiple and any trade
union facility time given. The code was issued to as part of a drive
to increase local accountability, giving local people the opportunity
to contribute to the local decision-making process and help shape
their public services.

2.4

The National Minimum Wage applies for those aged 21 to 24 at
£8.20 per hour with effect from 1 April 2020, 18 to 20 is £6.45;
Under 18 is £4.55 and Apprentice rate for first year is £4.15 and
then paid at the rate for their age thereafter.

2.5

The National Living Wage applies for those aged 25 and over at
£8.72, with effect from 1 April 2020.

3.

Scope

3.1

This Pay Policy Statement includes:
a.
b.
c.
d.

3.2

the level and elements of pay for each Chief Officer
the pay of the lowest paid employees
the relationship between the pay of Chief Officers and other
officers
other specific aspects of Chief Officer remuneration, fees and
charges and other discretionary payments

Remuneration in this context is defined widely to include not just
pay, but also charges, fees, allowances, benefits in kind, increases
in enhancements of pension entitlements and termination
payments.

Page 142

Appendix A
4.

Principles

4.1

The following principles were agreed with Unison to guide the
development of the single pay and reward policy:











Single terms and conditions across both workforces
Affordable: within the Mid Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
Attractive: to recruit and retain
Responsible: maintains reputation
Legal: satisfies equality requirement
Fair: minimises risk of challenge
Drives: new organisational values
Rewards excellent performance
Manages unacceptable performance
Capable of achieving collective agreement

4.2

The remuneration of Chief Officers has been agreed outside of the
collective agreement process and in regard to pay, based on
Leadership Team pay correlating to the CE pay; local arrangements
are in place, as agreed by Councils in 2012, when the joint Chief
Executive and the Leadership Team were appointed.

5.

Senior pay

5.1

In this policy the senior pay group covers posts in the top three
tiers of the organisation. These include the Chief Executive,
Directors and Assistant Directors.

5.2

The Council currently has the following number of posts at this
level, 1 x Chief Executive, 2 x Directors, 6 x Assistant Directors.

5.3

The management structure of the Council can be found on the
Council website and on the intranet.

5.4

Chief Executive
a.

The salary for this post was originally established when the
Joint Chief Executive was appointed in April 2012. This is a
local grade, established in February 2012 and reviewed in
2018, following an analysis of the degree of responsibility in
the role, the downward movement in market rates,
benchmarking with other comparators and the ability to
recruit and retain an exceptional candidate. The current
range is £133,575 to £146,418.

b.

The salary of the Chief Executive with effect from 1 April
2020 was £141,281. There have been no additional bonuses,
performance, honoraria, or ex-gratia payments made.

c.

Other Conditions of Service are as prescribed by the Joint
National Council (JNC) for Local Authority Chief Executives

Page 143

Appendix A
National Conditions, apart from those determined locally, as
detailed in this policy.
5.5

Directors and Assistant Directors
a.

The salary for these posts has been established as a local
grade following an analysis of the degree of responsibility in
correlation to the Chief Executive, using the Local
Government Association (LGA) national recommended job
evaluation scheme for senior posts and reviewed as part of
the senior pay review in 2018.

The posts fall within the following ranges and incremental points:
Chief Officer Role
Director
Assistant Director

£
100,181
80,145

£
105,960
84,768

£
109,814
87,851

An additional payment of £5,000 per year is payable to those
undertaking the statutory Monitoring Officer and Section 151 roles.

5.6

b.

There are no other additional elements of remuneration in
respect of overtime, flexi-time, bank holiday working, standby payments, emergency call rota, etc, paid to these senior
staff, as they are expected to undertake duties outside their
contractual hours and working patterns without additional
payment.

c.

Other terms and conditions are as prescribed by the NJC for
Local Authority Services apart from those terms agreed
locally, as detailed in this policy.

d.

It is important to ensure that our Leadership Team salaries
remain competitive and are set at a level that will continue to
attract highly effective and experienced applicants for these
roles in the challenging local government labour market.
Marketing testing and data analysis on labour market rates
for salaries will continue to be independently obtained from
the LGA as required in order to ensure salaries are
competitive and that we recruitment and retain the right
calibre of officers.

Additional fees
The fees payable to the Returning Officer are set by statute for
national elections and are paid by central government. Fees are,
also, payable to the Council’s Returning Officer for local elections.
These fees are payable as required and can be made to any senior
officer appointed to fulfil the statutory duties of this role. The
Returning Officer is an officer of the Council who is appointed under
the Representation of the People Act 1983. Whilst appointed by the
Council, the role of the Returning Officer is one which involves, and

Page 144

Appendix A
incurs, personal responsibility and accountability and is statutorily
separate from his/her duties as an employee of the Council. As
Returning Officer, he/she is paid a separate allowance for each
election for which he/she is responsible.
6.

Pay structure

6.1

The pay structure for all contractual employees, except those staff
in the senior posts detailed above, is established using NJC for Local
Authorities Services National Pay Spine from spinal column point 1
(£17,842 per annum) to spinal column point 54 (£61,616 per
annum). The lowest paid contractual employee will be paid at spinal
point 1 (£9.25 per hour), at a full time equivalent basic pay rate of
£17,842 per annum. This is within Band 1 of the locally agreed pay
structure, which ranges from Band 1 to Band 8 and to Service
Manager. Casual staff, aged 25 and over, will be paid at the
National Living Wage of £8.72 per hour. Under age 25 will be paid
the national minimum wage of £8.20.

6.2

All posts, other than the senior posts, are evaluated using the NJC
Job Evaluation Scheme, which is recognised by employers and
trades unions nationally. This Scheme allows for robust
measurement against set criteria resulting in fair and objective
evaluations and satisfies equal pay requirements.

6.3

All employees, under NJC terms and conditions, receive the national
NJC cost of living award. The value of the scale points in these pay
grades are up lifted by the pay awards notified from time to time by
the National Joint Council for Local Government Services.

6.4

Progression within the grade for all staff is subject to performance,
which is assessed annually, in accordance with the performance
review scheme, and progression payments are effective from 1
October each year.

6.5

There is no ‘time served’ progression.

7.

Gender pay gap

7.1

As of 1 April 2018 public, private and voluntary sector organisations
with 250 or more employees were required to report on their
gender pay gaps. In 2016 the national gender pay gap for full time
employees was 9.4 percent, meaning that average pay for full time
female employees was 9.4 percent lower than for full time male
employees. In 2018 the national gender pay gap fell to 8.6 percent
but has since risen in 2019 to 8.9 percent.

7.2

For the period April 2019 to March 2020 our mean gender pay gap
was minus 0.61 percent, (compared with minus 0.85 percent for
the period April 2018 to 2019) showing that the average hourly rate
of females was 0.61 percent more than the average hourly rate of
males. The median gender pay gap is minus 3.64 percent

Page 145

Appendix A
(compared with minus 5.79 percent for the period April 2018 to
2019).
8.

Pay protection

8.1

Pay protection is applied to employees who are placed in a grade,
through restructuring or a re-evaluation of a post, where the
maximum salary of that grade is lower than their current earnings,
in accordance with the Organisational Change and Redundancy
Policies current at the time. Pay is protected for one year.
Employees’ pay is frozen at this rate, (with no cost of living or
incremental increase) for up to one year, or until the maximum of
the new grade has caught up or overtaken the current earnings due
to annual pay increases.
Note: Pay protection excludes market supplement pay, essential
user travel allowance, overtime allowances: it applies to basic pay
only. These items are not protected.

9.

Allowances and benefits in kind

9.1

Allowances and benefits typically follow nationally agreed rates.
However, there are a number of locally agreed allowances, which
are payable following the collective agreement. Some are subject to
eligibility criteria, as follows:






Essential car user allowance at nationally prescribed lump sum
and HM Revenue and Customs (HMRC) mileage rates, and
Access to a lease car or a lease car scheme, both under strict
eligibility criteria and where favourable to the Council.
Casual user mileage allowance at HMRC rates.
First Aid (an allowance paid to staff to act as First Aiders in the
workplace).
Reimbursement of one professional subscription fee if beneficial
to the performance of the role.

10.

Payments/charges and contributions

10.1

The new Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) was
implemented with effect from 1 April 2014.

10.2

The new LGPS is a ‘CARE’ (career average revalued earnings)
scheme rather than a Final Salary Pension Scheme.

11.

Multipliers

11.1

The idea of publishing the ratio of the pay of an organisation’s top
earner to that of its median earner was recommended in order to
support the principles of Fair Pay (The Hutton Review of Fair Pay in
the Public Sector 2011), and transparency.

Page 146

Appendix A
11.2

The Council’s ratio in respect of the pay of the median earner
compared to the pay of the highest earner as of 1 April 2020 is
5.4:1 that is, the Chief Executive (top earner) earns 5.4 times as
much as the Council’s median earner (£25,991 per annum),
compared to last year’s date (April 2019) which was 5.1:1.

11.3

The Council’s ratio of the highest paid employee (April 2020) to the
lowest paid employee is 7.9:1 compared to last year’s data (April
2019) which was 7.5:1.
The Hutton Review recommended that the average pay ratio
between the chief executive of most public sector organisations and
the lowest paid member of staff is below 12:1.
By comparison, the average estimated top-to-bottom pay ratio in
FTSE 100 companies (which disclosed data) was 262:1 in 2018
(Chartered Institute of Personnel Development (CIPD) Research
Report 2019 – most recent data available).
We, therefore, compare very favourably to these statistics,
although Hutton warned against the difficulty of making direct
comparisons between authorities.

12.

Discretionary payments
The policy for the award of any discretionary payments is the same
for all staff, regardless of their pay level, up to a maximum of 104
weeks the following arrangements apply:

12.1

‘Redundancy payments under regulation 5 of the Local Government
(Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation)
(England & Wales) Regulations 2006.’
As of 1 April 2015, this provides an overall lump sum of 1.5 times
the statutory redundancy payment multiplier based on actual weeks
pay. This is payable to employees made redundant with two or
more years local government service regardless of their age.

12.2

Severance payments under regulation 6.
Severance payments with a value above £100,000 will be approved
by full Council, in accordance with guidance from the Secretary of
State under Section 40 of the Localism Act 2011. Contractual and
pension entitlements are not included in this figure as part of a
severance payment requiring such approval.
No severance payments are routinely made, but employees aged 55
and over, who are retiring early in the interests of efficiency,
receive immediate payment of their pension benefits, with no
additional years’ service or compensatory payments. This forms
part of the rules of the LGPS and in accordance with the Pensions
Discretions Policy. The capital cost of the early payment of pension

Page 147

Appendix A
benefits will be met by the Council, but all such early retirements
are subject to the costs being met by savings within a three-year
period.
12.3

Additional membership for revision purposes under regulation 12 of
the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership &
Contributions) Regulations 2007.
None awarded.

12.4

Additional pension under regulation 13 of same legislation.
None awarded.

13.

Decision making

13.1

Decisions on remuneration are made as follows:
a.

Senior pay bands local level approved by full Council;

b.

Pay structure for all other posts approved by full Council;

c.

Performance progression, in accordance with the locally
agreed scheme, and as approved by officers under existing
delegated powers.

14.

Disclosure

14.1

This Pay Policy Statement will be published on the Council’s
website. In addition, numbers and details of posts paid above
£50,000 are disclosed on the Council’s website in the annual
Statement of Accounts and as part of the requirements of the
Transparency Code.

For further information please contact:
Wendy Canham
Service Manager HR & OD
February 2021

Page 148

Appendix A
Comparison Data
Most recent available
information
Ipswich
West Suffolk
East Suffolk
Suffolk County Council
Breckland

Ratio to
median
5.6:1

Ratio to Lowest paid
employee
6.6:1

5.9:1
6.8:1
Not disclosed

East Cambs
Babergh/Mid Suffolk

Not disclosed
Not disclosed

8.61:1
10.2:1
Within 10:1 actual
figure not disclosed
7.1:1 – 7.4:1
7.2:1

Page 149

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 15

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 151

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 153

This page is intentionally left blank

